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Corporate Profile 2 @&/

China Everbright Environment Group Limited (“Everbright
Environment” or the “Company”) is a flagship enterprise of
China Everbright Group Ltd. in the industrial sector. Everbright
Environment is listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (257.HK). Since
shifting its business focus to the environmental protection sector
in 2003, the Company has grown into the largest environmental
enterprise in China, a leading player in Asia’s environmental
protection industry, the world’s largest waste-to-energy investor
and operator, and a world-renowned environmental group.

Everbright Environment has two listed subsidiaries: China
Everbright Water Limited, which is listed on the Mainboard of the
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited and the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (U9E.SG & 1857.HK), and China
Everbright Greentech Limited, which is listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (1257.HK). As the first one-stop integrated
environmental solution provider in China, Everbright Environment
focuses on three core areas, namely solid waste, water-related
business and clean energy. Its main businesses cover waste-
to-energy and synergistic waste treatment, integrated biomass
utilisation, hazardous and solid waste treatment, new energy,
environmental remediation, water environment management,
equipment manufacturing, waste sorting, environmental sanitation
integration, resource recycling, development of zero-waste
cities, energy-saving lighting, analysis and testing, research
and development relating to green technologies, ecological and
environmental planning and designing, as well as environmental
protection industrial parks. The Company has a business
presence in 220 cities, counties and districts across 26 provinces,
municipalities, autonomous regions and special administrative
region in China, as well as overseas markets including Germany,
Poland, Vietnam and Mauritius.

Everbright Environment is a strategic partner of the International
Coalition for Green Development on the Belt and Road and the
Ecological Protection and Green Development of the Yangtze River
Economic Belt. The Company adheres to its corporate mission
of being “Devoted to Ecology and Environment for a Beautiful
China”, and has been granted various accolades at home and
abroad. It has been ranked the top among the “Top Ten Influential
Solid Waste Treatment Enterprises in China” for 12 consecutive
years, top on the list of China’s Top 50 Environmental Enterprises
for four consecutive years, included in the MSCI China Index
for ten consecutive years, and shortlisted among the Fortune
China 500 list for two consecutive years. With the aspiration to
“Create Better Investment Value and Undertake More Social
Responsibility”, the Company has been a constituent member of
Dow Jones Sustainability Indices for seven years running, Hang
Seng Corporate Sustainability Benchmark Index for 12 years
running, and FTSE4Good Index for six years running. Everbright
Environment also received the Achievement of Net-Zero Certificate
and Pioneering Organisation in Net-Zero Contribution, which were
granted by the Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency for the first
time in 2022, and was included as a member of S&P Global’s
Sustainability Yearbook multiple times.
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Corporate Information 2=REH

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors
HUANG Haiging (Chairman of the Board)*
LUAN Zusheng (Chief Executive Officer)
HU Yanguo (Vice President)
QIAN Xiaodong (Vice President)
AN Xuesong (Vice President and Chief Financial Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors
FAN Yan Hok, Philip

ZHAI Haitao

SUO Xuquan

LI Shuk Yin, Edwina**

COMPANY SECRETARY
POON Yuen Ling

REGISTERED OFFICE
Room 2703, 27th Floor
Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Agricultural Bank of China Limited
Asian Development Bank
Bank of China Limited
Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.
China Construction Bank Corporation
China Development Bank
China Everbright Bank Company Limited
China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.
Hang Seng Bank Limited
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
ING Bank N.V.
International Finance Corporation
Mizuho Bank, Limited
Nanyang Commercial Bank, Limited
Postal Savings Bank of China Co., Ltd.
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
The Bank of East Asia, Limited
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

SOLICITORS

Fangda Partners

Li & Partners

Beijing DeHeng Law Offices
Global Law Firm Shanghai Office

* was appointed with effect from 18 June 2022

**  was appointed with effect from 18 May 2022
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AUDITOR

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE
Tricor Tengis Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong

PUBLIC RELATIONS CONSULTANT

Citigate Dewe Rogerson

WEBSITE

www.cebenvironment.com
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Financial Highlights

IR

2022 2021 Percentage
—E_C T4 Change
HK$’000 HK$’000 Aokt
BT T BT T b=
RESULTS E
Revenue s 37,321,229 49,895,384 -25%
EBITDA* BRAE - B TER
LRI R R 12,841,787 15,027,003 -15%
Profit attributable to equity holders AR G#EZIFA A
of the Company FE(L BT 4,601,939 6,804,099 -32%
Return on shareholders’ equity (%) RREZE LB (%) 9.28 14.05 -4.77 ppt*
Basic earnings per share FlREAREF
(HK cents) (F) 74.91 110.76 -32%
FINANCIAL POSITION B & AR
Total assets BEBRE 190,597,798 200,235,628 -5%
Total liabilities BERE 127,998,905 135,893,406 -6%
Equity attributable to equity holders 7ZxA FI#EZE35H A
of the Company e 47,374,108 51,777,487 -9%
Net asset value per share RAREERFEA
attributable to equity holders EEEREEFE
of the Company (HK$) (&) 7.712 8.429 -9%
Gearing ratio (%)" BEABLER(%)" 67 68 -1 ppt*
Current ratio (%) MBI (%) 107 124 -17 ppt*

BRI  BE - TERBHENENAMBMNE - B
B ERBHECAFERT

* EBITDA is the profit for the year before deduction of interest, taxation, *
depreciation and amortisation.
¥ ppt - percentage point  ppt- BN

*  Gearing ratio means the ratio of total liabilities to total assets. - BEABHRIEABAREEEEMATE LK

4 China Everbright Environment Group Limited | Bl AR () AR AT
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Corporate Milestones EAEMHE

FIRST QUARTER OF 2022
—TEE-FE

e Shortlisted in S&P Global’s Sustainability Yearbook 2022, representing another international
recognition for the Group’s sustainability performance

e The Group’s Hebei Zhangjiakou Waste-to-energy Project ensured proper treatment of household
waste during the 2022 Beijing Olympic Winter Games, contributing to the smooth running of the
international games

e Signed a strategic collaboration agreement with Guizhou Guiyang People’s Government to
carry out extensive co-operation in the fields of environmental protection, such as waste-to-
energy, water environment management and energy-saving lighting, so as to serve the regional
development in southwest China

e Announced the 2021 annual results, with profit attributable to equity holders of the Company up
by 13% as compared with 2020

o ABBREERIR(022FAIFHEERFE) $’$I—Hii“”§’*)§i§fﬂﬁ§%lﬁfﬁéﬂimﬁ

o AKEETALRFONFREEARE T _FUERLFRES([IRLRe )ERBMRE LA
WIRZERE - B B EEIEN R

e BEMEEBTARBMNRZEBSFEGR  HELREE  KREGAAE  HERAZTREES
REBZAE  REFHTEEDREER
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SECOND QUARTER OF 2022
—BoCEE-EE

The Company issued the 2022 Perpetual Medium-term Notes (Series 1), with an issue size of
RMB1.5 billion and a subscription rate of 2.38 times, which marks the first carbon neutrality-
themed perpetual medium-term notes (“MTNSs”) issued by a foreign issuer in China and the
country’s first carbon neutrality-themed perpetual MTNs dedicated to the urban household waste-
to-energy sector in China, and at the same time recorded the lowest interest rate among perpetual
MTNs ever issued in China by foreign issuers

Awarded the “Blue Ocean Award” by the Asian Development Bank in recognition of the Group’s
effective solid waste management methods to promote the development of a circular economy
and the reduction of marine debris

Convened the Company’s 2022 annual general meeting

Signed a collaboration framework agreement with Zhejiang Wenzhou People’s Government to
combine the implementation of the national regional industry strategies to carry out in-depth
strategic co-operation in environmental protection fields, such as waste-to-energy, solid waste
treatment, water environment management, intelligent lighting, and carbon capture and utilisation,
amongst others

Announced the appointment of Mr. Huang Haiging in place of Mr. Wang Tianyi as the Executive
Director and Chairman of the Board of the Company

ARBRNBIT T __FEF—HKETHRR((HE]) - FIREAREI5ET - REBEH2.38
% TEEEERMETARTORFIERR  2BEERTATUREERTNXETE - [
58l T IRSN AT A BT KB M E L RIEF = \ ‘ ‘
ﬁ%?ﬂ@%ﬁﬁ&%F%é@ﬁﬁk%%$%§MEW%E%%@%&@E%%@%%E@W?@
BT R
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RS KRBHESHE  SERHA  BAERNASRERBLETRAASE

EHE TR RE I AE AL ETARRNITESRESTS IR
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Corporate Milestones % A S E

THIRD QUARTER OF 2022
—E--FE=3E

e Everbright Environmental Protection (China) Limited*, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group,
completed the issuance of series 1 Green Private Placement Asset-backed Notes (Carbon
Neutrality Bond) for the year 2022, with an issue size of approximately RMB858 million

e Received the Achievement of Net-Zero Certificate and Pioneering Organisation in Net-Zero
Contribution, granted by the Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency

e Shortlisted in the Fortune China 500 list for the second consecutive year

e The Group’s Everbright Environmental Technical Equipment (Changzhou) Limited* (“Changzhou
Equipment Company”) was shortlisted in the fourth batch of the “Little Giant” enterprises that use
%peoial and sophisticated technologies to produce novel and unique products and services in

hina

e Included in the Hang Seng Corporate Sustainability Benchmark Index for the twelfth consecutive
year

e Secured Guizhou Zhijin Waste-to-energy Project, breaking into a new provincial market

e The Group’s subsidiary China Everbright Greentech Limited (“Everbright Greentech”) reached a
strategic co-operation relationship with Alibaba Cloud Computing Co. Ltd. to enhance intelligence
in the field of environmental protection

e MTF2EMBRABAXARBRR(FBE)ERARKNBEITE_S__FEE-—HEETREEIHFERR
FRFIfE) - BITIRIELN AREES 5818 7T

. Z%%%DDE"{%M%%E%* [BIRRPMIFBE R [P MER R 55

o HEZ —F NR(HE)PRHE5005%

° Bﬁftkiaf%&maéﬁ(%JII)EEE AI([EMEFAR DAZRE2EENAERBFT[NEAIDEZE

] gi%%”r_ﬂ%%m)\laiﬂ ﬁaﬁ*ﬁeﬁ%%ﬁ%fﬁ&

s REFNBLARBEER  BRFEAOMHNEBRK )

] BﬁTLﬁW%’AﬁTﬁP%Kﬁzé%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁj(Hﬁkiﬁ”@i&%J)Eﬁﬁi STEARAREKEBKEAE
& - IRAAEBERFEENNEELKTFE

R ch 0 & 18R 8 Wi

China Everbright Environment Group Limited

*  For identification only
* EHRBF S
China Everbright Environment Group Limited | Bl AR () AR AT



FOURTH QUARTER OF 2022
B EENEE

Signed a strategic co-operation agreement with the Shenzhen Institute of Advanced Technology
of the Chinese Academy of Sciences, to explore co-operation in the areas of carbon neutral
technology, intelligent manufacturing and digital energy, and to promote the establishment of an
innovation platform by leveraging each other’s strengths

The construction project of the Group’s Hainan Danzhou Waste-to-energy Project won the Luban
Prize in the first batch of awards between 2022 and 2023

Included in the Dow Jones Sustainability Indices for the seventh consecutive year

Changzhou Equipment Company was shortlisted in the fourth batch of the National Service-
oriented Manufacturing Demonstration Enterprises in China

Ranked first place on the list of the Top 50 Environmental Enterprises in China for the fourth
consecutive year

Ranked first place on the list of the “Top 10 Influential Solid Waste Treatment Enterprises in China”
for the twelfth consecutive year

B e B o R B R I SE M R AT A 0B 2R AT BRER & (E Wk - BRI M - BEEELE - BIFRERFRER
WEE - BREEREDY  HBKIAFTE
AEEETEREMNEBEETRAERTIRAZ T 5 T —FEEIINEMEREE
HEECFRANBEN AR EERERRS

EMNEERATNEZEFE L [RBLEETHER |RE

BEFNERE [HERRERL0R IBEES

BEFT _FURE [TEEE+AZENCEIBEES

Member of
Dow Jones
Sustainability Indices

Powered by the S&P Global CSA
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Chairman’s Statement E#HR%E

Huang Haiqing
BEE

Chairman of the Board

EFETE

In 2022, despite the complicated and changeable global environment, in addition to recurring of the COVID-19
pandemic (the “Pandemic”), China forged ahead, balanced both domestic and international situations,
coordinated the Pandemic prevention and control with economic and social development, enhanced macro-
control effort, and responded to impact brought by unexpected factors. As a result, the country maintained the
overall economic and social stability.

—TooF BERRBEEMSE  pHLERARESIIENRB(IHEREDKERE - PEDH#N L - BT R
ERANEEREAR  SNERCTRBHENKELSER  MAZEHRZENE  BHBEHEZTE - RS T7THREL
SRBRE °

In 2022, China pursued high-quality development, with the goal of achieving harmonious co-existence of
human and nature and an emphasis on green and low-carbon transformation, continuously moving towards
its strategic goal of “Peaking Carbon Emissions” and “Achieving Carbon Neutrality” (“Dual Carbons”). With
the implementation of the goal to build a beautiful China, the environmental protection industry is expected to
continue to embrace huge room for development in the future.

T PERARAANMBEAENSERBR  REAGEENBLERIE  FEHED [HOEE - P
(T8 DR AR - BEEREBTEBENRARE  RREXARKDBEEARERZM -

China Everbright Environment Group Limited | Bl K3EE (%£8) AR AR



In 2022, China Everbright Environment Group Limited (“Everbright Environment” or the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) maintained its original aspiration, forged ahead in unity, and actively planned
for its development. The Group upheld the general principle of “Making Progress with Stability”, consolidated its
development fundamentals, strived to carry out high-quality development, and continued to solidify its industry-
leading position.

2 B ARFE(EE)ERAR(TARRRE X [ARF ] EREMBAF S8 [AEEDRFIIL - B
REEE  TEERE B [RPRE IBRAEN  BERREAR  ZOIHRESEHERR FEBETERESRMMA -

e The Group focused on its major responsibilities and businesses. In the past year, it actively analysed the
industry trends, continued to optimise its development strategies, focused on three core business areas of
solid waste, water-related business and clean energy, enhanced the empowerment roles of its envirotech
and equipment manufacturing sectors, and strengthened its effort in market expansion. By solidifying its
existing strengths, expanding new areas, and leveraging on synergistic effects, the Group further solidified
its leading position in the industry.

e EREFETIHEIX-BE—FH AREREEBONMTESY  HES(CERBE  BEERE  ZKNBRER=
RAZDEBEE - MR - KBERERREE - RIETSHARNE - BAGH - BREN - £—FERETE
BETEHOAL o

e The Group’s operational management proficiency and efficiency were both enhanced. In the past year,
the Group strived to carry out high-quality development, the co-development of asset-light and asset-
heavy businesses, and optimisation of its revenue structure, which reduced costs and boosted the overall
efficiency. As a result, the Group’s operation service revenue surpassed the construction service revenue for
the first time ever, with operational efficiency being improved constantly.

o KETHEMIEA -BE—FF AEEZNHPSLEELR BRHIEE VR - HERSEEEL  HDHEAR

B BRTELCRBRAEHBRERE KR @ KEUAFERSETT -

e The Group’s strategic deployment demonstrated its accountability. In the past year, the Group actively
served the strategic developments of China’s major regions, steadily promoting project investment,
construction and operation in key regions such as the Yangtze River Economic Belt, Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei
Region, Yellow River Basin and Hainan Free Trade Zone. Leveraging on its professional competences, the
Group facilitated the country’s strategic requirements, including the national rural revitalisation and pollution
prevention and control in counties. The Group also fulfilled its responsibility as a state-owned enterprise
by steadily carrying out technology research projects, including the research and development and the
industrialisation of small-scale incineration furnaces.

s BRMRETEER - BE—FP AEEEERBERERREBEER  REILES  OREME - &AM

o BmBERFEHRE  LEMRERBKRE EREES  KEFXEY  PHBERBAIRE - HH52H
ATBRENR  AFEE/ N IREENERERCERMAERE  BTRACREREE -

Annual Report 2022 | —Z = — 443§

1



12

Chairman’s Statement FEHE

e The Group recorded outstanding technological innovation performance. In the past year, the Group boosted
investment in technological research, development and innovation, with a focus on traditional business,
new businesses and future development. A total of 385 patents were granted to the Group, marking a
record high of the Group in recent years. The Group’s equipment manufacturing sector was shortlisted in
the list of the national “Little Giant” enterprises that use special and sophisticated technologies to produce
novel and unique products and services, as well as the list of the National “Service Oriented Manufacturing
Demonstration Enterprises”. The Group’s technologies relating to solid waste treatment, leachate treatment
and other areas were considered to have reached the internationally-advance level by authoritative experts.
Additionally, the Group further promoted the intelligent and informatised empowerment to facilitate the
enhancement of its operational and management efficiency and proficiency.

s MEAFZHHE - BE—Fh  AFEFEEAERED  FEEBERRER WA ELFHFORAS
€ - KETESERENISH - AITIFELHT S  HTREREANRERABEREHN [NEAILERER [ RS
WEBUETRBMR BT BEERE  Z2RAREFHBERMERBRERFEERRILENRFE  RAHEERC F
BAbiE® - O EELERERM -

e The Group’s brand image was further enhanced. In the past year, the Group received the certificate
of “Achieving Carbon Neutrality” and was shortlisted in the list of “2022 China’s Top Carbon Neutral
Contribution Enterprises”, for the first time. It also topped the list of Brand Value of China’s Listed
Environmental Protection Enterprises, the list of “2022 Top 50 Environmental Enterprises in China” for the
fourth consecutive year, and the list of “Top 10 Influential Solid Waste Treatment Enterprises in China” for the
twelfth consecutive year. In addition, the Group was also included in the Dow Jones Sustainability Indices for
the seventh consecutive year and won the Luban Prize in China’s construction industry for the fourth time.

s MEBTRABENSE - BE—FF  AEEEE[ERBWPNIFE  REPEECERTINEBNATREE - UF
FRERR LT ARMEEESES  EZEFNEREITERELE0R |BFE  EEFE T _FUEITPEEBEE XK
FENCEIBE SEFLFEMABRHHERRESRRY  FUEERTEEZRTIREBIE -

Looking back on 2022, every step of the Group’s hard-won achievements relied on the diligence and hard work
of all staff, as well as the long-term attention, support and trust in the Group from all social circles. On behalf of
the board of directors (the “Board”) and the management of the Company, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to all of youl!

AE-_FT-—F AKEF-—TEBENHERAFAZBRCHTRKELD  BEERERALETAEENRNE
o EERXE - K RERRARAESS([EFS)AEEE  MBLRTROMEHE |

Through its two-decade development, the Group has not only witnessed the remarkable achievements in China’s
ecological progress and the rapid development of the domestic environmental protection industry, but also
deeply engaged in the development of the environmental protection industry as leading player and participant.
Benefiting from the development of the nation and the industry, the Group has been steadily evolving into an
industry leader.

“HFERERY  AKRETERETPRARXAERDENAZTAREBARRTENSRER - EEA/RRT
XURVELENZRERERAED  FENERMITEER  BRERRBITEREHE -

China Everbright Environment Group Limited | Bl K3EE (%£8) AR AR



Stepping into 2023, the Group will celebrate the 30th anniversary of the establish of the Company and the
20th anniversary of its business transforming into the environmental protection industry. Only those enterprises
that have experienced the vicissitudes and stayed committed can be evergreen; and only those enterprises
that have created brilliance and still dare to make breakthroughs can continue to grow. As the largest
environmental enterprise in China, a leading player in Asia’s environmental protection industry, and a world-
renowned environmental group, the Group will overcome the difficulties and challenges on its way forward with
firm commitments and confidence, solid actions, implement new development concepts, focus on its main
responsibilities and businesses, adhere to innovation as the driving force, improve its corporate management
proficiency, promote excellent corporate culture, build high-quality teams, and enhance safe operation. The
Group will strive to effectively enhance efficiency and seek reasonable growth in quantity. By constantly
pursuing high-quality development towards its goal of becoming a world-leading ecological and environmental
management group, the Group will continue to play the role of industry stalwart and contribute more “Everbright”
strength to the construction of a beautiful China.

FAZZEZ=ZF AEELRARRRI=TEF BERFR-_THEFNEZERE - EREMIOTHMEED
BREEXRS  AEBENBERRBNEESERERE - FRATESKARELE  DMNEARREEMERMBIRE
SE AEEKUBENTOEED HENTHRER  RRAEERORNBELSE  ERHRRES  BREXEX
¥ BRAFEY RACLEER  ABEFXL  ERSEERHKML  RIELELEE  BHERENGREANEN
BEER M ABMEDREEER  AREA [ 2REXERRAEE INEMAMTRT  #BREBETEPRENEN
EREEE  AEXBTHEREMESZ [XKINE -

Huang HalQIng

Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis EEEzImEED
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS %[0l gafifE £

Operating Results & & % 4&

Business Overview #&HfE

In 2022, confronted with the complex and unpredictable international situation and arduous domestic tasks
of continuing reform and development and maintaining stability, China forged ahead and enhanced macro-
control efforts to achieve stable economic operation, steady improvement in development quality, and overall
social stability. All the new achievements have been hard-won. In terms of the environmental protection sector,
the blueprint of the Chinese path to modernisation has incorporated green development as an important
component, with the aim to promote the harmonious co-existence of human and nature. With the public’s
increasing demand for a better environment, together with China’s strategic goal of “Peaking Carbon Emissions”
and “Achieving Carbon Neutrality” (“Dual Carbons”) fostering a systematic economic and social transformation,
the domestic environmental protection industry sees huge development potential. In the meantime, as the
traditional environmental protection markets have become saturated and the investment-driven development
model saw an urgent need to change, the industry development turned into a cyclical adjustment.

“ECF BHEBRRFERASRS BANEERBECKBEZSE  PEOHEM L MAZERFENE  BERT
REVIRET  BROASERBISEN  HEABRERTE  BENFARK TS - BERFREAE - FEABRR(CEE
BEPEEERELSET -HEEAR RN REAEGAMFERLE - ERFYRGFRFOFRAHIZEANHE
Bz - Brrp A0 ([ 880R ) BiRg B R HEBK AL S ZRUEENBE T  BARRTEERENEX - HUtRK - B8
ZERRAREFTSENEN BEUARERHERNEREARGEE - TERREABHERHE -

China Everbright Environment Group Limited | Bl K3EE (%£8) AR AR



As a one-stop integrated environmental management service provider, during the year under review, China
Everbright Environment Group Limited (the “Company” or “Everbright Environment”, together with its
subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”) rose to various external difficulties and challenges, upheld the general
principle of “Making Progress with Stability”, focused on its major businesses and responsibilities, optimised
its revenue and management structures, and enhanced effort to reduce cost and boost efficiency. As a result,
the Group solidified its development fundamentals and industry-leading position.

In terms of operating results, during the year under review, the Group adopted various measures to boost,
its operational management proficiency and efficiency. It solidified its existing business areas and explored
new business fields to achieve synergistic effects. The Group also achieved positive progress in technological
innovation with fruitful results. The revenue structure of the Group continued to be optimised, with the proportion
of operation service revenue against the total revenue increasing significantly. The Group developed diverse
financing channels, kept financing cost under control, maintained abundant capital, and recorded good results
across all financial indicators.

Major operating indicators in 2022 are summarised in the table below:

ER—UER - 2FTUMRREABERSEE  PEEARARE(KBE)ERAR(TARR K [EXRE] - ERAMER
A Gl AREDROBEFENER SRR RS - BRRPIOE | TGRSR BREIETE BB ARLR
EERARE  RMEBAEY - BEBRREAE - TERBRASERE -

REXGETm DBEFERN AREKEEEZRHYE  REEW  XEHEREADLH - HREN - BRAFERE
& REMHE  WaEBRHEE(L  BERBKEELARENT  BERBEZTER  BREKAZHFE BB
WM - BIFERHERY -

TR CHIBEREXREREERENT

2022 2021 Percentage
—E-= —E-—F Change
HK$’000 HK$'000 Bt
BETT BT T -4
Revenue Wz 37,321,229 49,895,384 -25%
Earnings before interest, taxes, BH 8« FHE - FER
depreciation and amortisation BRI AT
(“EBITDA”) 12,841,787 15,027,003 -15%
Profit attributable to ARRIEREE AEERT
equity holders of the Company 4,601,939 6,804,099 -32%
Basic earnings per share FREEAZF G
(HK cents) 74.91 110.76 -32%
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During the year under review, the Group recorded a total revenue of HK$37,321,229,000, of which revenue from
operation services increased by 5% to HK$18,811,547,000 as compared with that for 2021, and revenue from
construction services decreased by 51% to HK$13,158,376,000 as compared with that for 2021. The revenue
from operation services, construction services and finance income accounted for 51%, 35% and 14% of the total
revenue, respectively.

During the year under review, the Group actively expanded its financing channels and built up a portfolio of both
long-term and short-term financing tools to effectively reduce financing costs, improve liquidity, and provide
capital backing for its medium-term to long-term development. At the same time, the Group enhanced efforts to
collect and manage its debtors, negotiated with banks to secure additional facility support, and obtained various
domestic subsidies amounting to RMB342 million. As of 31 December 2022, the Group had cash on hand
amounting to HK$11.783 billion, with a reasonable gearing level and a healthy financial position.

CEEEA - AEBZRES HEBWEI7,321,229,0007T - Eh - BL IR AE18,811,547,0007T - ?_Y_f
FIBRS%  EiERE W E A B13,158,376,0007T BT - —F [ [E51% - FFEWRELLE L + EZERE K - 12
PR 7% U 2k B2 BA TS A Bl 51% ~ 35% 8% 14% o

CEFERN AEEEBMRBERE  TERERBORETAMAS  ARRERENAS  HERBE - RPEH
BRIEHESRRE - HUtRK - AEENREREROEWEER  RBRTEFESHEREE  TEERXSEES
HEARKIL2EBT BE_T-_—_F+_A=1+—8 AREFHHALEBK117.83(ET » AEKFEE - U5
ARREEFE o

China Everbright Environment Group Limited | B KIZSE (M) ER AT



The Group’s major financing arrangements in 2022 are summarised in the table below:

R AEEXIZRETHRENT

Issue Date Financing Activities and Uses of Proceeds Issue Size (RMB)
EITHH MEZHEEEET RS FTRR(ARE)
September 2022 China Everbright Water Limited (“Everbright Water”), the 1 billion
—E-—FhA Company’s listed subsidiary, issued the third tranche super 10187T

and short-term commercial papers in the national inter-bank
bond market for the replenishment of working capital of
Everbright Water’s subsidiaries.

RAAIME EmARIRENRKKEERAR(HARKE]R
ZRRTEAGFMSETEHBESRRE S - ARBERAKX
IKBIBRBINEEER -

August 2022 Everbright Environmental Protection (China) Limited* (“EEP Approximately
—E-—F A China”), the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, issued the 858 million
asset-backed notes series 2 in the national inter-bank bond #98.58187T

market for the replenishment of the working capital of EEP
China and its subsidiaries, repayment of debts to financial
institutions and/or any other purposes in compliance with
relevant national industrial policies and applicable laws and
regulations.

ARAA2EMBRRRRRR(FE)BERAF ([ HKRREF
HRERBTHRESTSETE_PREEXHERE - BRE
AARBRPBEEEMBATNREES - WEERE SRS
&R M/ EAM T & BIR B BEXBERNERERERORE -

June 2022 Everbright Water issued the first tranche perpetual medium- 700 million
ZEZ_FXA term notes (“MTN”) in the national inter-bank bond market for 7B
the replacement of the due debts of Everbright Water and its
subsidiaries.

RARKBREERITHESFMSETE—HKETHERE - A
PR HR % ROK TS I EL I R Bl B BR(E 75 -
May 2022 China Everbright Greentech Limited (“Everbright Greentech”), 700 million
—E--FAHA the Company’s listed subsidiary, issued the 2022 first tranche 71BTT
perpetual MTN in the national inter-bank bond market for the
repayment of interest-bearing debts of Everbright Greentech
and its subsidiaries.
AAR ETMBRRREAREZERRER AR ([ AREEBIR
RDARZERITHEGEMSET S __FEF—HKEFLH
2E - ARBEARGERREKENEB QRN BER -

*

For identification only
* EHRBF S
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Issue Date
FHITHH

Financing Activities and Uses of Proceeds
MEZHNREEETRE

Issue Size (RMB)

BITRR(ARE)

April 2022
—E-_FH

The Company issued the 2022 perpetual MTN (series 1)
in the national inter-bank bond market for the repayment of
the Group’s interest-bearing debts.
ARAREBERITEAEFMSET_T__FEE —HKE
PHAZE  AREEASENEBELR -

1.5 billion
15187C

April 2022
T _FNA

Everbright Greentech issued the 2022 green MTN (series 1)
(bond connect) in the national inter-bank bond market for the
repayment of interest-bearing debts of Everbright Greentech
and its subsidiaries, replenishment of their working capital
and/or investment and construction of their environmental
protection projects and other business development
purposes.

ARGEREREBERTHESFMSGEIT S __FEF
HERHER(ES®) %FE@%K%@%%&ﬁWE

M BER MRAEEES R RIRERER %ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁm
¥BEERS -

1.2 billion
12487

April 2022
—E - —FH

Everbright Water issued the third tranche MTN in the national
inter-bank bond market for the replenishment of the working
capital of Everbright Water’s subsidiaries.
KHAKRBREBRTEESFTHETE=HHERE - ARH
FIRIKEH B AR EEE S ©

1 billion
10187T

January 2022
—E-—F—f

Everbright Water issued the second tranche super and
short-term commercial papers in the national inter-bank
bond market for the replenishment of the working capital of
Everbright Water’s subsidiaries.
KAKBREBERITHERESFTHETE _PEEHMES - B
RERARXKBHBERATINEEES -

1 billion
10187t

The Group remains dedicated to creating value for and sharing development returns with the shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”). To reward the Shareholders for their long-term trust and support, the Board
(the “Board”) of Directors (the “Director(s)”) of the Company proposed to pay a final dividend of HK9.0 cents per
share as of 31 December 2022 to the Shareholders (2021: HK15.0 cents per share), with the total dividend for
the year amounting to HK24.0 cents per share (2021: HK34.0 cents per share).

REBR NN ARNARBRR(EER DAIBEE  TEHRESZOENBREXR - BOERRENRHEBREYHE  AQ
AEE([EF)e((E2g ) @8 s S -+ _-_A=1+—"HIFEREREREFHRIOEINFHRE(==
——F  FR15.0810l) - 2FEREFR24.08M(ZF=—4F : FIR34.081) -

*  For identification purpose only
Y ERBF
China Everbright Environment Group Limited | Bl K3EE (%£8) AR AR



As of 31 December 2022, the Group had a business presence in 220 cities, counties and districts across
26 provinces, municipalities, autonomous regions and special administrative region in China, with overseas
business markets in Germany, Poland, Vietnam and Mauritius. The Group invested in and secured a total of
564 environmental protection projects, with an aggregate investment of approximately RMB157.675 billion. It
also undertook various asset-light projects and services, such as environmental remediation, waste sorting,
engineering, procurement and construction (“EPC”), operation and management (“O&M”), equipment supply,
and technical services. As the world’s largest waste-to-energy investor and operator, the Group had a total of
185 waste-to-energy projects (including an O&M project) under its environmental energy and greentech sectors,
with an aggregated designed daily household waste processing capacity of 155,200 tonnes.

In terms of market expansion, during the year under review, with a focus on solid waste, water-related business
and clean energy fields as the three major business areas, the Group solidified its advantageous businesses such
as waste-to-energy and waste water treatment, and also expanded industrial chains relating to the three major
business areas, in a bid to develop a business portfolio that creates synergistic effects and integrates asset-light
and asset-heavy businesses. In 2022, the Group tapped into the provincial waste-to-energy market in Guizhou
Province and multiple county-level waste-to-energy markets, in addition to securing waste-to-energy synergistic
businesses of various types. The Group also secured its first municipal sludge disposal project, with continuously
enhanced capabilities to expand existing and potential business relating to municipal and industrial waste water
treatment. Additionally, the Group deployed in-depth environmental remediation services for landfill sites, and
continued to expand solar energy business at home and abroad. Moreover, the Group reported successful
sales of environmental protection equipment and energy-saving lighting products both inside and outside the
country. The Group also made progress in the commercialisation of technological innovation results, continuing
to empower the development of all its businesses. In addition, based on the principle of “Openness, Sharing
and Win-win Co-operation”, the Group has established strategic partnerships with many local governments and
enterprises to expand its partner network towards long-term development. It also explored overseas market
opportunities and followed up multiple potential environmental protection projects, in adherence to the country’s
initiative of the green development of the Belt and Road. In 2022, the Group invested in and secured a total of
39 new projects (including acquisition projects) and 1 supplemental agreement on existing project for a total
investment of approximately RMB5.546 billion, involving waste-to-energy, food and kitchen waste treatment and
other waste-to-energy synergistic businesses, municipal and industrial waste water treatment, sludge treatment
and disposal, and solar energy. The Group also undertook various asset-light businesses, worth a total contract
value of approximately RMB2.430 billion.

HE-_Z-_—F+_A=Z+—H ALEEBI>HCHEHEEZER26EE () « BRENMERTHE - RUE&220
EmEe - BimishRER ;&Fﬁ MEMEERE  REEENIRREE £564  BIREHARYEA,576.758
UL BAEAEIRIBBE - MRS E BEE([EPC)) « ZEEE  REHE  BITRBESZEEREEREE NMRE - &
Elf’ﬁ?’yiﬁ??ﬁﬁ’]ni&?& &éﬁ@ 7 BETRRERLECRRIRMAEEENRFEEBE185E(5—AZTE
ZIEH) Rt BEREAEN I E15.5280 -

mEMETH  BEFERN  NEERFABERERE ZKNBRER=ZKREL BENREE - 5KEEEFE
XY ARERE-AREMPMNEXBESERLTMH  BORTE-—BARREN  EEVROEFAES -
T CF ARERWEMRZEHRENFEHETS ?EE&&%EHW%&E%H%%% gREETRSTREERE
MBOSKE TERBKEEEBNFERIEETSIMRENFEMNR  REMRBAFEBSRFEERS  HENEAR
SRR NBEEY  RREMBHEEIRAIMISREEREAE - ﬁﬁ@éﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁ%%’iﬁﬂiﬂ%ﬁéﬂ%ﬁﬁi%ii—i}{tiﬁﬁﬁﬂ £
BHESEBER - I ARENEALE [ABRAZ AEXRINRA - B2 E0HBE - bEEEKBREE
HEFR BATHRE] ARRREZER  RNEIMREMSEHRE  REZEAEBERRER H BITERAZ[—F K&
@%J?&E’WFEFEJEE%C’fi:_i AEBEAKREZEIEHF AR (S WBEEBE) R1ORBERENERIHE ,%Hﬁé%’\]
AR¥S55.46FTT : WRUREE BEFEMEHREIESREE Tﬁ%ﬂ%fx MBOTKR TEEKERE « 5RRIER
B ARBEFEY  ZARSEREEET  ARAROAREK24.30ET
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The major designed treatment and supply capacities of the new projects secured in 2022 are summarised as
below:

TR CEMEAANEIERGTRERMMERERENT ¢

Project Category Designed Treatment/Supply Capacity
HAER RETERIE S RERIE
Household waste 4,900 tonnes/day
HESEBIIR 4,900 1, H

Food and kitchen waste 1,248 tonnes/day
2B I BT A b IR 1,248 g,/ B
Hazardous and solid waste 1,500 tonnes/year
feRE R ERE (T fEERE ) 1,500 Wa,F
Steam supply 812,100 tonnes/year
PR HLIE 812,100 Wf,/4F
Water treatment* 187,500 m®/day
KR 187,500 ;2 75K/ H

*

Including various types of water treatment business, such as water supply, waste water treatment and reusable water.
Y BEHOK DK FUKEKBEEREFIS o

In terms of operations, safety, and environmental management, during the year under review, the Group adhered
to stable operation and compliant discharge and emission, through the establishment of digital and intelligent
management platforms, to refine its operations management proficiency. At the same time, the Group continued
to improve the safety and environmental management system to effectively reduce relevant loopholes. It
launched professional training and examinations to strengthen the safety and environmental management team'’s
capability and awareness. As a result, the Group’s incident rates further declined.

BRERRLZEERFE((RR)EETH > DEFER  ARERFRBTEL  2RHN WERBEEL  E2(F

BIEREBEER  RBELEENBALKT - BERAK  AEEFETSLRREENE ARSI ZRERFR : 5
REEZIEED  RELXREEHMENEETEZER  TREBRTE - TR -

China Everbright Environment Group Limited | Bl AR5 () AR AT



In terms of project construction, during the year under review, the Group continued to adhere to the seven
principles of “Productivity, Efficiency, Quality, Cost-Effectiveness, Legitimacy, Safety and Integrity”, adopted
dynamic management among other measures, and actively responded to the adverse effects of the Pandemic
prevention and control measures in various places on the project construction. The Group strengthened the
control of safety risk factors and smoothly carried out all project construction works. In 2022, 39 projects
completed construction and commenced operation, and 1 project completed construction. 7 environmental
remediation services and 12 EPC projects were completed and delivered. Additionally, 44 projects (including
EPC projects) commenced construction and 8 environmental remediation services began execution.

During the year under review, the Group actively engaged in various “Cost Reduction and Efficiency
Enhancement” activities and achieved effective results. In terms of financial management, the Group optimised
its domestic and overseas loan structure, reduced interest rates, saved finance costs, and minimised
the impact of external interest rate market fluctuations. In terms of operations, safety, and environmental
management, the Group completed the construction of the safety and environmental management platform,
to facilitate supervision and protection and boost relevant management efficiency. The Group also promoted
the construction of digital functions, such as an efficiency analysis system, early warning platform and security
platform, to further empower its “Intelligent Power Plants” and “Intelligent Water Plants”. In terms of project
construction management, the Group strengthened the revision and improvement of relevant instructions,
enhanced the dynamic management of the budget, and elevated efficiency of the use of construction funds.
It also optimised the functions of the project management information systems for environmental energy,
environmental water and greentech, to promote the efficiency of systematised assessment, co-ordination,
supervision, etc. In terms of tendering and procurement, the Group overcame the constraints of previous
projects and geographical areas, and actively promoted centralised procurement to boost the “Cost Reduction
and Efficiency Enhancement” of bidding and procurement work with scale effect.

In addition, during the year under review, the Group focused on China’s “Dual Carbons” strategic goal and took
“Reduction of Pollution and Carbon Emissions” as footholds, fully utilising its own advantages and characteristics
to carry out in-depth exploration and active deployment. The relevant work progressed well and achieved good
results.

TRERITHE DEFEAN  AEERE [ ZRTEELRICTH  KRRBECERSEE  BREHSHINTERE
BRI EHTRERETRNITFEE  tL2RREZER  HSSBEEIERRXATHELE —T-__F K&
EEKIZEBEIME « BT IEE1E T LY RMNHRBEERSE7E - EPCIEE 1218 : ¥1F T1E B 4418 (FEPC
HE ) RIITIRIGIEERESIE -

CEFEEAR  AEEBEEHRSEBRAER I TELDSER - MEEELE - BLERINERERE  REEKF
K HEPBERAE  RNEFETISRBEE - BEERLREETH > TRLREEFEER - MAREERE
RIABERERE  HEREINES  BEYE  ZHFEFHFLIEER £ PHE [BEE/  [BEK
Bl e TREREELNE - MAERGENERETE  REHREER  RAZRESMARE  ELRFRER
RRKBRGERFRNIRERBERRRME  BAFSER  HH  EEZEERE - BERE(HAKRDHE -
AR B R e BR1E - BRHEERTRE - WREBUEBHERR TR [[EAER] -

AN AEEROBEFEANERRR [ B BT - UL DRSERER IRBITF  RoREEFESEH  HEAARR
BB ERE - AR TIFERBEKBRLT
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In terms of pollution reduction, the Group adhered to high standards while developing and operating its
environmental protection projects and services, in a bid to continuously manage and protect the living and
ecological environment in various locations. The Group’s major environmental contributions in 2022 are

summarised as below:

WA E  AREBRBASRERNITENELETRRFRAL ERE  FELENTESHMARRERRE - —F

—oF  AREXBEREERBENT

Treatment Capacity

BRIEAIE

Environmental Contribution
BREH

Household waste processed 48,968,000 tonnes
EEN TR E 48,968,000
Hazardous and solid waste processed 431,000 tonnes
fElElRER IR & 431,0000
Agricultural and forestry waste processed 8,186,000 tonnes
EMEEYRES 8,186,0000

Generating green electricity of 24,762,121,000 kWh.
This output could support the annual electricity
consumption needs of 20,635,000 households,
equivalent to saving 9,905,000 tonnes of standard
coal, while reducing Carbon Dioxide (CO,)
emissions by 20,463,000 tonnes.

R ©E 5 24762,121,000 T F B - 7] £
20,635,000 AKX E—F B - HEREHRK
9,905,000 -+ & — Bk HE 20,463,000 ©

Waste water treated
HKEREE

1,770,260,000 m?
1,770,260,00037 5 K

Waste-to-energy plants’ leachate treated
NRBERZBRGEE

11,357,000 m?
11,357,000 77 3K

Reducing Chemical Oxygen Demand (“COD”)
discharge of 824,000 tonnes.
ML EFAE([CODJ)HERR824,0001

Since the Group’s first environmental protection project commenced operation in 2005, its aggregate major
environmental contributions are summarised as below:

BE-ZTRFEAKEEERARBEENK  ARERFNIBERFEARMBENT ¢

Aggregate
Treatment Capacity Aggregate Environmental Contribution
RITRERE ZETRIRER
Household waste processed 217,925,000 tonnes Generating green electricity of 105,486,150,000 kWh.

HRBIR RIS

217,925,000

Hazardous and solid waste processed

1,771,000 tonnes

This output could support the annual electricity
consumption needs of 87,905,000 households,

= BRI 1,771,000 equivalent to saviqg 42,195,000 tonngs Qf
standard coal, while reducing CO, emissions by

Agricultural and forestry waste processed 34,789,000 tonnes 99,067,000 tonnes.

EHERMEEE 34,789,000/ 12 4 @ B /7 105,486,150,000 T B & -  f
87,905,000 X E—F &M - HERHHRE
42,195,000 * 5> — LAk HE 299,067, 0000

Waste water treated 14,732,562,000 m* Reducing COD discharge of 5,776,000 tonnes.

SKEIEE 14,782,562,00032 K i CODHE5,776,000M °

Waste-to-energy plants’ leachate treated
NRBEERLBRGEES

47,229,000 m?
47,229,000 75 K

China Everbright Environment Group Limited | Bl AR5 () AR AT



In terms of carbon reduction, during the year under review, the Group completed the pilot project on the
on-site monitoring of greenhouse gas emissions, as assigned by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) (“MEE”), and participated in the preparation of greenhouse gas emission
monitoring methods focusing on the three areas of waste-to-energy, landfill and waste water treatment.
The Group also participated in the drafting of the national standards related to carbon accounting, completed
the Roadmap of Everbright Environmental Technology Development under the Dual Carbons Vision, as well
as continuously optimised carbon accounting models and evaluated the level of carbon emissions of its
own operations to improve carbon reduction strategies. The Group also insisted on adopting authoritative
international standards for the disclosure of key climate risks and the adoption of strategic and corporate
governance measures to address related environmental risks, emissions and the carbon footprint of production
and operation activities. The Group continued to promote carbon reduction pilot projects such as the “in-plant
solar energy”, “rooftop solar energy” and “low-carbon steam” programmes, actively developing “low-carbon
projects”, “zero-carbon factories” and “low-carbon parks”. It also promoted the research and development
(“R&D”) of carbon reduction technologies such as “carbon capture”, completing the development of 100kg-
level solid amine CO, capture materials. In addition, individual scientific research topics have been certified
as having reached the internationally advanced level by domestic authoritative experts. The Group also joined
hands with universities and research institutions, such as the Shenzhen Institute of Advanced Technology of the
Chinese Academy of Sciences, to promote communication and co-operation in the field of carbon reduction-
related scientific research. Additionally, the Group actively promoted the pilot development of carbon assets for
its projects. The Company and its subsidiaries issued several carbon neutrality-themed bonds to deploy green
financial instruments to facilitate green business development.

PRy OEFER  AEETK TERERRREHD MENREREBYREENAM THEEE - W2 REH LR
W~ BrREIE S KRB ZER AR ERBHMER L 2EEERZERBREIKRE  KH TR (ERES
THRARRERMERERE)  HEBCRRERL - FEE FELENMBEBUKTF AT Z KRR - RE55RA B
FERBEERRERREHYABRERARRRNBBEMEEE RER LELLEITHSEBRIKETER
FEHEE TR TETERR] - [ERFTISHEBRRSAR TE - B&RITE MERER | [TRIME] - [ERE
] o R [ BRI & | BRI BB 3% TAE - Sep A AT R B R — A LiRm SRR EN R - (BRI RHAR BB N
BERETEBREENRT - B BRIEB RIS BT TT b % = A SR 8 18 T HE 2R A AR B AT R I X207 B
BfF BEHESHAKERENEEFNESHINEEEREEFERE AR REMBARLRETRTMERRE
5 HARGEERIADNGEEEERE -
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Having been deeply engaged in the environmental field for two decades, the Group is well aware that high-
quality environmental management and environmental information disclosure are not only about the basic rights
and well-being of the public, but also the responsibility of corporate citizens that conduct business in the field
of environmental protection. During the year under review, given the ongoing pandemic prevention controls, the
Group continued to launch online open-up activities and opened its projects to the public as appropriate, with
151 projects open up to the public and over 40,000 domestic and overseas visitors across all sectors received
by its operating projects. At the project level, a number of the Group’s projects launched various activities in
conjunction with important environmental protection holiday occasions such as the “World Environment Day”,
“World Water Day” and “China Water Week”, guiding surrounding communities to pay attention to sustainable
development issues such as ecological and environmental protection, energy conservation and consumption
reduction, promoting the green living concept of resource conservation and recycling. At the same time, such
activities helped to promote the integration of projects with the local communities, facilitating the in-depth
implementation of China’s “Dual Carbons” strategic goal at the primary level. In 2022, the Group’s environmental
protection projects in several domestic provinces were granted more than 20 honorary titles, such as projects
opening up to the public and environmental protection science popularisation bases, at the national, provincial,
municipal, and county levels.

As a corporate citizen, the Group not only promoted environmental protection through various forms of activities
during the year under review, but also actively fulfilled its mission by exploring the community integration model
through its projects and actively promoting the long-term development of shared interests among government
authorities, businesses and residents. Among them, the Group’s Hebei Zhangjiakou Waste-to-energy Project
ensured the harmless treatment of household waste in Zhangjiakou and the safe treatment of medical and other
waste for the 2022 Beijing Winter Olympic Games, to facilitate the smooth running of the international games
and promote the concept of green Olympic Games. Facing the impact of the new waves of the Pandemic in
many areas in 2022, the Group’s project teams in various places prevented the Pandemic within their projects
and protected the local livelihood, ensuring the health and safety of employees and the stable operation of
projects, as well as preventing secondary transmission of the virus through various waste, leveraging the Group’s
quality environmental services to protect environmental safety and residents’ health in various places. When
Hong Kong was severely attached by the Pandemic, the Group not only ensured the health and safety of its
employees in Hong Kong, but also actively participated in and organised volunteer activities, donating goods to
local communities to fight against the Pandemic and working with local residents to combat all difficulties. During
the straw harvesting and storage period in autumn, the Group’s biomass integrated utilisation projects acquired
straw through a “government-led, enterprise-operated and market-run” mechanism, which not only ensured a
stable supply of the biomass raw materials, but also benefited more than 10 million farmers and provided work
opportunities to nearly 5,000 people, actively serving the country’s rural revitalisation strategy.

AMBRRBE — T8 AEEEESEENRIEENRRECEERETEFTFRIANEAENMEL - TRESRR
YENECEAREFENEE BEFEAR EREFRILLHENERT  AKREERFERARKLLARFABEHNE
B ERFARGTARMMEE  ARFMER Rt E151E FELBEBEFEAISASBEERALTERIEA
R HABER  AEEETZEERES [EFRER ] [HRKA ] [FEKAIFRARTEHE > ART SEE
BRASTELY  S|EFEHRATERRRGRE HERRSFUKEZRAE  SHHONER BRIANGZEE
FHIEE  FAREEEAES R ARLE  PHER [ERIEKABZEEBLRARAAEE - —_T__F - £5E
URZEBANENNRERER LREE T - +ZHEER & - M FRLRAMEN - RER EE W FHBERERER -

EREEAR  AREREBEFEANMERBIAZENRREGEY  THEEBRITEGEE - KEE NEBRRE
BHBER  BERTETRER IMEARE - B AEEALRRASFEHRERER ST _—_FUERLFTRES
(M2Rg)]) 2HRERRALFUFRLRGSHERNNEBRERZY([BEDNESCERE  HHIBEERES
JEFER S BRACRERD HH _T__FZHRENTETRBETE  AREZHEBEBFHARRE GIMRE
t BHRETRELZE HREREET  TARBKENELARERGEE T RSBBERY _REE  RESIR
BRrRERER ARBEXNERBRRERZE  AKETEREEAEEINRELZE  TEGE2ENAKE
TE®  MEMHERBERYE  BXAMERRERR IUEHERRHEDE  AREEMEREFREERBK
X8 - DEREF  THETINERKGKERR TEREEVERMHEERE <BTERRXD  F80
AT ABLE - TR AR5 B AR A o SR B S o
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In 2022, the Group received many honours from home and abroad in recognition of its fulfillment of its
responsibility and continued efforts in different aspects, including business operation, technology R&D,
sustainable development and social responsibilities. The major awards and honours are summarised as below:

SR F AREEXRBRE  BEHE  URERR  4E

RRASNRER - TRREARKEHEMT

BESFHEERTEES  BHER BEEN  HES

Category Award/Recognition Awarding Organisation(s)
bl He1E B MREEHE

Operational First place in the “2022 Top 50 Environmental China Environment
Management Enterprises in China” (the fourth consecutive year) Chamber of Commerce
rEER (2022 BIIR B 1 25058 |55 5 GEE L UF) PEIHETIFEHES

Shortlisted in the Fortune China 500 list
(the second consecutive year)
(BE) R EI50058 (EEE —F)

First place in the “Top Ten Influential Solid Waste
Treatment Enterprises in China” (the twelfth
consecutive year)

[FEEETAZENCEEE BE(BES T -F)

Blue Ocean Award
B

2022 Outstanding Practice Case of
Directors’ Office of Listed Companies
20225 FTARIENEFEERD

Everbright Water was shortlisted in the “Top Ten
Influential Enterprises in China’s Water Industry”
(the fifth consecutive year)

HRKBNE [FEKETATFENREIBE
(BEEERF)

Everbright Water received the “ListCo Excellence
Award 2022” (the third consecutive year)
RAKEER [HE ETARIKREIGEEE=F)

Fortune China

(B ) (P XhR)

E20 Environmental Platform
E20RIEF &

Asian Development Bank
TEMFEERTT

China Association for Public
Companies
A EFTARIRE

E20 Environmental Platform
E20R%EF &

Hong Kong stocks channel of
ifeng.com and Hong Kong
media am730

EEMEER - EHBam730

i & HE
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Category Award/Recognition Awarding Organisation(s)

L=hall HR1E R TREE

Operational Everbright Water was recognised as one of the 2021 Association of Southeast
Management “ASEAN Asset Class Publicly Listed Companies” Asian Nations (“ASEAN”)
(Continued) HRKBERER [RBEEBLEEE LTHAR ] Corporate Governance
EEEIR (1) Scorecard

TR FREEERER
(TRE ) REPAE T

Everbright Greentech received the “Corporate Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Governance Awards 2022” (H-share Companies and  Public Accountants
Other Mainland Enterprises Category) BEAGIMAE

RARZBRFRER [EEELR](HIRA R EED
FEAMEERAER)

Technology R&D Everbright Environmental Technical Equipment Ministry of Industry and

R A% (Changzhou) Limited* (“Changzhou Equipment Information Technology of
Company”) was shortlisted in the fourth batch of the  the PRC (“MIIT”)
National “Little Giant” enterprises that use special A RHFE T XM= 250
and sophisticated technologies to produce novel (T3
and unique products and services

HRBRREMEE(EMN)BRAR(TEMNEELRF])

AEZEENMPERERNEAIDELRSE

Changzhou Equipment Company was shortlisted in MIIT
the fourth batch of the National “Service Oriented T30
Manufacturing Demonstration Enterprises”

BMEBARAEZEZEE MM [ RS ERE D]

BE

200 tonnes/day quick loading small-scale furnace R&D The National Development and
and industrialisation project was awarded Reform Commission of the
a demonstration project by the NDRC PRC (“NDRC”)

200ME/ B R /N B R B I EE S L TR B KR R ARAMBEERERMN
BRAFZREHIER HEZER((ERNEZED

The research topic on “Application of Precise Environmental Protection
Dioxin Prevention and Control Technology and Science and Technology

Environmental Supervision in the Whole Process of Awards Committee
Waste Incineration and Metal Smelting” received RIBRERSZRITEEZES
the second prize of the Environmental Protection
Science and Technology Award
[ BRI G B & R R 2 12 — RSB 1 Rl £
REEEREA IMAREERBRER SRR _F8

* For identification only

Y BRI
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Category

Award/Recognition

Awarding Organisation(s)

85 #21g HRE TS

Technology R&D The research topic on “Innovation and Application Environmental Protection
(Continued) of Key Technologies for Synergy in Resource Science and Technology
RO (48) Awards Committee

Recovery of Autotrophic Desulfurisation and Carbon
Reduction of Industrial Waste Water” received the
first prize of the Environmental Protection Science
and Technology Award

[ T2 EEK B B BER bR &R B Y 177 [F) 18 R B8 B2 Fe i
BIFTEE R AR RERER R RER BRI R —F 8

“Suzhou Domestic Waste Incineration Medium
Temperature Ultra High Pressure and Ultra Low
Emission Technology Application” won the first prize
of the Science and Technology Award (Science and
Technology Application Award)

[ &N 717 A2 7 B SRR I R R R = JBR R BB AR R K il e AR
EEMERmR(RIERE) —F&

Everbright-Qingdao University of Technology
Research Institute of Environmental Technology
received the CNAS certificate, recognised as a
laboratory by the country

RAREBE TRERMATIEIGCNASRE » BES
BRARA N ER=TTS

REREMSBRMEREZES

China Association of Urban
Environmental Sanitation
PR TIRIES A HE

China National Accreditation
Service for Conformity
Assessment (CNAS)

FEAKFEARRUEE®
(CNAS)

Project Construction
TREHR

The construction work of the Group's Hainan Danzhou
Waste-to-energy Project won the Luban Prize for
the period of 2022 and 2023 in China’s construction
industry

AEBSMEMNFEETEEERIEETI _T__5
—_ECCFEPRERIREERIE

The construction work of the Group's Zhejiang Fuyang
Waste-to-energy Project received the China Quality
Construction Work Award

AEEMIEHNKREEEREZRIIZES
B EBE T2

China Construction Industry
Association

TREIZEXHS

NDRC
BRNEZR
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Category Award/Recognition Awarding Organisation(s)
L=hall HR1E R TREE
Sustainable Included in the Dow Jones Sustainability Indices Dow Jones
Development (the seventh consecutive year) EIEHT
ARFEER BEMABBI A HEERIENRICGEESLF)
Included in the Sustainability Yearbook (the fifth time) S&P Global
BMACARHEERFENERER) BRERIK

Included in the Hang Seng Corporate Sustainability
Benchmark Index (the twelfth consecutive year)
EMANBEMFHEEROERERHBCEEE +-F)

Included in the Hang Seng ESG 50 Index for the first

time
BIREMNABAEESG 501888

Hang Seng Indexes

BARER

Hang Seng Indexes

BEEH

Received the “Achievement of Net-zero” certificate and Hong Kong Quality Assurance

“Pioneering Organisation in Net-zero Contribution”

[RGB IFE R [P MR ESEEE =R

Agency
FEmERER

Shortlisted in the list of “2022 China’s Top 50 Carbon China Energy News, Digital

Neutral Contribution Enterprises”

N [20227 B ik A& B 15058 |FE e

Everbright Greentech received the “Best in ESG
Awards” and “Best in Reporting Awards”
KR ERRERS [ESGRERRAE]
[ EESGHR &G K%

and Dual Carbons Research
Institute, Tsinghua University
and China Energy Economics
Research Institute

PR RERE « BRT &R
BERE - hEEREE
b

The BDO ESG Awards
BDOIRIE L RE AN

Social Responsibility
nHesE

Social Responsibility Brand of the Year (the eighth
consecutive year)
FREEEmERCGEBE/N\F)

Zhejiang Quzhou Waste-to-energy Project of
the Group was recognised as one of the
“Top Ten Opening-Up Environmental Protection
Facilities in 2022”
REEE S IEMNREEER BTA
R CFTERRREFAEL ]

China Charity Festival
o B D25 H6

The MEE and the Central Office
for Guiding Cultural and
Ethical Progress

BIZR A REIRIE D - R XA
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ENVIRONMENTAL ENERGY 3z % 8¢ i

Focusing on Deployment and Enhancement of

Solid Waste Business Chain to Grow Bigger and Better
ZEBBEXEMBEA BAORERXHE

I.  ENVIRONMENTAL ENERGY — * IRI{RBER

Environmental energy is a core business sector of the Group, with the largest scale and biggest business
portion, covering waste-to-energy, food and kitchen waste treatment, leachate treatment, fly ash treatment,
methane-to-energy, sludge treatment and disposal, construction and decoration waste treatment, and the
development of environmental protection industrial parks. On this basis, in order to better play a synergistic
role and expand the scope of its solid waste industrial chain, the Group merged the eco-recycling and
environmental planning sectors into environmental energy during the year under review, which further
improved the deployment of the Group’s waste-to-energy industrial chain, strengthened integrated
development of the resources and energy integrated utilisation businesses, and consolidated the Group’s
leading position in the waste-to-energy industry.

As of 31 December 2022, environmental energy had invested in and held 258 projects, with a total
investment of approximately RMB94.400 billion, and undertook 2 O&M projects and 11 EPC projects,
which are designed to have an annual household waste processing capacity (including capacity of the O&M
projects) of 52,432,250 tonnes, which is expected to generate 17,736,434,700 kWh of annual on-grid
electricity, an annual food and kitchen waste processing capacity of 2,886,420 tonnes, an annual sludge
treatment capacity of 503,700 tonnes, and an annual medical waste processing capacity of 12,775 tonnes.

BRREFA/AKEETRARBRARBELESNZOEHRR  XERELREE  EFLEHRUREE 2

BT ﬂ_%b—(&%ﬁ AREE  ERERE  BERENRERE REREXEMBESF  EUERLE - REH

%Tﬁﬁz’;ﬂf’ﬁm ZEEEXRGHD ZIKE@EAEEEﬁFW%ft%%%W%E@ 1% HﬁEAﬁﬁﬁéﬁiﬂaaiﬁiﬂwi}‘E

1%)@&{% iE TRENREEEXRNE  BRICERERGENBEE —BCERE  ZEANEENARE
Tﬁﬁﬁbﬁif‘afm °

BE_Z-_—_Ht+-_A=1+—8" ¥&17T< BRI EEEIAE 268 - W RBIREHAREI44.0087T - mA&IE2

HAEFEZLEE M1EEPCIEE - Rt B(EELELEERE) AFRIEEEN52,432,2500F « F FHEE=2
17,736,434, 700 F LA - S RIBE B R BT8R L :2,886,420M8 « FpR I35 8503,700ME K & fRIB B2 E12, 7750 o
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As of 31 December 2022, environmental energy’s waste-to-energy projects are summarised as follows:

BE-_T-_—F+_A=1+—8 REERUFZXEHEABEABEWT :

Designed Processing

Project Status Number of Projects Capacity (tonnes/annum)
I8 B kR 18 B EZ (&) ARETERIEARE (W, )
In Operation” 143 46,793,000

g

Under construction 8 3,577,000

2

* including an O&M project
Y B AETELER

As of 31 December 2022, environmental energy’s waste-to-energy synergistic projects are summarised as
follows:

BE_Z-_F+_A=1+—H RFEERURZEEHREBEBEREENOT

Designed Processing

Project Status Number of Projects Capacity” (tonnes/annum)
T8 B kA& 78 B EZ (&) ARETERIRAR AR (W, 6 )
In Operation 66 3,821,057

®RiE

Under construction 12 492,750

i

*including the processing capacity of various waste-to-energy synergistic projects such as food and kitchen waste treatment,
sludge treatment and disposal, and medical waste treatment
* BERBIREISIUREE  JSRERE - BB ESANIRE T AE H B R
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In terms of market development, in 2022, environmental energy actively responded to the industry
adjustments and changes in the market environment, focused on both the domestic potential and existing
markets, actively developed overseas markets expansion and explored new business growth opportunities,
and steadily carried out the high-quality development of its business. During the year under review,
environmental energy further opened up the county waste-to-energy market and successively acquired
waste-to-energy projects in Hunan Ningxiang, Shaanxi Chengcheng and Anhui Guzhen, among others.
Through acquisition of equity interest, the Group secured Guizhou Zhijin Waste-to-energy Project and
Guangxi Luchuan Waste-to-energy Project, achieving a breakthrough in the expansion of the environmental
protection market in Guizhou Province while responding to the relevant requirements of the national
ecological poverty alleviation. The Group continued to promote synergistic business development, and
successively implemented 16 projects such as food and kitchen waste treatment and sludge treatment
and disposal, in addition to 1 waste sorting service, to drive revenue growth with business synergies.
The Group acquired asset-light businesses such as the EPC project for the zero-carbon demonstration
zone in Hainan Boao, and actively integrated the eco-recycling and environmental planning sectors into
environmental energy during the fourth quarter of 2022. By doing so, the Group continued to promote its
business development strategies that pay equal attention to the development of asset-light and asset-
heavy businesses and emphasis synergy to boost efficiency, so as to enhance the deployment of the waste-
to-energy industrial chain. During the year under review, environmental energy secured 25 new projects
(including acquisition projects), with a total investment of approximately RMB3.887 billion, in addition to
undertaking 4 EPC projects, 7 O&M projects and other types of light-asset businesses, with a total contract
value of approximately RMB1.401 billion. The newly secured projects contribute a designed daily household
waste processing capacity of 4,500 tonnes and a designed daily food and kitchen waste processing capacity
of 1,248 tonnes.

MEHEFIE  —222F  RREFEGEYEXEBABRURTEREE L  BEBRANEERTEMSE @ &
BHREGITERIRTFERNERERSG  BIHDEKSLELRE - DBEFEN - BRRERE—PITHSBEN
WEEME - BN ELS - BREEN  TREBESHIEREEER - BAREREFN - EEMNES
NIREBEEMEAREINKEEEE  ERTENERARMBRETRY  BGE2ERREEKENABEE
Ko BEHYHRERER AR EELEFEBBNUTERE SREEEESHEE16EN RN RS ERE1E - U
¥BHBRMELESBEEER AR NSSEBESRTNHEEPCEESEREEXY YRS -__FFNEFER
BESGEEER  REREIRBES  FEHD [KREWER]  [HBRBRINERERRE  BRIREANREEE
MR DBETFEN  RREREENG25EFEE (FREEL) - PREKENHAREKIS.87EL : #MEE4E
EPCIEE  7TEZTELEE REMBEEER - GRABHARK14.01ET  MERFARARLEREEENR
4,500WF - HERIEE R M ETfpHI 1,248 ©

Annual Report 2022 | —Z = — 443§

31



32

China Everbright Environment Group Limited | B KIZSE (M) ER AT

Management Discussion and Analysis &% 85t :mE 5 47

In terms of project construction, during the year under review, environmental energy carried out project
construction works in an orderly manner, 28 projects completed construction and commenced operation,
with a total designed daily household waste processing capacity of 13,250 tonnes, a designed daily food
and kitchen waste processing capacity of 780 tonnes, and a designed daily fly ash treatment capacity of
229 tonnes. 22 projects (including an EPC project) commenced construction, with a total designed daily
household waste processing capacity of 3,250 tonnes, and a designed daily food waste processing capacity
of 740 tonnes. During the year under review, the construction work of Hainan Danzhou Waste-to-energy
Project received the Luban Prize, making it the fourth waste-to-energy project of the Group to win the
highest honor in the construction engineering field of the country. The construction work of Zhejiang Fuyang
Waste-to-energy Project won the National Quality Engineering Award, fully demonstrating the Group’s
outstanding capability in environmental engineering planning and construction.

In terms of operations management, environmental energy further established and improved an efficient and
professional operations management system during the year under review, enhanced the standardisation
of its operations management, further reduced the workload of project staff, and strengthened the
professionalism of the project operations management personnel through various operation-related training,
to drive the effective improvement of project operation efficiency. At the same time, environmental energy
continued to increase investment in areas related to intelligent power station and achieved practical
results. It has implemented automated programming system (APS), automated combustion control (ACC),
automated frequency control (AFC), automated leachate control, and unattended slag crane, which boosted
the quality and efficiency of the project operations. In 2022, the average electricity generated per tonne of
waste incinerated at environmental energy’s waste-to-energy projects was approximately 470 kWh, with an
integrated power consumption ratio of approximately 16%.

TRRgfrm BEFER  RREFREE LRESEFH#E - XE28MEEERINE Rt EREARERL:
JEBIIR13,250MF - AEEIEE R KRB 780 - HEERR2200E : 22@EE (F1EEPCHEE )FATER « &3
RS A P IR ASE R 3,2500F - IR BRI R 7400 - BEEERN - BMENRETEEERIZESE
M KAAEEFNEGEZERREZETERS L BN RBEEE  MIEGNREEEEERTRETE
SEREEIRE xo¥yBASEERARIEREEER T ANSHEN -

BEERE  REGERFNOBFEAE-—FTEUNRE2SREXNELETEER  BAKEEENREKRF -
E—PHEHEAAEETT(FRE  WARBSKBELEIINNRABELEEASNERER  FHHABELUE
A RBIRTT - BRI - RREREENMASTZEFEARENRANELRSEYN BERTEPLHEERS
(APS) ~ B#RIEIEHI(ACC) ~ ABIERERI(AFC) - 2RBEBIZH - EREAET - RERELRLEUIE
B h - T —F  RREEFRNRFHEFIEL FTHEWABUREETEEFNI70TRE - HFEBMAETXRLI16% -



During the year under review, environmental energy contributed an EBITDA of HK$9,056,301,000, a decline
of 11% as compared with 2021. Environmental energy contributed a net profit attributable to the Group of
HK$5,065,735,000, a decline of 15% as compared with 2021. The decrease in profit was mainly attributable
to the decrease in the number of construction projects affected by the market during the year under review,
which resulted in the decline in revenue and profit from construction services, and the one-off impairment of

goodwill.

Major operating data relating to environmental energy during 2022 are summarised in the table below:

CEFEAN  RREBFEEBRIE  FIE - e REHETAF A H£E%9,056,301,0000T  RZZFE=-—F Tk
11% ° IRIRREFR B A AN EE B F B F) BB 15,065,735,000T * BR=-F f—iTﬂéw% o A A F ER AR
FENERBEYEXIMEXER)  EHRERBWEREMEHT TR » UWE— X EEEREMK -

ZECCF  RRERZEIZELHERZOT
Percentage
2022 2021 Change
—®==F  ZT--%  BEHLEW
Waste processing volume IR B IR = (8 )

(tonnes) 45,511,000 40,534,000 12%

Food and kitchen waste, B L EIsR IR

sludge processing volume SYERIE &S (HE)
(tonnes) 1,775,000 895,000 98%
On-grid electricity (MWh) HBESKER) 15,114,860 13,263,566 14%
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Focusing on Water-related Business o Create Value
to Industries Through Various Water Businesses

ZEZKEAE HHUKARNEEZEEHNE

[I. ENVIRONMENTAL WATER = - IRRKF

As of 31 December 2022, the Group held a 72.87% stake in Everbright Water, which is listed on the
Mainboard of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited and the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), with the goal of creating value to industries through
various water-related businesses. Everbright Water has developed fully-fledged business coverage, which
includes raw water protection, water supply, municipal waste water treatment, industrial waste water
treatment, reusable water, river-basin ecological restoration, and sludge treatment and disposal. Everbright
Water has also formed a full industrial chain in the water business, including project investment, planning and
design, technology R&D and related services, engineering and construction, and operations management
and integrated diagnosis, amongst others. It is a first-class water environment management service provider
in China.

As of 31 December 2022, Everbright Water had invested in and held 161 projects, with a total investment
of approximately RMB29.603 billion. It also secured 4 EPC projects, 5 O&M projects and other types of
asset-light businesses like technical services. These projects are designed to have an annual waste water
treatment capacity (including capacity of the O&M projects) of 2,225,806,500 m?, an annual reusable water
supply capacity of 109,719,000 m3, an annual water supply capacity of 310,250,000 m?, and an annual
sludge treatment capacity of 793,900 tonnes.

BE_T-_F+-A=1—8 AEEFAIARKIET2.87% M - SARKBAFIMKRESF X ZAERRE R
BREBARGMAERAR (B ERLETAR  BMARESLUKRRNEXEELE - X AKBEERRK
RAE - UK - MBUS/KERIE - TERKRE - F/KEA  REGE  SRREEREFEXBEEZ  KENEBER
B REIERET  MERABELRRY  ITRER  EZEE SKevWFERBEE  RHE-—RAKREBEESIAER
B -

BE_T-__F4+-_A=1+—H RRKBEHREZEEB161H  BRENHARKE296.0387T « HAZKAE

EPCIEE SEZTEZHEEUREMBINREEREEER - Rt RBE(SZXELEBEERE) BFEREFK
2,225,806,50037 2K ~ F#EAIK109,719,00037 75K ~ F#£7K310,250,00037 5K ~ FEE & )5E793,900MF o
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As of 31 December 2022, Everbright Water’s water projects are summarised as follows:

BE-T-_—_F+-A=1+—"H RXAKBEZEKBEARBBRABELT :

Designed Treatment

Project status Number of Projects Capacity (m®/annum)

I8 B kR 18 B @2 (&) RETERIBIRE (7K E)
In operation® 134 2,161,420,500

g

Under construction 12 321,200,000

2

*

including O&M projects
Y BEELEA

In terms of market development, in 2022, Everbright Water sticked to “water” as the fundamental factor of
its business, consolidated the traditional business fields such as waste water treatment. In the meantime, it
focused on the “water-related” business concept and established adaptive industrial research workforces, to
actively broaden its business development vision and deploy the “water-related” industrial chain. As a result,
the sector had secured new businesses in the fields such as industrial waste water treatment, municipal
sludge treatment and disposal. During the year under review, Everbright Water secured 10 projects, with a
total investment of approximately RMB1.309 billion, and undertook various asset-light services, including
2 O&M projects and technical services, with a total contract value of approximately RMB595 million. The
new projects are designed to have a daily waste water treatment capacity (including capacity of the O&M
projects) of 111,000 m?, a daily reusable water supply of 50,000 m?, and a daily sludge treatment capacity
of 625 tonnes.

In terms of project construction, during the year under review, Everbright Water had 3 projects that
completed construction and commenced operation and 2 projects that completed construction (including
a EPC project), with a total designed daily water treatment capacity of 190,000 m?; 5 projects commenced
construction, with a total designed daily water treatment capacity of 150,000 ma.

MSEHWEAE > —T-—F  RARKBEFUU[KIAES  BESKEESEGERES  BEELS [ZKIER
B EEREEWMEZIUEN  BEAEESHERE MR IZKIEERE  WERITEBEKERE  ME5EE
BEESEGEENES - OEFER - XAKBKEBI10EEE @ RIREHNARE13.008T « ARE2ELTES
HEERMRESSEREERE  ARABOARKSISE - MMIERAHE(ELTELEARE) ARERE
557K111,00032 772K ~ H#A7K50,00032 52K « HERIE5E625ME ©

TREZRAME BEBEFEN - HXAKEEEIEEE ZAKE  2@BE (£ —EEPCER)EKTT @ Xt AKE
IEIRE190,00037 5K : 5EIE B M TER @ &5 HKERERE150,00037 5 K ©
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In terms of operations management, during the year under review, Everbright Water actively followed the
country’s “Dual Carbons” strategic goal and implemented carbon-reduction tactics at its operating projects.
It collaborated with local enterprises and introduced alternative carbon sources like expired beverages,
which reduced drug consumption and project operational cost. The “in-plant solar energy” pilot programme
was further promoted and completed implementation of 6 sets of solar power facilities, with a total stalled
capacity of 8 WMp. The sector further unveiled potential of its water projects in Tianjin Municipality, by
implementing the “in-plant solar energy” facility, extracting thermal energy from waste water, supplying
reusable water directly to the local communities, and utilising sludge, which helped to improve the projects’
capability of utilising water resources and its by-products, and to transform into low-carbon benchmark
projects. In the meantime, Everbright Water continued the construction and application of its information
system. It upgraded the operations management system and applied the system across all operating
projects. The intelligent water sources management was promoted, which introduced several intelligent
operation methods for the first time, such as sampling by unmanned ships and scene image analysis for
water sources. In 2022, a total of 8 waste water treatment plants of Everbright Water received regulatory
approval for tariff hikes, ranging between 3% and 39%.

During the year under review, the Group’s environmental water sector contributed an EBITDA of
HK$2,178,925,000, a 4% decrease compared with 2021. Environmental water contributed a net profit
attributable to the Group of HK$731,431,000, a 18% decrease compared with 2021. The decrease in profit
was mainly due to the rise of raw material costs, and implementation of VAT exemption incentive policy which
resulted in an increase of operating costs in one-off basis.

Major operating data relating to environmental water during 2022 are summarised in the table below:

BEERAE BBEFEARN - ARKBERESER (S BKES  STEELRE BF ARIRE - BEHe
EAEINBHRHEE IR - B BT - Mﬁﬁﬁﬁ R ORAHERE [BAXIKIARER - 5EX61E
RRBEEREREHEMTHE  SHMHEEREANCREEREEERTEBESKE(WMp)  BEAREKEX
FRKIEIEE - A TRAYEIR] - J57KRGEIRE - F/KE#MERE SRERICMAERER RRKERIEIER
M BEMAKFE  TEEBCREIER o BRI - AR ERERE M%ﬁk RN ER - STREEEE RS
TR YERELBAEEE  ETEENKREERE - GRSIABAMIBUEL KEHESEGEIMEEZES
B ZT - T F - S AKIEHE T8 /KER I ML EAKME J:aH'T]aJ;M ?3%?:39% °

CEFEA  NEBRFKGRIBEBGRFE « BB - TEREHEAEN S HE%2,178,025,0007T * RZZF=—
fFW@%o%ﬁ$%ﬁ%$%§%ﬁ%%ﬂﬁ%%m1m1mmm BB —FTE18% c AR THREEHAR
FEM R A I M ITIRER AR ERRRA — A EEBELR A LT -

TR R RRKBZEIZEZEERBEOT
Percentage
2022 2021 Change
—Eg-= —E-—F B B E)

Waste water treatment volume  J5/KRIEE
('000 md) (FILHK) 1,770,000 1,698,700 4%
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As of 31 December 2022, the Group held a 69.7% stake in Everbright Greentech, which is listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Everbright Greentech focuses on hazardous and solid waste treatment,
integrated biomass utilisation, new energy, and environmental remediation, amongst others. It positions itself as
a leading intelligent energy supplier dedicated to “Carbon Neutrality”, as well as a prominent industrial hazardous
waste treatment investor and operator in China.

As of 31 December 2022, Everbright Greentech had invested in and held 140 projects, with a total investment
of approximately RMB33.05 billion. These projects are designed to have an annual biomass raw material
processing capacity of 8,089,800 tonnes, an annual household waste processing capacity of 4,215,750 tonnes,
an annual 6,992,190,013 kWh of on-grid electricity, an annual hazardous and solid waste processing capacity
of 2,873,400 tonnes, as well as 5,389,663 tonnes of steam supply per annum.

As of 31 December 2022, Everbright Greentech’s solar energy projects are summarised as follows:

BE-T-_F+-A=1+—H AEEFALAZERRFREI7TRHNER - LAKERER/BIMEIRLETA
Bl TEXBERECERRE  EVMESETA MR RREEEFER  EURPEELN [HRTNIE26
RN TEEEREEREBLR -

HE-_Z-—F+-A=1+—H X AGKORELREEZEER140E  BREHAREI30.5ET ' ReFHES
FRRIP £V E R M K18,089,800MF - FBR3E 4 /E 11 4,215,750 + FF L4 EE6,992,190,013F ALl - FRER
[EE£2,873,400M8 + F#2%)95,389,663MF °

BE_T-_—_F+_A=1+—H RXAHRERERALABLBHEBBERHEOT :

Project Status Number of Projects Designed Installed Capacity (WMp)
18 B RRE 18 B A (&) AT EERRCER)

In Operation 19 33.05

wiE

Under Construction 3 9.6

o=
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In terms of market development, in 2022, Everbright Greentech proactively “stabilised major businesses and
carried out transformation”. For the traditional business areas, Everbright Greentech further optimised the
collection, storage and transportation mechanism of biomass raw materials to ensure the supply of biomass
fuel. It also integrated and established a regional co-ordination centre to ensure the existing hazardous
and solid waste treatment business, while further expanding the business to consolidate its market share.
In the second half of 2022, Everbright Greentech reached a strategic co-operation agreement with Alibaba
Cloud Computing Co. Ltd. to deepen the deployment of new energy development and promote the digital
transformation of the environmental protection field. During the year under review, Everbright Greentech
secured 4 new projects and signed 1 supplemental agreement for existing project, which commanded a total
investment of approximately RMB350 million. It also undertook 8 environmental remediation services, with
a total contract value of approximately RMB244 million. The new projects are designed to have an annual
household waste processing capacity of 146,000 tonnes, an annual hazardous and solid waste processing
capacity of 1,500 tonnes, an annual steam supply capacity of 166,400 tonnes, and a designed solar energy
installed capacity of 15.7 WMp.

With respect to project construction, during the year under review, Everbright Greentech had 7 projects
that had completed construction and commenced operation, contributing a designed annual hazardous
and solid waste processing capacity of 380,000 tonnes and a designed solar energy installed capacity of
1.387 WMp. 7 environmental remediation services were completed and delivered. In addition, 8 projects
commenced construction, with a designed annual household waste processing capacity of 365,000 tonnes
and a designed solar energy installed capacity of 10.99 WMp. 8 environmental remediation services started
their respective remediation work in succession.

During the year under review, the Group’s greentech sector contributed an EBITDA of HK$2,234,378,000,
a decrease of 24% as compared with 2021. Greentech contributed a net profit attributable to the Group of
HK$290,267,000, a decrease of 67% as compared with 2021. The decrease in profit was primarily due to
the resurgence of the Pandemic in China and the slowdown of economic growth during the year, which has
resulted in the decrease of unit prices for treatment fees and the increase in the raw material costs, resulting
in the significant decrease in the profit margin.

MBHEFE T -_F tkﬁ@h%ﬁﬁ(%i% REER | o STEEMER B - KAREBRRE—SE
{EEMEREM R EE#S]) - REEMERSHEE  BEAEYRBHAETL  RECEEEEFSXE 0 BSH
REEXY  Z2EMBSMNE —S-__F F¥F - tﬁﬁ@hﬁﬁﬂiﬁuﬁﬁﬁ RIRFTBEAIERZE - AA
MRFEERAEN, - HHIRFREANHFLER - HEEERN » AAGERFELANCAEFTBEELEE1MHIRAEE
WripsE  BREHNAREISEL  ARZSERBBEERSEE  REARABEHARE2. 448 T - FILHAR
EAFRE A RN 146,000  FEEE B ERE1,5000F - F43K9166,4000F « YA B BREIBE157IKE °

TREERTE BEFEAN ARAEERFAERAB7TERBEZXRE  RFRERFEEEREFE380,000W - 3
REBEERMARI387RE - 7TERBEERBEB TKEETRILRAMT < i - 8EEBH TRER - ReFH
&R BRI 4 )& 1130 365,000 « KRB EBRMMAK10.99K R  8ERBEERBEEEERMMBREMEET

12 o

OEFEAN  AEESERARRMEBGRFE - BIE - TEREHEAFEE2,234,378,000r * ’RZTF-_—F
f%24% - B RRBEIAEB BN FHFE290,267,0007T - r_y_—iTMm%oéﬂHQI%mwim
B EREERERCELIRME  BEBEE THEIEMEIEAEN - SEFHEERIETEAEK -
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Major operating data relating to greentech during 2022 are summarised in the table below:

ZECCF BERRIIZELENBEOT
Percentage
2022 2021 Change
—BC-CF —T_—F BOLLEH
Waste processing volume R R E (HE)
(tonnes) 3,457,000 2,919,000 18%
Biomass raw material processing 4 ¥& B 18 & (1)
volume (tonnes) 8,186,000 7,964,000 3%
Hazardous and solid waste EEERE= (1)
processing volume (tonnes) 431,000 269,000 60%
Steam supply volume (tonnes)  Z{tEE () 2,419,361 2,154,671 12%
On-grid electricity (MWh) HEEECKEE) 6,270,760 6,310,119 1%
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Focusing on Green Technological R&D and Innovation
to Empower Development of all Businesses

FELBHMAN HEESBEXZHLE

IV. ENVIROTECH 1 - #ff3tft
Being the Group’s engine for technology R&D and innovation, the envirotech sector has been leveraging its
R&D layout with platforms in various locations, focusing on key research areas such as household waste
treatment, treatment of various hazardous and solid waste, agricultural and forestry biomass utilisation,
water environment management, big data and intelligent control. The sector is positioned to become a global
platform dedicated to green technological innovation and conversion.

During the year under review, envirotech strived to cater to the development of traditional business, new
business and the Group’s future development needs while promoting R&D work, in a bid to empower and
provide technical support for the development of all businesses of the Group. In addition to a focus on
China’s “Dual Carbons” strategic goal and implementation of a series of “Carbon” themed research work,
envirotech continued to carry out various R&D work and tackle difficult R&D issues. As a result, it made good
progress in the fields of waste-to-energy, hazardous and solid waste treatment, flue gas treatment, and
intelligent control.

RSB M ERIFHSIZE - bk (AT [REME DERESZHWRINMETE  BELFNREE - &
BRBEERE  EMEMENA  KRBAE  ABEBEMEREHNSERMAREER - 2HITER R RN
BRMEF e REmELYEs -

CEFEARN  HREZEERERES  BRFES  BAERKER]=E7AEERRTE  SAKESEX

BEREDMEE  REMERBEMEMRRE - REGER [ Lk BB REREE T —F5 [HR]ZERFTE
MR EHE R AREN R RN N REE - EEERE  EREE  SRZEfSRENERIFER
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The Group’s major technology R&D progress and results in 2022 are summarised as follows:

“TEo o ARBETIENERABERLKERBENT ¢

Business Area

EpEccl

Research Result(s)/Topic(s)
WEKR, R

Waste-to-energy and
Hazardous and Solid Waste
Treatment

by 3 B N fE [E EERR 1R

The 1,000 tonnes/day large-scale solid waste synergistic treatment
technologies were applied to the Group’s Jiangsu Wujiang Waste-to-
energy Project (“Wujiang Project”), with an ignition loss rate of less than
2%

The research on fluoroplastic heat exchanger was applied and
demonstrated in the Group’s environmental protection projects in
Suzhou City

The application of anaerobic membrane bioreactor (MBR) for waste
leachate treatment was demonstrated in the Group’s Jiangsu Suzhou
Waste-to-energy Project (“Suzhou Project”) for demonstration purposes
and to optimise and improve the existing anaerobic systems

The furnace ash cleaning technology was in trial run at the Group’s
Zhejiang Haiyan Waste-to-energy Project

The research topic of “Key Technology Equipment and Engineering
Demonstration Research on Efficient, Clean and Stable Furnace
Incineration of Organic Solid Waste” entered the stage of preparation for
acceptance

The research topic of “Intelligent Automatic Optimised Control System
for Incineration Process Measurement and Multi-Data Coupling” entered
the preparation stage for acceptance

1,000, B KB 2% 1 [ 5% 175 [F] B2 32 S0 P FA X AN SR BT Ak ROT I R B
ER(TRIER]) @ EERNEERN2%
RBRBRARARENAEEMREMNAIRREE ETEARE

R A1 I e 28 (MBR) B 22 5y )2 8 R FE A 1T FR A AR 6= BT AR 4% N 57
RBEBEB ([#HMIER D REITENTREIERRER  BLERERHKE
ESh

BB IR BT R AN SR B L/ By IR B IR B T RUETT
[BHERESBUFRZIREEIEREAERME RN TIRREBHRE IRE
EANBERWE R

[EERAERZHEBRENERADE(CEN RGN IRBEAS
1 5 U P B

Flue Gas Treatment

12 SR B IR

The flue gas heater with ultra-low emission (GGH) was demonstrated in
the Suzhou Project

The second generation of flue gas recirculation technology was used
in the optimisation and transformation of the second phase of Wujiang
Project to provide emission reduction technology demonstration
RBIEER EERINZEE (GGH) RE R &R N IE B 1T RE (b
F_RERBREERMANRIELE ZHE s - RBHERE R
D
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Business Area

E st

Research Result(s)/Topic(s)
MEKR,RE

Intelligent Control

Bl

The automatic combustion control (ACC) system was applied to over 40
projects within the Group and externally

The key technologies of the integrated smart environmental sanitation
platform provided key technologies and service support for individual
waste sorting projects of the Group

The results of the “research on core technology of Intelligent Internet of
Things and its application in the field of energy conservation” provided
a new generation of intelligent gateway for the Group’s energy-saving
lighting projects and optimised its smart city management platform
B8REZEGI(ACC) RSB E BN A S E KN E4018E B

BERF B ToBREME RSB AR RIS HIEB IRHEERERK
Mo AR 75 < #5

(BB OB RS RN ER IR AREREER
BRIE BRI — R B8R VB EERMmERTA

Energy and
Carbon Reduction
EIE2

The project of “R&D of key technologies of high stable solid amine
carbon dioxide capture material synthesis and application equipment”
made good progress

The energy saving and efficiency improvement technology was applied
in the demonstration of energy saving and efficiency improvement in the
third phase of Suzhou Project

[ = 1% 7E [E Re i — S Brim e M KHS B B FE PR 2% S A R BT A 3% I RRE

& R4

B 5 18 R S B i FE AR R0 & N TE B = ARV BB G RS UE R T 1E
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As of 31 December 2022, patents that were held and major technical essays published by the Group are
listed in the table below:

BE-Z-__F+A=+t—"R AKERAEEEFNREZXMHXERBRAT ¢

As of

31 December

2022

2022  (Accumulated)

Bz-z2—_—F

+=B=+-H

ZE-CF (£5)

Granted patents RIEZRRF 385 1,675
Invention patents ZEAHER] 35 167
Utility Model patents ERFHAER 244 1,194
Software patents PHF| 83 267
Appearance patents HNERER AT A 23 47
Major technical essays EEFMHMXERRE) 15 87

In terms of scientific research co-operation and exchange, during the year under review, envirotech actively
integrated resources and expanded information sharing channels. It successively established scientific
research co-operation partners with Southeast University, Zhejiang University and other universities and
institutions, carried out co-operative R&D work on solid waste treatment, biomass utilisation and other fields,
and jointly launched special training courses. Riding on the collaboration with the Hong Kong Science and
Technology Parks Corporation in 2021 to launch a green technology incubation and commercialisation
platform in Hong Kong, envirotech held many technical exchange meetings and met with many domestic and
foreign green technology enterprises to start continuous and extensive exchanges and interactions in the
fields of energy conservation for buildings, optical storage and monitoring equipment.

RMaEXRTE  DEFEAR  AERESEAER MRESAZFRE  TREREAZE MIKSFSF
R MEBERMI A EEN  BREERERE  AVENASESHRAFETEIE  BaELTRFIIRE -
MARMER T - —FHRFEMZELABFIENEESEMEMCEBLYE  BRZARMAE Y
BREZFBRIMFEREREE - RELEE R EARBEFRIRRAFE  BZOHXRED -
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Focusing on Integration of Advanced Manufacturing

and Modern Services to Explore and Establish

"Zero-carbon Factory”
AEREELFARAERERS KRITE

V. EQUIPMENT MANUFACTURING # - #{ERE
With Changzhou Equipment Company being the main platform, the Group’s equipment manufacturing sector
strives to upgrade its factories from the country’s “Green Factories” to “Zero-carbon Factories”, promoting
the integration of advanced manufacturing and modern services. During the year under review, with the
incorporation of the business of the Group’s greenergy sector, equipment manufacturing further expanded
its scope of business and enriched its product portfolio, fostering a new development paradigm for the
“Intelligently Made by Everbright”, continuing to solidify its industry-leading position.

ERTEEBRRAREBMERED  FAEERBRERBEKEFTNEBRTAR/TE  UER [FETHIAHERTT
FITE [ZMIHMINFAE - RESERERBABRBERAARS - BBEFER - AREECRBGRIBEIERE - B
ENRRNBABRREFOHA > RERENEHRBE—IHR  EmBIE—FTEE  BOBRIAAETEIRR
HigR - HEZETTERELMA -

44 China Everbright Environment Group Limited | Bl K3EE (%£8) AR AR



In terms of market expansion, during the year under review, in the environmental equipment market,
equipment manufacturing continuously consolidated domestic market share and actively promoted overseas
market expansion, signing 18 external sales contracts and selling 22 sets of equipment to external markets,
including 8 sets of grate furnaces, 6 sets of gas emission purification equipment and 8 sets of leachate
treatment systems. It secured contracts relating to the external sale of complete sets of equipment, which
amounted to a total contract value of RMB603 million. In the energy-saving lighting market, the Group
proactively followed and reached many strategic partnerships, signed 9 energy-saving lighting EPC projects,
and secured multiple business orders relating to direct sales of lighting products, with a total contract value
of approximately RMB32.85 million. In addition, positive progress was made on the sales of the water purifier
products.

In terms of equipment supply and after-sales services, during the year under review, equipment
manufacturing commenced 24 service items, spanning 16 provinces, municipalities and autonomous regions
in China. It provided 19 sets of grate furnaces to projects of the Group and external clients, which have a
total designed daily waste processing capacity of 9,450 tonnes. In addition, it sold 109 sets of equipment,
covering grate furnace systems and leachate treatment systems. It also signed 118 contracts in relation to
external after-sales services, worth a total contract value of approximately RMB46.64 million. Throughout
2022, the sector provided 163 after-sales service projects, of which 101 were internal projects and 62 were
external projects.

%

MSHEAE  BBRFER  REREETS  KERESBZEERATSNE  BEESEITHIR A%
FIMEARN8H - IMERBRAF226E - A &%*WﬁJFSAE BERFEEFRREEE - 2RBARERGSA
ERENIIERERBARASFEARKGC.03ET - NERERAMS  AEBEBEGREWEXNZAERES
1 REOMEMEMPEPCIEBEAZELNBREHET - SRAROAREI2858TT I - FKBF[EINER
MIHEERRIT R

REBEHELRERRB I E - MEFER  KEREMEEB HERM24E %ﬁ‘EAWm{%‘ﬁE“AE P SERR
’EIW*BIE BRINBEPIEFELEEIOBE - ARFHREERRIENIN,450M  TRREE - 2RBREFKE

RBHE1098E - RBIHERRE AR 1180 - SRBSFEARK4,66487T ° :’—;__i CRE SRR
TEE163ME - A AEIAB 1011E - SMEBIE B 621E -
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In terms of equipment, processes and technologies, during the year under review, equipment manufacturing
adhered to its innovative development philosophy, follow market demands, and leverage its advantages to
activate its innovation power. As a result, it successfully promoted a number of R&D projects, with major
results being summarised as follows:

R TERRMAETE  DEFERN  EERERFAMEREE  YRMEHR  BEEHED  ZHH
REIFTEY D - BRI SR ERETIE - TERRBEMNT ¢

Area of Business Major Result(s)

FIEEE FEKR

Environmental Equipment e The domestic selective catalytic reduction (SCR) technology was

IRIREE successfully applied to a number of environmental protection projects of
the Group

e The new process of the primary air system for grate furnace was
implemented in many projects

e Production lines of the ultrafiltration memberance technology were
established and the relevant membrance products were used by
projects

e The medical waste incineration technology completed trial operation,
providing project operation experience for the development of
countercurrent rotary kiln technology

e The higher heating value water-cooled grate furnace system was
installed in individual projects of the Group and received orders from
various internal and external projects

e The research results on the food and kitchen waste treatment to
enhance automation were applied to the Group’s food and kitchen
waste treatment project in Jiangyin, Jiangsu Province, which can realise
information visualisation, data analysis optimisation and fault judgment
during the kitchen waste treatment process

e The R&D work of a set of equipment for solid waste treatment
(processing capacity below 200 tonnes/day) progressed well and was
approved by the NDRC

o BIESCREHEKMA IR ERRAEEZERRIER

e WEE-—XEZGHIEZENZEEREE

o HEBRRMER4AESUERKMERNIEREM

e BEBEEYVMERMMNIERTKAET AYRLDBERMEREHR
BAETRR

e BREKLBEHERSENASEERIEBETEE  WEZERIND
BAFE

e EENREEZESREASHECEEARKNREARATEEIHIRES
NIFEIBIER - AIBEREFNFEIBBIENGEEAIRL - BESTEL
O )

o 200 ALATEEREXNEXRGENEITIEERIEN WEERKEZE

M IR
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Area of Business Major Result(s)

EBRe FEKR
Energy-Saving Lighting e The intelligent industrial park management platform integrated the “Dual
FEELE Carbons” management and other functions, and commenced and

promoted such in industrial parks

e The smart light poles management platform and system were applied in
multiple internal and external projects

e The smart gateway, single lamp controller, centralised controller and
prefabricated equipment compartment with independent intellectual
property rights began production, were applied in multiple projects, and
started the technology upgrading work

e The new generation of study desktop lamps achieved mass production,
and the third generation of control system and negative ion module
function completed development and finalisation

e BEREREEUMTAMAIEHRIEEELENAE  WEEXEHREE
17

e BEEMHERRSRCEANZEANINFIER

o BEFBEINBE#HNTRMEMN  BREtEs  SPiEtlsERRER
ERALE  ERARZEER WREB KM TIE

e M REZERELMEEE  F-RESIZGNEBEFERNETK
FE e

Events After the Reporting Period & ##%E18

On 2 March 2023, the Company completed the issuance of the 2023 MTN (series 1) in the national inter-bank
bond market of the PRC with a principal amount of RMB2 billion, an interest rate of 3.10% per annum and a
maturity period of 3 years. The proceeds from the issuance were used for repayment of bank borrowings of
the Company.

On 8 March 2023, Everbright Water completed the issuance of the fourth tranche super & short-term
commercial papers with a principal amount of RMB1 billion, an interest rate of 2.60% per annum and a
maturity period of 180 days to the institutional investors in the national inter-bank bond market of the PRC.
The proceeds from the issuance were used for repayment of outstanding debts of Everbright Water.

RZF_=F=ZAZ0  ARAEFBE2ERTHESHSENET T _—FREE-—HTHRE  BTASHE
RARB20ET - FHXRR3.10%  HRA/3F  BERESANEERRFRITER -

RZZF-_=F=ZANA  AAXKBRTEEERTEAGSMERBREECNBTENRBEMBES - BT
ERA/AREI0ET - FHE[2.60%  MIRF180K - BRETARBEIARKBHEHRES -
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On 6 March 2023, Everbright Water received a notice of registration acceptance issued by National
Association of Financial Market Institutional Investors of the PRC (FFEISRITREIT IS X ZFREHE) (“NAFMII)
approving the proposed issuance of MTN in multiple tranches to institutional investors in the national inter-
bank bond market of the PRC with a registered principal amount of RMB5 billion by Everbright Water.
Meanwhile, as part of the aforesaid issuance of MTN, Everbright Water was approved by NAFMII to issue an
initial tranche of MTN with a principal amount of between RMB1 billion and RMB1.5 billion. As at the date
of approval of the financial statements of the Group, Everbright Water has not issued the above-mentioned
initial tranche of MTN.

On 7 March 2023, Everbright Greentech made an application to the NAFMII for registration of multiple types
of debt financing instruments in the aggregate amount of not more than RMB5 billion to be issued in multiple
tranches within two years from the date of the notice of acceptance of registration to be issued by NAFMII.
As the aforesaid application is being processed, there remains uncertainty as to whether and when the above
application will be approved and when the registration of the debt financing instruments will be completed.

R-Z_=F=ARA  ARKBRIGFERTEATEIZEAHBE(RTBAIZEBE ) FLIEERRTHE
BETHEHRBREEDZHBTEIMASARARBSOBETHTHRERNEIEMBAE - (FAZTHEERET
H—HD  ROALXZEHETEMEXRSKBRTEERARBIOBTEARBISETOE —HHHERE &
REEOPBHRERAMER - HAKFHRBEITEAF —HFHRE -

R-Z_=F=A+tH AAZKERFRARTHAXIEHSELRE  UEMEBTISRARKE0ETASZ
B RETH S mEEHMAE TR - ARKNES TTH#E%ETTF?X%?@T%@&EE’J aEftmmE e B \EF S
HAMF AETT o RPN LIRS IETER IR ﬁEE&ﬂﬂﬂéﬁt/E AR EMEREE T AR KRN REE

Business Prospects £ E %

The years pass and the seasons flow like clockwork. Stepping into 2023, inflation remains high worldwide,
coupled with weakened global economic and trading growth momentum, adding to uncertainties in the
external environment. China’s economic growth is stabilising and improving but still needs to be solidified,
due to the great triple pressure of shrinking demand, supply shocks, and weakening expectations. However,
the domestic economy has great resilience, huge potential, and a strong dynamic. With the economic
dynamic and potential being fully unleashed, China will continue to instill confidence and strength in the
world’s economy.

BRATE  REWMR - PAZT_=F  2RERDESL - EREENE ZIERIEERT - IMERRTIEEE

MR - FEZEERMRR EEREFTER - FREE  HEEERENES=—SEN DAL BERNKLES
TSR~ EBAR - ANR - BEKEENMERT DB - EP!H%!@%EZ% REBEIAELMAE -



The year 2023 marks a critical year for the implementation of China’s 14th Five-Year Plan. Combined
with the national “Dual Carbons” strategic goal and the general trend of people’s desire for a better living
environment, the domestic environmental protection industry will continue to be in a period of adjustment
from “expansion” to “maturity” and a critical period of seeking a “second growth curve” and high-quality
development. Although the market environment is highly competitive, China’s regional strategies, rural
revitalisation, the “Belt and Road” development, the battle against pollution, pollution and carbon reduction,
and other major policies are expected to inspire new models, new businesses, new products and new
services, which will breed huge market opportunities.

The Group has embarked on a year of hard work and the promotion of quality development in 2023, which
also marks an important milestone as the 30th anniversary of the Company’s incorporation and the 20th
anniversary of its pivot to environmental protection. The Group will continue to adhere to its corporate
mission of being “Devoted to Ecology and Environment for a Beautiful China” and its corporate pursuit of
“Creating Better Investment Value and Undertaking More Social Responsibility”. Moreover, the Group will
adhere to the general principle of “Making Progress with Stability”, and stick to its original aspiration and
move forward courageously. For the next round of development deployment, the Group will strengthen
strategic guidance to steadily promote transformation, strengthen market expansion to activate its
development engine, deepen “cost reduction and efficiency enhancement” to boost development efficiency,
drive innovation to foster development momentum, continuously optimise management to support its
development, and guard against operating risks to establish a solid bottom line for development. With the
strategic guidance of the Board and support from its stakeholders, the Group will work together and is
confident to grasp the development opportunities arising from national policies and industry adjustments, in
a bid to achieve five major transformations, namely the transformation from high-speed development to high-
quality development, the transformation from the investment-driven development to development driven by
a balance of asset-heavy and asset-light businesses, the transformation from construction service revenue
to operation service revenue as the major source of revenue, the transformation from the extensive mode
of management to a fine management mode, and the transformation from an enterprise with technological
strengths to a technology-based enterprise. By doing so, the Group aims to steadily move towards the
goal of becoming a world-class ecological and environmental management group, and to actively serve the
national strategies and contribute the “Everbright” strength to the construction of a beautiful China, with a
higher stance, longer-term vision and more practical commitment.

“ECCHRERER A IRENERTF c FAER [ERIBREFENRREXFERREEENNES -
IWIJ%{%??%H%I%Z%J‘%E& [$BoR |8 [ R ) S B B A Je 553K f”"_iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁgiﬁéﬁﬂﬁaﬁﬂﬂ  TMSIR
RERBFF AR BETERREBAT - B RE F—ﬁ—EﬂJL S RBARERE - RS B R KT # AR
?zf?%ﬁ%'éfi MER  FEREFRGE  2EERTHHE

R CETERASEREAREERRNABZF  OBRHFEARAKI=ZTEF HURR_TAFNER
BigM AEEBEERA [BRERRE ;i%% EPE I MEXERaMAEEFRERBE AEEZHEER
EINBERER  BE [RPFEINTIFRER  BFOL0  BERFL l,%”%lH CBEAT BET SRR
IR ﬁ%ﬂﬂﬂ?ﬁ@k%%l%ﬁ RAHEEL MBS IR - BARRSIE R [RAER] - BABERR
7 BERINED  BEBERDEL HEBLERE  REBRERXE: %%ﬁ?&%ﬂrﬁ ERERER -HEEFEWN
EXWTE%WHE\ BRNENIF T  AEERLEN  AELVEBEHBERBRETEABRNEREE  ERAE 8
) AHERERANSEEEREY REBYNEEIREEY  HEERBUERIMNELEKERTEE -
RERAEERNRACEEEE AEXAMBIAMRECXEE  RIBANSERRERREEENEER
YAESER EERAEFEREE  RHEBERBE  SXETEEREMEXINE -
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FINANCIAL REVIEW 8/ 7% [o] B

Financial Results Bt i % 4&

In 2022, the Group’s consolidated revenue amounted to HK$37,321,229,000, a decrease of 25% from
HK$49,895,384,000 in 2021. Consolidated gross profit was HK$14,364,599,000, a decrease of 13% compared
to 2021. The Group’s consolidated gross margin increased to approximately 38%, an increase of 5% over
2021. The EBITDA was decreased by 15% from HK$15,027,003,000 to HK$12,841,787,000 in 2022. Profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company for 2022 was HK$4,601,939,000, a decrease of 32% compared to
2021. Basic earnings per share for 2022 was HK74.91 cents, HK35.85 cents less than the amount of HK110.76
cents in 2021. The decrease of revenue and earnings were primarily due to:

1. a substantial decrease in construction service revenue was recorded during 2022, mainly resulting from a
significant drop in the number of new projects in the industry; and

2. the Group has made a full goodwill impairment in the amount of approximately HK$590 million for its
subsidiaries in Poland during 2022, which was mainly due to the sharply increasing rates of Poland
government bonds, the severe inflation in Poland caused by geopolitical frictions and the substantially rising
operating costs for the Poland project. Details are set out in note 17 to the financial statements.

R F  AEESREWRESESE®S37,321,229,0007T + BR-E =~ —F 15 149,805,384,0007T NE25% © R A
) A7EHE14,364,599,0007T * BT = —F TfE13% : &rE EFELNZ8%  M-T = —FHEMN5% ° BRFIE - FIE - 37
ENEER AT AE12,841,787,00070 ' _F = —F 2 &F¥15,027,003,0007T TE15% c —FE - —F AR A=
BFEABEEF AER4,601,939,000T  R-ZE-—FHL32% c —E-_—FEFRERZFA74.9181 ®R_Z
Z—F/110.768 1L TF£35.858 1l c MARBFIRBEEZHNUATEE ¢

1. 2T _FERNEZERBEEABRED  TEXTXEAFERBHENRMTE

2. —E-— fW‘ﬁ“ﬁ)ﬁ%ﬁMTJ%"?%HE%%EP%%?@ZTE?’L #5.9087C - TEHMNNMBEES XA\ - JA R
BORBERERE M RBRERER - KNMIEBEERAKNE LT - FIFERP IR 17 -

Financial Position Bf i t:%

As of 31 December 2022, the Group’s total assets approximately amounted to HK$190,597,798,000 with
net assets amounting to HK$62,598,893,000. Net asset value per share attributable to equity holders of the
Company was HK$7.712 per share, representing a decrease of 9% as compared to HK$8.429 per share as at
the end of 2021. As of 31 December 2022, the gearing ratio (total liabilities over total assets) of the Group was
67%, a decrease of 1 percentage point as compared with that of 68% as at the end of 2021.

RZE-_—_F+-_A=+—8 AEBEZEEEHNEBE190,597,798,0007T  JF & E A5 #62,598,893,0007T °
RNARIEFEAAEESREEFEABLEI 2 R E - —FFRAQNAEZFTEAREEREEFELE
84297 P9% c RZEZZF+ZA=+—H FAEB7EEABXER(UNEBERINBEEFTENB)B67T% &
TE—FFKRZ68% NEIET DL -
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Financial Resources B i &R

The Group adopts a prudent approach on cash and financial management to ensure proper risk control and
low cost of funds. It finances its operations primarily with internally generated cash flow and loan facilities from
banks. As of 31 December 2022, the Group had cash and bank balances of HK$11,782,743,000, representing
a decrease of HK$3,822,243,000 as compared to HK$15,604,986,000 at the end of 2021. Most of the Group’s
cash and bank balance, representing approximately 98%, was denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi.

AEEHRES LUK EERNEENRE  ZSEERRBEREESKE - BEESEARRAANBIRE R LT REIT
REEZEF R —F+-_A=+—H AEEFERESNMIETEHEM11,782,743,0000 ' RZE-_—FFE
2 75115,604,986,000 T8 8 #3,822,243,0007T » AEBKIHIAE RIBTTEBKH ABE R AR - (H4)98% -

Borrowings & &%

The Group is dedicated to enhancing the ways of financing and improving banking facilities to reserve funding
to support the development of the environmental protection business. As of 31 December 2022, the Group had
outstanding borrowings of HK$94,724,500,000, representing a decrease of HK$4,401,164,000 as compared
to HK$99,125,664,000 at the end of 2021. The borrowings included secured interest-bearing borrowings of
HK$43,406,341,000 and unsecured interest-bearing borrowings of HK$51,318,159,000. The borrowings are
mainly denominated in Renminbi, representing approximately 70% of the total borrowings, and the remainder is
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, US dollars and Polish zloty. Most of the borrowings are at floating rates. As
of 31 December 2022, the Group had banking facilities of HK$115,033,069,000, of which HK$32,886,138,000
have not been utilised. The banking facilities are of 1 to 25 years terms.

AEERNEFATANBERTRIEARTEREE  FHEEASRABRRESNBE - N F+=-A=+—
H REBEHKAEEERAESEABE4,724,500,0007T * M- T~ —FF K 28 ¥99,125,664,000 7T 8 1 78 &
4,401,164,0007C - ERBIEAE IR 2 51 B8 BB 843,406,341,0007T & EEL I 7 51 B (& § 78 1 51,318,159,000
T AEENERTEUAREBEN  HAHO70% - EAJIBEBE  ETMEBEAER KREFHAHD
EFHRFHINE RZFZ__F+_HA=1+—0  AEBEZRTHEREE AHE%115,083,069,0007T * H B
32,886,138,000L BEARENA 2 REE © iRITEE B1 2255 H -

Foreign Exchange Risks #NE & b2

The Company’s financial statements are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, which is the functional currency
of the Company. The Group’s investments made outside Hong Kong (including the Mainland China) may incur
foreign exchange risks and foreign exchange realignment when retranslation of the financial statements of foreign
subsidiaries into Hong Kong dollars. The Group’s operations are predominantly based in China, representing
over 96% of its total investments and revenue. The Group’s assets, borrowings and major transactions are
mainly denominated in Renminbi, and as such, it forms a natural hedging effect in a long run. With this in mind,
the Group also pursues an optimal allocation of borrowings in different currencies while setting appropriate levels
of borrowing in non-base currencies, and adoption of proper financial instruments to closely manage foreign
exchange risk.

ARAZIEEDEEEHR/ER - ARERENBEUNIMbE (BEFBEAM) FEIMNERR - UREHABEERE
BINHBARNMBHRERMEENEL AR - —BEUR > PEANEEZ TEXBEMAN - HRIRE RKEEIBIC%
AL - AEBEE  ERNRTIBRFRIMUARBREN  REWTEK-—EaANET - BREAECESEEKE
o BEEBIFEANIEET  RRARENERTANRIEERIMNERR -
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Pledge of Assets & & if 1

Certain banking facilities, lease liabilities and asset-backed securities of the Group were secured by revenue
and receivables in connection with the Group’s service concession arrangements, bank deposits, mortgages
over property, plants and equipment, right-of-use assets and the equity interests of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. As of 31 December 2022, the aggregate net book value of assets and equity interests in subsidiaries
pledged amounted to approximately HK$101,353,017,000.

AEEETRITHE  HEABREEYREFUAESERBEEFCERLTHET 2ETRE REWFRIE - SRITEXK -
YE BMEREE FAEEERARQRRETHEARNBREEAER RIE-_—_F+=-A=+—080 BHEBEE
N BB~ R 2 BR D FE LR 4 A8 1101,353,017,0007T °

Commitments F&#E
As of 31 December 2022, the Group had purchase commitments of HK$3,073,325,000 outstanding in
connection with the construction contracts.

RIEZ_—F+-A=+—H AEBAZESOM L2 RKEHAIEAEE3,073,325,0007T °

Contingent Liabilities {5 & &

As of 31 December 2022, the Company granted financial guarantees to its subsidiaries. The Board does not
consider it probable that a claim will be made against the Company under the guarantees. The maximum liability
of the Company as of 31 December 2022 for the provision of the guarantees was HK$654,551,000.

RIBZZF+-_A=+t—8 ARAER/EXMBREAMELMBER EZSRE  BRAERFAATKAER

BEAERAARRELERR - R-E-_—_F+-_A=1+—H ARFAELAMBERT2ESEEZHRBER/EE
654,551,0007T °
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INTERNAL MANAGEMENT &0 & 12

The Group adheres to the management principle of “People-oriented, Pragmatism, Creativity and Systematic
Management”, and has built a comprehensive management structure to maximise efficiency. The Group’s
management holds Management Decision Committee meeting(s) on a monthly basis to review current operations
and management, with a view to promoting the sustainable development of the Company. The responsibilities of
each functional department and business sector of the Group are clear with various comprehensive management
systems. Internal control procedures are sound and have been implemented effectively. The Company’s audit
department performs its internal monitoring functions to ensure that each functional department and business
sector strictly comply with the relevant internal control requirements.

The Group is committed to building a comprehensive risk management culture. It implements the risk
management model of “Integration of Policy, Procedure and System with Risk-oriented” to comprehensively
strengthen its risk management and control. During the year under review, the Group updated the list of risk
factors according to the progress of the implementation of risk management system, with a view to continuously
enhancing the systematisation and normalisation level of risk management.

During the year under review, the Group continued to uphold the fundamental principle of “maintaining safe and
stable operations while ensuring compliance with relevant emission standards” and strictly complied with the
relevant national laws and regulations. In terms of safety, environment and occupational health, it proactively
carried out routine inspections. Apart from incorporating “Safe Production Month” into its operation, the Group
paid close attention to safety and environmental management and carried out comprehensive hidden hazards
identification and rectification in relation to safety and environment risk to ensure all projects, whether under
construction or in operation, strictly complied with all production safety policies. These steps secured the stable
operation of environmental protection projects including waste-to-energy, integrated biomass utilisation, waste
water treatment projects, etc, while enhancing economic benefits. Besides, the Group continued to move
forward with project construction works while accelerating the finalisation of projects in the preparatory stage.
It also went through due formalities to ensure that all project construction works were carried out in compliance
with laws and regulations. At the same time, the Group continued to put more efforts into safety management of
construction projects to ensure professional and safe construction.

AEE-—BHETIAARK  KEHKE  RAOEF  ABEEEMNEEES YRV TENEERE  UEESAN
E-AKEEEESAAHERRARZESSR UHERNELNEERBRETRN  REARANARKERER - X%
EEBEAFINSEBRABEBHMARE  SEEEHNETS - AFENRER2 AT BT - Eh AR FE
ERFIEE M EPES B B AE - MR B IAERIPT - BEBIRBBRATTHBE A MZEHEI EK

AREHRIRENABREEXE  XH#T [ UEARAER  USESER  WARAMT - NERA/IMTF INEE
EERA - 2EBEEEMNEZRR - REBFEHRN  AREREAREEBRNELERS N  HRARERBEET
TER] - B ERBRARBRER RS MERILKF -

REBEFER  AEEEES [Z2REES  ERPFRMEAEARA BRATERBEZRESR  BERRZ
2 REHEBEREAEREIFE  UAR [X24EER] RNZ2HERFEER  2HHESEATRARESR - BR
FRERENMELRABBUTEERZLENE  RENFES  EVEFSFNALNTKEEEZRRRBEBRRES
MESEREERRRATRTT - AREFENREE BRHEAEEZERSEZARTENETF  BRBEBEEAE
T RETEINATRBERZERA  BRXART - K2 -
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HUMAN RESOURCES A &R

Human Resources are the key strategy of corporate development which require appropriate personnel to execute this
core strategy. The Group highly values its human resources management and puts great emphasis on staff training.
It believes that realising the full potential of its employees is crucial to its long-term growth. The Group continues to
improve its human resources through internal training as well as local, overseas, and on-campus recruitment.

During the year under review, the Group continued to adopt the prevention measures of the Pandemic and
encouraged employees to be vaccinated as early as possible. Annual physical examinations have been arranged
to protect the health and safety of employees. To cope with the development requirement of the Group, the
Group successively held safety and environmental management training, the cybersecurity training, tendering
management training, construction cost training, anti-corruption training, etc. through online and offline blended
training mode. The management and employees were well equipped with relevant knowledge and skills with a
view to address new opportunities and challenges.

The Group makes full use of the advantages of diversified business to provide employees with a broad
development platform. In addition to cross-sector and cross-regional job rotation, the Group has enriched
the backup management talent pool and international talent pool to prepare for the sustainable and steady
development of the Group.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had approximately 12,400 employees. Details of the total employee benefit
expense for the year under review are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the financial statements. Employees within the
Group are remunerated according to their qualifications, experience, job nature, performance and with reference
to market conditions. Apart from a discretionary performance bonus, the Group also provides other benefits
such as medical insurance and a mandatory provident fund scheme to employees in Hong Kong.

CEERBREEAS  BEEASTEBEZOZA - ARESEEHEANERERE  —FIEE TR - REEESER
EMENHAEEXBREEZRAEREENFE - ASBEBEREAHEE  HEHE  BINEE RERESET
HAET A A R RER o

CEFEN  AEEEERSXBNTRENRESR XBETRFEERE  RYFFERR REEIREREY
2o RREAAKERRFTE  ARESKAGR LERTHEIRA - TRER T ZREEFI - EERBL2EI - &K
BEEEY - ITREBHEI  REBES REEEREIRESRE  ORFORBEES -

AEBRDNAEHZTHNES  RETIRERIFEERFE  KTBERR BEREIGEIRN  AEEREREERE
AT ERBRAT E - SARKE A FEREERFELERS -

RIB-—F+-A=+—HB *&EEAHEMAKN124008 8T - OEFENESRMNHENF BN IMBEHRERMT
89 - BB ZHBMIIRIBER 5 - TIFME - KBURMSBRATEETE ° 7 EEIEAI - AEBIEHEA
wBHTEERER  BREERRIRESE -

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES * Z &k & e 1E

The Group continued to promote work in relation to its risk management. The principal risks faced by the Group
during the year were adequately identified and assessed according to the requirements of the Risk Management
System of China Everbright Environment Group Limited and the Risk Management Operation Manual of China
Everbright Environment Group Limited. In 2022, the principal risks of the Group included accounts receivable risk,
strategic transformation and market competition risk, environmental compliance and safety management risk, staff
turnover risk, procurement compliance risk, cost control risk, construction project management risk and policy
changing risk. The Company has formulated and implemented targeted control measures based on the respective
specific performance of each of the principal risks to ensure that the overall risk of the Company is under control.

AEEFSEREERREEMERTE  ERC(PEDERRE(SE)BERATRBREESIE) KRB ARE(KE)BER AR
Rl ERREFM) EX  BASEEGNHFEEIZRART D HBIMTG - AEE - - —F X Z2RMR S 5IZEUKEERR
R - BREEELEMSHFRR RRESRERZEERR ABRKER KBS HRER  KAAZHER  TiRERE
R A R BRR A E AR - ARARRESTEZRRABRE - SIEXFHR T AHEENEEEE - BERAAFBEEARA

o
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1. Accounts receivable risk
1. JrE U BR 7R B

Description: Affected by the change in national subsidy policies, the macroeconomic environment

it - and the Pandemic situation, the ability of governments at all levels to pay has been
impaired, increasing the likelihood of deferring settlement of national subsidies, waste
processing and waste water treatment fees, as well as the possibility of increase
in overdue accounts receivable. This could in turn affect the overall liquidity, thus
increasing the financing pressure and finance cost of the Company.
FEHBREHARTECBENEEXE SRRV BN TR TENE
KB ([ B - 53R FN5 /KGR IR B ) AT g 1 LA K i60 A e W BR K38 N AT g 138 K
EMEEERREY  BEARRARERHINE S AIEN o

Responsive measure: 1. Strictly implemented the relevant systems: The Company comprehensively

FE SIS - implemented the Management Method on Accounts Receivable and conducted
analysis on the accounts receivable regularly to closely monitor and inspect the
recovery of such receivables. The Company also conducted analysis on the changes
in remaining balance and the ageing distribution and formulated targeted recovery
objectives and plans to ensure the reasonableness of credit terms and the effective
operation of recovery mechanism. 2. Implemented the responsibilities for
recovery of receivables: The Company established the “Accounts Receivable
Management Team” to implement the responsibilities for recovery of receivables.
Adopting the measure of collecting accounts receivable by designated officers in
a designated exchange group, the Company urged project companies to enhance
communication with the governments and included the collection of receivables
into the annual appraisal of the project companies, so as to link the awards and
punishments with their performance appraisals. 3. Explore diversified collection
channels: The Company explored the use of various payment options and reduced
the amount of accounts receivables through multiple approaches, such as “settlement
of historical arrears by instalments” and “offsetting debts with the concession
rights of existing environment assets”. It also fully utilized financial instruments and
continuously expanded diversified financing methods such as asset-backed notes
and asset-backed securities to accelerate cash recovery. 4. Strengthened liquidity
management: The Company has commenced projections on cash flow in full
operation cycle, conducted regular analyses on cash flow and estimated its capital
requirements to enhance the capital utilization efficiency and hence satisfy the liquidity
requirements for daily operation and corporate development.
1 BREERT  ARFRE2HNTCEERRERIVE) - HEKRRERBERNETE
HASHT - ZENEE1E - ERWIER - R RBNRE D METHN - SIEBSTEHME
BE B RS BARRHANSENEREEINERCET 2 BEBKREE : KL
[FEUERER/NE]  BEEKET BTEABRIHRIANAN - BRIEB AR
g R EAT AR - WSEWARREWAAZIIER RARIFEZBZF - BEEREZ &5
B o3 MRS TEWRE - XRAFARRTRBN AR - AT HFBEL K]
[NFERREERALERGEIZSZBAINEREREN  AOMNASRIA @ F8
hREERRES  BERRIFZFZUERMESTN  MRRESOE -4 BIERDY
Bl ARAFAERZELARRERNENETE - THERSMNETHN  HAES
TR REETEARE  UnREEELENEEERAOME MR K -

Effectiveness of control Partially effective
measures: HrBK
EEERA R

Change in Risk Level:  The risk level of accounts receivable remained unchanged
b AR BE & W BR R R B 5 AR AR H 1N
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2. Strategic transformation and market competition risk

2.  BRREIETISHEFER
Description: With more market entities tapping into the environmental protection field and the
FEat growth of the market shrank, market competition of the environmental industry

became more intense. At the same time, amid its strategic transformation, the
Company may face the risk of new businesses may not be able to integrate with its
existing businesses effectively.
BEFEZMSFEEANRRESURTISEEES  BRITEMSHFAmA2 - [
RN A RIS AR T - Al R R SRR B 58 WEl & rE R -

Responsive measure: 1. Optimized organizational structure: Adhering to the approach of focusing

FESTE I - on principal business and resources centralization, the Company optimized its
business sectors into “3+2” sectors, i.e. three core business sectors (environmental
energy, environmental water and greentech) and two empowering business sectors
(envirotech and equipment manufacturing). 2. Enriched the business scope: The
Company continued to deeply explored the traditional businesses with a focus on
upstream and downstream industries with a view to extending the length of the
traditional industrial chain and actively developing the business development layout
of “one principal business and multiple specialized businesses with co-development
of asset-light and asset-heavy businesses”. 3. Reinforced the development
momentum: By forming the market development model of “coordination and
organization by headquarters + expansion by business sectors”, the Company
reinforced its business development momentum by means of joint business
development via synergetic co-operation and mutual co-ordination among various
business sectors. 4. Kept abreast of industry development: The Company gained
comprehensive understanding of the industry development, current market conditions
and cutting-edge technologies by strengthening the exchange with competitors and
partners, and stepped up its efforts in the research on new sectors, technologies,
policy directions and government requirements with benchmarking conducted on a
regular basis.
1 BLEBRE  BEREXTER  ERED  AARHEBTRE(LS [3+2]1R% -
B =& & X CRREEIR ~ IRRKTE - AR BIRMR) M0 /R i 88 R AR 48 (RFF 9P -
HHEE) -2 BMEXMR  HEREKEBERZSHAR  KXRARRELTHESE
EREREXERE  BEITE[—T28 REVR |WEBEERR -3 BAA
RS : TR [ @A HFARB+ EZBRAERE INTSHERRX - @BREEBRRBR
68 - HRWRER  RAARAEBHRDA -4 - RETEBE - NNRERFEY
F o AERBHEOZR  ARAIZHEETEERBN - mI5HIR - BTG EA - inogsr
REIE BRI R - BUSRRIMR - EERRRFEEIE -

Effectiveness of control Effective

measures: B

EEERA WL

Change in Risk Level:  The risk level of strategic transformation and market competition was on a downward

e FERE B - trend
B ER RIS ERERE N T B
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3. Environmental compliance and safety management risk
3. RIEGHRER T EIERER

Description:

Epus

The regulations on production safety and emission of pollutants were increasingly
stringent, thus imposing higher requirements on the refinement of operation of
the Company. With the increasing number of newly-commenced projects of the
Company, the basis numbers and difficulties involved with management kept on
rising.

BRZZEERSRAYIFMALETE HBERE  HANAELHN BB KTRIESE
oo BEEARNTIRGER B AN - EREBNEREE TE K -

Responsive measure:

SR

1. Optimized the management system: The Company complied and published
the “Compilation of Safety and Environmental Management Systems”, vigorously
developed the standardized management system of “prevention in advance,
emergency response in process and follow-up” and further strengthened the
grading assessment management on operating projects by dividing into four safety
and environmental grades, i.e. A+, A, B and C. 2. Conducted investigation
and specialized rectifications: Pushing forward the “Three-year Action Plan for
Specialized Production Safety Rectifications”, the Company carried out company-
wide production safety general inspection in two stages with specialized rectifications
conducted in five major areas including “key processes and high-risk operations”
to actively eliminate hidden hazards and alleviate safety risks. 3. Enhanced
management over relevant parties: The Company has soundly improved
the detailed criteria of assessment on the relevant parties and comprehensively
implemented the Production Safety-related restrictions in the first quarter in 2022
to strengthen the whole-process supervision of relevant parties, in particular key
relevant parties. 4. Enhanced efforts in education and training: The Company
continuously improved the overall quality of safety and environmental management
personnel and the awareness of safety and environmental issues of all staff members
through systematic training. It also carried out works in respect of certification of
safety and environmental management qualification and organized training and
examinations for the newly appointed key officers-in-charge of projects in 2022,
ensuring that such personnel are licensed for employment subject to passing the
examinations. 5. Strengthened system development: With the launch of the
safety and environmental information management system for trial run in October
2022, the Company has strengthened the analysis and early warning of safety and
environmental risks by integrating online monitoring and offline supervision. Fully
capitalizing on technological means, the Company has reinforced the management
over safety and environmental issues.
1 REEERR  ARAGNLEG(ZS E%g%ﬁﬁf;ﬁ>:ﬁﬁ%@f$w%
#H FRESNEREE |NASHMEERR  RAFRREZEBA+/AB/CTRER
ﬁi§ﬁ°2~ﬁﬁﬁ§ﬁ§ﬁ§ 'ﬁﬁfﬁiiFﬁﬁﬁﬁ_Eﬁﬁﬁ'H EER
AEENFRMERRNZ2EEA RS @ BE[E2RONSEAR W%}T£M§%
BIETEIRR R - WIHREREE - fﬁﬁnézaaflﬁu 3 RAMEBHEE : AR
e EHRMINERMA > YR _T_— *Fiﬁﬁﬂ<§%$i”A>
s b SRR %%mé%ﬁﬁﬁmiﬂﬁﬁao4 BILHBEFN - AR FBE R
Bl TERAZREBASRBIENEBETILRES  HTRREEERRE
I —ZE-_FHABFEREREIZEEAZINBINLZHASRRIFE LM -5
BARER  TREBEEASN_Z__FTAL LRHFET  BBR FEFHERZ
TEERES  RIETRARININEE  AOVNAMRFREARREEKFE -

Effectiveness of control

Partially effective

measures: HAEK

EEEBA R

Change in Risk Level:  The risk level of environmental compliance and safety management remained
e ERE B - unchanged

RESHRERZ T ERRRERRFENE
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4, Staff turnover risk

4.  ABRKER

Description:

f st

With the increasing number of projects and expanded demand for talents in the
industry, the Company faced increasing difficulties in the allocation and retaining
of manpower, among which the recruitment and retaining of talents for projects in
remote areas was particularly difficult, which may result in a negative impact on the
stability of operation.

BEEEBEZMITEATRTRIEX K“ﬁ)\%@ﬂﬁﬁ%&ﬁ?%ﬁiﬁ R IRE M
BIEE MEEEAASNE A ESREM T REETE -

Responsive measure:

JEETHE I

1. Broadened the development channels: To provide more development
opportunities for its employees, the Company has developed a vast development
platform, forging a multi-lane career development path of “management, skills and
competency”. The Company continues to boost employees’ sense of achievement
while retaining talents by offering a promising career and maintaining a harmonious
relationship. 2. Strengthened the cultivation of talents and capabilities: The
Company has built up its reserve talent pool and enriched and improved the talent
pool biannually. It has also improved the relevance of training in order to enhance the
comprehensive quality and professional skills of its general managers, supervisors
and backup management personnel in all aspects. 3. Enhanced efforts in building
professional and international human resources: The Company carried out
work in relation to assessment and recruitment of professional and technical staff
and commenced the selection of core talents to build up its international talent pool,
at the same time expanding the development paths for professional and technical
talents. 4. Expanded recruitment channels: The Company has further improved its
staff assignment through on-campus recruitment, promotion on websites, referral by
internal staff as well as open internal selection.

1 HERRRE ARARBEITEREMANERTS REEZNHEEMSE  1TH
EIE - BT B FZEEE 0 TEIERETIMNERR  UEEBA  RIFEA -
2 INEBBEMELER AR Tkj&%ﬁiﬁ*ﬁ/@“}* BHFHEBATEETAE
MEE o BABIETEMN - 2FURALKE  BEERAZEABNGEEZENSE
FREE 3 MREE( - EBIEATERERR : $ AR E RIS AT BS TIE -
FRBIB AT EEK  HEEBRNE - TEE%%&%TMZ”EJZEUE 4 - HERER
B ARRIRBRERE  BusE AFALERE  AFRAFEKREFTXMAAER
BRENE -

Effectiveness of control

measures:

i)

Bk

Partially effective

BB 2R

Change in Risk Level:
2B

£

o S 4
N\_J'

The risk level of staff turnover remained unchanged

AE/‘/IL%J—L »A_,T'ﬁ(&/f%?_f Z*i
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5. Procurement compliance risk
5. KEaHAR

Description:
i -

Given the large procurement scale of the Company, any compliance-related issues
such as bid rigging and collusive bidding, fraud and corruption may have a significant
negative impact on the Company’s compliance level and corporate reputation.
RARRBRERK - —BEHARR  BERSFEER  ALEERSSRBE/ER
RAAHKFNEEERETREANEEZE -

Responsive measure:
JE¥HE T

1. Strengthened the implementation of compliance management: On the
basis of amendments to the Procurement Management System, the Company
formulated a series of management systems and operation manuals such as the
Working Guidelines for Bid Rigging and Collusive Bidding and the Notice on Reporting
Businesses and Companies Run by Procurement Personnel and Relevant Personnel
and Their Relatives to enhance the compliance level. 2. Improved “Blacklist”
Management: The Company published the Interim Administrative Measures for
“Briber Blacklist” and constantly updated the Briber Blacklist in the tendering and
procurement platform system. Bribers are prohibited from any form of cooperation
with the Company during the punishment period. 3. Strengthened supervision and
management over processes: The Company has established a bidding supervision
team to carry out on-site supervision over key projects. It has also enhanced the
training and warning education on professional skills of procurement personnel, and
established a procurement patrol inspection system to reinforce a strong firewall
against non-compliance and non-disciplinary tendering and procurement practices.
4. Optimized electronic transaction platform: The electronic transaction platform
for tendering and procurement has passed the annual evaluation for two times in
a row, and was further improved based on the actual needs in aspects such as
compliance management, prevention and control of bid rigging and collusive bidding,
process optimisation, early warning of risks and sharing of information.

1 BIEEREE  EETRBEERSEINER - XARISIECEREZEIERES])D
(FKBABRMEBEABRERAAREBSHMEEBANBA)EFE— R EERHE MR
EFM - IRAGHKTE -2 TE[RERE|EE : ARRBEM(ITHAREE |BERY
TIE) ERRTERARTPHETHTHAREE - RIHANZILITHARKRFN
—tIEE-3  MABREEEBEE  ARFNIERNM  HEXEAEBTHSEE
MR A B BEREFINERHSE  BURBREE  £SBRIEEREL
AfE -4 BEEFREFA  HERESFRXZTREBMBRFE  UREE
REREARERE  BERFHE  REEL  BREE GEAEZFHIHFEEL -

Effectiveness of control
measures:

EEREA L

Partially effective

HMOBEXK

Change in Risk Level:
BBREHBEY

The risk level of procurement compliance remained unchanged
RS R AR S RRETE
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6. Cost control risk

6. ARSI E R
Description: As affected by fluctuations in the market, the prices of operation materials such
il as eco-friendly consumables and chemical agents have increased. Coupled with

the intensifying competition in the biomass fuel market, the operating costs of the
Company continued to rise.
XMBKBTE  REREM  CEEHNFELWEBR LA AWERHTSEHEFEAR
BEZL - BRARRIBEEKAFETR °

Responsive measure: 1. Explored potentials of operation: More efforts have been devoted to the

FEE i promotion and application of technological innovation and new technologies such
as smart power plant and high-parameter generating units to enhance the operation
efficiency and promote standardized management. The Company has also reduced
the amount of eco-friendly consumables and chemical agents consumed and
strengthened the management of fees, and encouraged the project companies to
take actions to reduce costs and enhance efficiencies. 2. Gave play to advantages
of centralized procurement: By fully leveraging the advantages of economies of
scale and flexibility from groupwide and regional procurement, the Company has
lowered its procurement costs effectively. 3. Enhanced fuel management: The
Group timely followed the trend of fuel prices and market development to optimize the
fuel utilization structure. By nurturing and developing the local biomass fuel market,
promoting the establishment of collection and storage center in villages and towns,
developing self-constructed storage points of local brokers, the Group has controlled
the fuel prices and realised resources sharing among various biomass projects with
oentralized allocation of fuels.

CRBRELED  MASEREER  S28RAEASRMEIFMAMIRMONERER &5

Lﬁ&f HEERELER  AARWRERREM B 2EBINERE - NRER
B XEVERARIEALER -2 RESEREZ  AHoEEEENRERENRESE
BNBEEEE - ARABUEEREAA -3 RARKEE - KEERFREREE
BBEMTHITE - BCREHERER  BREENREREMERKTS - #HE
BUMBRHPD  BRAMELABEFRASHAEENRHER  BESEME
HEBRHEE - MBS —HE -

Effectiveness of control Partially effective

measures: o BEK

EEERA L

Change in Risk Level:  The risk level of cost control remained unchanged

JE\ e ZF AR BB B 7 122 | [ B 55 AR AR ¥ T
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7. Construction project management risk
7. TiREIRE R

Description: The Company has navigated well through the peak season of construction projects

it - with no major/material construction accidents occurred during the period. However,
with the inherently high level of risks of the construction sector, any safety or quality
issues may have a relatively significant negative impact on the Company.
ARBIRIEFEBTRERSEH  BEAARESTE SANITRER  BFRIRE
BAEEARERS  WREFLLZEPHIEEESHNHHLRRAELRANEHTLE -

Responsive measure: 1. Promoted informatization development of projects: The Company has

FE S T comprehensively advanced the development of project information management
system and conducted analysis on the construction schedule data and hence formed
a database for construction schedules, based on which the Company may formulate
standardised construction schedule based on different types of business and project
scales. 2. Strengthened management over progress and quality: Through the
comprehensive tracking of each construction project’s progress, the Company
recorded the completion of milestones and the progress of obtaining relevant licenses
and permits on a real-time basis. Regarding the delayed projects, the Company timely
organised special meetings to analyse the problems and adopted targeted measures.
For problems and difficulties in relation to quality management encountered during the
construction process, the Company has organized special discussion and exercised
supervision and management. 3. Conducted on-site special inspections and
random inspections: The Company continued to conduct special inspections and
random inspections in respect of safety, environment and quality of the construction
projects, which fully covered various aspects, such as inspection of important working
procedures, safety and technical disclosures, review of construction plans and
supplier inspection, etc.
1 HEIRGELCER ARFX2EAKETIREREERANER  #TITHEES
- K TEIEURE - IR TRIZEBER - HERRSHIERECTH -2 MEREE
HEEERE  AQF2ERMSERBBEEE  BERATEEMEITHIERN - Wit
WEFEMBET  HEEEFRER  RNESZESE - HMEEWRIE H 1
B M TRARETPESEENREY  HEMNE  ETERTRAENREE -3 B
RASEERENERRE A RFFERREIEEBEENGS  RE  ZEE2HERE
MEKBE T BRYUEHMLUIFRE  ZE2RMRIE BISTERES - HEX
EREAFNEEE °

Effectiveness of control Effective
measures: a1
EEEEANIE

Change in Risk Level:  The risk level of construction project management was on a downward trend
S REIBE ITREEERERER NEBE
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8. Policy changing risk

8. R 2R B R
Description: The new policies for national subsidies further clarified the principle of “determining
ot expenses based on revenue, ensuring no new debts from new projects, clarifying

responsibilities of the central and local governments and adopting competitive
bidding for grid connection”. However, there are still some uncertainties as to the
implementation and execution of these policy. Meanwhile, with the implementation
of the relevant policies under the “Peaking Carbon Emissions and Achieving Carbon
Neutrality” strategy, the environmental industry will embrace new opportunities and
challenges.

BT [AMES ~ FETHR - R - BB -EIRAM T E—TRAE - 8
E&ﬂ%/ HERITINE —ENTHEE M - RGREE [#EE - PN BEBEERENE

- RIRIRIT T AT BB AN PR B -

Responsive measure: 1. Prepared proper policy response: The Company actively analyzed and studied

¥ the impact of the new policies for national subsidies so as to respond to investors’
concerns and stabilize the expectations of the asset market. It also rationalized
the price adjustment terms of the concession agreements of various projects to
timely initiate price adjustment of the waste treatment service fees. The Company
also vigorously promoted the use of high-parameter generating units as well as
technologies such as intermediate reheating and reuse of residual heat, at the same
time exploring channels for heat supply/gas supply so as to enhance the energy
utilisation efficiency and deeply explore the potential of projects under the layout
of “one principal business and multiple specialized businesses”, with an aim to
compensate for the effect of changes in the national subsidy policies. 2. Responded
to the strategy of “Peaking Carbon Emissions and Achieving Carbon
Neutrality”: Closely adhering to the “14th Five-Year” plan and the “Dual Carbons”
goals and based on the principle of “Pollution and Carbon Emission Reduction”, the
Company formulated action plans that are in line with its own characteristics and
positioning to actively explore the direction of its business transformation, such as
attempting to expand into photovoltaic power, energy storage and micro-grid projects
in search of new development opportunities. The Company also commenced the
pilot work for development of carbon assets and construction of low-carbon sewage
treatment plant, and started the research and development of technologies in relation
to “carbon capture”.

C MFBREH T - ARREESTHHESETBRNTE  HEREERY) - BE
éFm STa A - FIBRIE BRI EMRBE RN - &Evﬁu@ﬁiﬁi&ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%éﬁmﬁl
B ARRANKERASL2HHKA - FRBNARBBBIARN - FRER H
AERTE  ReRMBREX  RZEB [—FZH BN REEMEBREE EUE/‘E“ °
-BEEFE&EW% B A e EREL [ TR RS T8 BE - A DRUTRE

MRIRRE] > ARBHEREESFRNEMLNTEE  BRRREBEE FM - W0
ERERERAR - Rt MEPFEA  KSANERKSE - RIREEFEABNE
W05 /KB IR MGERR TAF - WHIR [ xS BB it 2 -

Effectiveness of control Effective

measures: B

EEERA W

Change in Risk Level:  The risk level of policy changing was on a downward trend

S a- e SR U R B B Y T PR R

62 China Everbright Environment Group Limited | B KIZSE (M) ER AT



ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL MANAGEMENT Ri5 Bt @& 18

The Group pays close attention to its operational impacts brought to the environment and society. After years
of development, the Group has established a comprehensive safety and environmental management system.
In 2022, the Group further revised and improved 25 relevant management policies, covering structure and
responsibilities, accident management, flood control, risk classification, hidden danger investigation, safety
and environment training, information reporting, rating of the safety and environmental management levels
of the operating projects and construction projects, fire safety management, related parties’ management,
occupational health, public opening, etc.

The Group implements all staff safety production responsibility system and clarifies the safety production
and environmental management responsibilities and assessment standards. The person in charge of the
various levels of units of the project companies is the key person responsible for the safety and environmental
management of the respective units and is fully responsible for the safety production and environmental
management of the respective units. The Group and the business sectors have formulated the annual safety and
environmental management target responsibility statement every year, clarifying the annual target, key tasks and
assessment methods.

In addition, The Group has signed the “Safety Production, Occupational Health, and Environmental Protection
Responsibility Letter” with various construction and operation service providers to clarify relevant standards in
order to provide greater protection to the safety and health of the employees as well as the external personnel.

The Board and senior management review sustainability strategies of the Group on a regular basis, and revise
the strategies when appropriate.

The Group’s waste-to-energy projects are designed and operated fully in compliance with the applicable
national environmental requirements and standards including but not limited to the Standard for Pollution
Control on the Municipal Solid Waste Incineration (GB18485-2014), the relevant local standards, as well as other
requirements as set forth in the environmental impact assessment reports approved by the local government,
while the daily average values of online flue gas continuously monitored parameters are well below the respective
emissions limits as stipulated under the Industrial Emissions Directive (2010/75/EU) and its relevant annexes
and amendments. Moreover, all of the Group’s biomass combustion operations meet the Emission Standard
of Air Pollutants for Thermal Power Plants (GB13223- 2011), the relevant local standards, as well as other
requirements as set forth in the environmental impact assessment reports approved by the local government.

ASRESEERAFECHRORRELGYE - UBSFNRR  AFEERY —EXSLERRGERER -
To_F AREE—SERIRE - TREABREENE RERBRENEME - FWEE  BHAKA Hﬁﬁﬁj\i&
BERYE - zzf&%léiﬁ}l\ Bl  B2BRANIREBELXREESHAN HHER  HESTERE  BXRER-
NEFRRE -

$'§l EMEZELEEERMS  PARLZ2AENREEREENZZRE -BARAZRELTIEGEARENE
BUZPHRRFEEE-EFTA  HHEABEUNRZZAENREERETIEE2HEAE - AEEEEBRASFRIF
Ex2RRFEBARELE  ABRFEAR BEHITIERERIVE -

SO AEBERETRELELRBERE R24EE  BERE RAEREECE  HRABRE  2HREAKE
BIRITAENRZZREE -

EEENMEAEEABER A AKENAHEERECR - WHEREFTZBR

AEBENFKBEEEE R Jrfu;_%%%ﬁéﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁE’JI%E%%WJ%M? C B \1%<<$§Eiﬁt&” %5 AT HIIE A
(GB18485-2014)  {HEAH FIREREZHHRTELNRBEZEFERETHEME R - ERELFE) EIHETTEIWE;EE
EENE BT ¥ MES >>(2o10/75/EU)&ﬁ$HF4%Mﬁ€/ FTFRAIIEREBE R E © toh - REBAYE RERNEL R
E(NBEBRARSEYHRUIEAE)(GB13223-2011) ~ HEM A RENEZHBTEHNIRBEZETERETNEME
;Jzo
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The Group continued proactively and timely disclosing emissions data and environmental management
information of its projects on Everbright Environment’s corporate website, including the connection to the
automatic monitoring data information disclosure platform of the MEE at https://ljgk.envsc.cn/index.html
in respect of the daily average values of the 5 indicators of flue gas and furnace temperature data from the
operation of waste-to-energy projects of Everbright Environment. The Group was also devoted to improving
the information sharing platforms to facilitate the management to monitor the operational condition to ensure
compliant operation, and to timely report the operating performance of the projects to the stakeholders of the
Group.

More details about the environmental and social management performance of the Group are set out in the
Sustainability Report 2022 of the Company which is prepared in accordance with the Global Reporting Initiative
Standards, as well as the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide published by the Stock
Exchange. Furthermore, the Group’s environmental and social management strategies echo with the Sustainable
Development Goals of the United Nations, reflecting the Group’s commitment to tackling global challenges
and creating a sustainable future. The full report is available for download at the websites of the Company
under “CSR > Sustainability Report” section (www.cebenvironment.com/en/csr/susreport.php) and Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited (www.hkexnews.hkK).

AEFBEBITINARBRENLAAMALEEENERBEBENREEERERERARBERENRE  BEXKER
B AEEN REEHEERSEREAYENEE ASBBECEEEREAERELEHEAEFEEARATS
https://ljgk.envsc.cn/index.html - AEBEEBBEBTEEERZFaER  EEREEAEBEREREMAEEMNEZR
o BRAEBEZEYS  RERRMAAERBHEREBEANELRIR -

AEEMRREMEEEFARBNFBENARAN_E-_FAFELERRE - ZWMENKBE2IKREEZAH
HRIREZFAEMICRE @ REAMSHESDES o ILtHh - AEBNRERMSEEABSHABERREEL
M RE - RASEEE 2B MG E I HEEERRARL o TERBEAINAQREUEN [T BEE>HER
B3R 13045 (www.cebenvironment.com/tc/csr/susreport.php) R BB R 5 M & E P AR A 7 A8 1h (www. hkexnews.hk)
T# -
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THE IMPACT OF THE PANDEMIC B85 77 i 4 i 1 5 2
Under the normalization trend of the Pandemic, the Group has given full consideration to all the pandemic-
related risks as well as prevention and control measures in its daily operation. With the joint efforts of the
management and all employees, the Group made efforts to effectively contain the pandemic and perform various
production and operation tasks in an orderly manner. The Group also made a donation of HK$1.95 million in
the name of China Everbright Group’s companies based in Hong Kong and actively set up volunteer teams
to support frontline workers in fighting against the pandemic in Hong Kong. In response to the resurgence of
the Pandemic in various provinces and cities in China during 2022, the Group reiterated its requirements for
all business units to make arrangements for internal staff and personnel of contractors to properly implement
pandemic prevention and responsive measures based on the requirements of local governments and actual
work conditions. Such measures included minimising the flow of personnel, reserving sufficient materials for
production, daily lives and pandemic prevention, paying attention to employees’ health conditions, providing
sufficient protection for the employees and, based on the changes in pandemic control policies of various
regions, timely adjusting the pandemic containment policies of projects to ensure safe and stable production of
projects as well as compliance with relevant emission standards.

EHTBHARBEERLCBET  AEEERFELTHCASZREERERE LEERE  EEREEERE TN
BAT  AFHFREHEMEELERATE  WAFEXASESEELCERRRBHEK 1958 BHRABET
B XFEE-GNR B _ZF-__FRAZEETHEMALRBRE  AREZAERZREEMREHWBRF
EXRETHEERBR  EBAMETRINEEMABMFEERBHBELES  BROABRY - MEFTRENE
E--AENMGEYE BIETIREBN  REIRHEARE  URESMWRBEHERRECRERAEEBNOHR
BE HRBEELERELE  ERHW-

FINAL DIVIDEND ZREifZ B

The Board has proposed to pay a final dividend of HK9.0 cents per share (2021: HK15.0 cents per share) for the
year ended 31 December 2022, payable to the Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
of the Company (the “Register of Members”) on Monday, 5 June 2023. Subject to approval by the Shareholders
of the payment of final dividend at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held on
Wednesday, 24 May 2023 (the “2023 AGM”), the final dividend will be paid to the Shareholders on or around
Monday, 26 June 2023.

EEgERRBBE T _—F+_A=T - HALFEZREREER.0BM(ZF=_—F : #&15.081l) - TR
“EC=FARNARR(EH ) RNNEARBRRAMERRAM D 2BRR - FRRENER T -_=FA A - +WMA
(EHZ)BT2ARARERRBFAS ([ ZE-_=ZFRRBFRS ) LH/ERNREBRE - REREEN _-_FT—_=
FRAZTAB(EH—)RATRIRE TR -

Annual Report 2022 | —Z = — 443§

65



66

Management Discussion and Analysis &% @5t mE 9 47

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS = #{32i%nim P &l T8
For the purpose of determining the Shareholders’ eligibility to attend and vote at the 2023 AGM and entitlement
to the final dividend, the Register of Members will be closed in accordance with the following timetable:

REERREE_FZ_—FRRBFAGLINEG LRENEEICRBMREMNER - ARFAHRENTERERTIEHER
MBFPERTFE :

() For determining the Shareholders’ eligibility to attend and vote at the 2023 AGM:
BERREF-_Z_=FRRBFRAGIRNEG LRENER

(@) Latest time to lodge transfer documents for registration 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 18 May 2023
BERXFDBE X HEAMNIBELFENRERR —E_=FRATN\B(EHM)

THFAR=125

(b) Closure of Register of Members Friday, 19 May 2023 to
Wednesday, 24 May 2023
R RELTFE ZEZ=FRATNB(EHR)E

—CE-=FERA-_FTHB(EH=)
(both dates inclusive €% & /E i X)

(i) For determining entitlement to the final dividend:
FE TE WOER R HARR B O R A -

(@) Latest time to lodge transfer documents for registration 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 31 May 2023
B BE X AR E R FENRERR —E_=FRA=+T—HB(EH=)
TFREE=15

(b) Closure of Register of Members Thursday, 1 June 2023 to
Monday, 5 June 2023

BEERRELFE —E_=FRA-RB(EHME

ZEZ=FXARBE(EH)
(both dates inclusive 217 & JE /i -X)

(c) Record date Monday, 5 June 2023
ERESg =R: —E-=FXAREB(EH)

During the above closure periods, no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and
vote at the 2023 AGM, and to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all transfer forms accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar and transfer office, Tricor Tengis
Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than the
relevant latest time set out above.

REREEREREETSETROBEFELTE - RERTAERLE T =FRREAFAGTING LRRT =

BLZHE I RERE  MEBFPRBERBARELAN LN BEKEBFRNEXARARZBENELIBFRS
EEREEERAR iﬂﬁjﬂ%%ﬁ%% BH/SRERSEBPOTEE -
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 1% &4

China Everbright Environment Group Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, collectively the
“Group”) upholds the management principle of “People-oriented, Pragmatism, Creativity and Systematic
Management”. The board of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company (the “Board”) firmly believes that high-
quality, comprehensive and high-level corporate governance is the cornerstone of the Group, which can create
long-term value for the Group and is vital to the sustainable development of the Group. It can also safeguard
the interests of shareholders (the “Shareholders”) and other stakeholders of the Company, including but not
limited to customers, suppliers, employees and the general public. The Board and the management strive to
maintain high-level corporate governance standards, and continue to strengthen corporate governance, internal
control and risk management systems through a series of rules, regulations and policies, and actively improve
transparency and accountability. The Company strictly complies with the laws and regulations of the places
where it operates, and complies with the applicable guidelines and rules issued by the regulatory authorities.

The Board’s decisions relating to the Group’s operating targets, values and strategies are consistent with the
Company’s corporate culture which emphasises integrity. The Group adheres to the management concepts that
emphasise integrity and pragmatism throughout its business operations, dedicates to building and promoting
its integrity-oriented corporate culture. As a result, the Group has developed and improved various policies,
such as the Employee Code of Conduct, the Anti-corruption, Anti-bribery and Anti-money Laundering Policy,
the Internal Whistleblowing and Investigation Policy and External Whistleblowing and Investigation Policy.
Additionally, it provides clear guidance and instructions to its staff in various aspects. Such aspects include
equal opportunities, behaviors relating to anti-discrimination, anti-corruption, prevention of bribery, prevention
of extortion, anti-fraud, anti-money laundering, prevention of anti-competitive practices, avoiding conflicts of
interest, use of confidential and proprietary information, environment, health and safety, whistleblowing, and
employee remunerations, welfare and security. The Group also continues to provide corporate culture training
to strengthen the staff’'s awareness of rules and ethics, trying to create a healthy, orderly and positive corporate
culture environment. The Directors and the Group’s staff receive anti-corruption training every year. The Group
has been constantly promoting an integrity-oriented culture and enhancing the concepts of “Acting Legally,
Ethically and Responsibly”.

FEXARR(EE)ERAR(TARA]  EREMBRR - 5 [ AEEDETAARK - KEKE - FHAIF -
RBEEEINEEES - ARAER(EFDNE([EFE)REEE  2RESKFEXREAZASENESR - BER
AEEFEREEE YAKEZURBEEREWNEE  THREZEARFARR(TEERD REMIFNE  BREESR
REP - HER EEX-RAFRNNGE -BEFELEEEBNERSKINERELRRE  WEB—RIINREH
ERFERCERER NEERNEAREERS  BRESERENHEEMNE - AABERETEEHNERLELR
{5 - B sTERE B H M A E MRS KRA -

EXEFEZAREREZEN BEARBEARBUBRE/ANEEE— - AEEESEHEFETRRERE
EWFEESENEEREES  BTERRT  BORLELHEERE/ANEEXE - Sl AEEHELTEC(E LT
) (REF - REBERAEBRER) (ABRBLRBAEIE) ROMBEREFEIE)FHR - ETFEFERE - RIX
BRER - LB LR RERFEF REE  BHLERBEFTA B2 EER  BENEFEERNER R
BoRBERZE  BH URBIFBNEMNRESZIEAE TREHBWNIESIEFE  TEBKENEE XL
Fl - IERB THRABHEERAS  EMEERFAFNRECEL - EZREESFHRIREITHEI - K
SEBEERBEXXL  XTEMR [TEEFEF BREKEEINES -
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (continued) 1t ¥ &8 (&)

The Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) have been duly adopted by the
Board as the code on corporate governance practices of the Company.

The Company complied with all Code Provisions as set out in the CG Code throughout the year ended 31
December 2022. The Company will continue to commit to enhancing its corporate governance appropriate to
the conduct and growth of its business, and to continuously reviewing, monitoring and assessing from time to
time its corporate governance practices to ensure the same comply with the CG Code and align with the latest
developments.

EZeCRWN(BERBERZMARARBERZ LMARINDKETRAD DS+ HAHEHN(ERERTINIKERER
STRDIDERARRINEEEAEMTA -

RBE-_T-_F+-_A=1t—RBLFEAR  A2A-BET(EEERTR)AEME TG - KRG @R
HAEEQURAEEBEERER  BERERN ERLFHECEEAER  BRET(EEERTE) MG &
MBERTE

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS £ ¢

Composition and function AKX R B =

The Board currently comprises 5 Executive Directors and 4 Independent Non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”).
The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this annual report are set out on page 125 of the
annual report and are set out as follows:

EEeRHARRTESREEBBE VIR TESEN - RAVBREEARBEAFEREZANESEHINFRA
1258 - WHIWOT :

Name of Directors Title EEHF Bz
Executive Directors HiTEE

Chairman of the Board =EBAENT EESEXF
Chief Executive Officer (the “CEQ”) &A% 54 B

Mr. Huang Haiging N

Mr. Luan Zusheng

Mr. Hu Yanguo Vice President BRRERR 5t A Bl 4 E

Mr. Qian Xiaodong Vice President REER ST A RS

Mr. An Xuesong Vice President and Chief Financial Z S5t 4 BliaE R B EE
Officer (the “CFO”)

Independent Non-executive Directors HIHNTEF

Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip B AE

Mr. Zhai Haitao BRRrtE

Mr. Suo Xuquan RERELE

Ms. Li Shuk Yin, Edwina Note 2 INEB A A2

Former Directors BITEF

Mr. Wang Tianyi Note 3 Executive Director and TRELANS FITEEHR
Chairman of the Board EEQIF

Mr. Mar Selwyn Nete 4

Independent non-executive
Director

FHRELELENS BYIFRTES
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) EE& (&)

Composition and function (continued) A R BE (&)

Notes FiE :

1. Mr. Huang Haiging was appointed as an Executive Director and the Chairman of the Board with effect from 18 June 2022;
HEFEEREZEERNTEERESZS R BT __F A T/\BRBAER

2. Ms. Li Shuk Yin, Edwina was appointed as an INED with effect from 18 May 2022;
FTRELLREZERBUFNTES BT __FRATN\HREXN:

3. Mr. Wang Tianyi ceased to be an Executive Director and the Chairman of the Board with effect from 18 June 2022; and
EFRBEETBETNTESRESTSER BT FRATNBREN : &

4. Mr. Mar Selwyn ceased to be an INED with effect from 18 May 2022.
BHELAETBEIBYINTES B _FRHA /ALK -

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship) between
Board members and in particular, between the Chairman of the Board and the CEO.

The Board believes that the balance between Executive Directors and INEDs is reasonable and adequate to
provide sufficient balances that protect the interests of the Shareholders and the Group.

The Directors have disclosed to the Company biannually the number and the nature of offices held in public
companies or organisations and other significant commitments and they have confirmed to the Company that
they have given sufficient time and effort to the Group’s affairs.

Despite the fact that some of the Directors hold several board seats and other significant commitments, after
taking into account that the Directors (i) had high attendance rate in all Board and Board committee meetings
and actively gave constructive suggestions and advice at those meetings; (i) had high attendance rate in general
meeting of the Company and actively responded to Shareholders’ questions and communicated with the
Shareholders; (iii) asked questions and made suggestions by email and telephone when the Board and Board
committees approved the resolutions in writing; and (iv) perused monthly management updates of the Company
and other information in relation to the performance of the Company, the Board believes that Directors devoted
sufficient time and effort to perform their duties.
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Composition and function (continued) A R BE (&)

The number of INEDs represents not less than one-third of the Board as required under the Listing Rules, one
of whom possesses appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise. INEDs provide the Group with diversified experience and professionalism. Their advice and
views as well as participation in the Board and Board committee meetings bring independent views, advice
and judgements on issues relating to the strategy and development of the Group, business operation and
performance, risk control, internal controls and conflict of interests, etc., to ensure the Shareholders’ interests
are taken into consideration. All the then incumbent INEDs attended 2022 annual general meeting of the
Company to respond to questions and enquiries in relation to their work.

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association (the “Articles of Association”), subject to the manner of
retirement by rotation of Directors as from time to time prescribed under the Listing Rules, and notwithstanding
any contractual or other terms on which any Director may be appointed or engaged, at each annual general
meeting of the Company one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of 3,
the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director
(including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement at least once every 3 years.

The Board convenes meetings regularly throughout the year. Under the leadership of the Chairman of the
Board, the Board is responsible for approving and supervising the overall strategies and policies of the Group,
approving the annual budget and business plans, assessing the Group’s performance and supervising the
work of the management of the Company (the “Management”). The Company ensures Directors can participate
in Board proceedings in a meaningful and effective manner. In respect of the regular meetings of the Board/
Board committees, formal notices have been sent to all Directors/respective Board committee members at least
14 days before the respective meetings. Non-regular/ad-hoc meetings may also be taken place as and when
necessary, of reasonable notice. In general, agenda and meeting papers have been dispatched to all Directors/
respective Board committee members for review at least 3 days before the meeting. Agenda has been prepared
after consultation with the Directors/respective Board committee members and the Management before being
approved by the Chairman of the Board/the chairman of the respective Board committees.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) EE& (&)

Composition and function (continued) R KRB E (&)

Minutes of the Board/Board committees are recorded in sufficient details which include matters discussed and
considered together with decisions reached, and any concerns raised or dissenting views expressed by the all
Directors/respective Board committee members, if any. Original signed minutes, upon reviewed by all Directors/
respective Board committee members, are properly kept by the Company Secretary/duly appointed secretaries
of the respective Board committees and such minutes are open for inspection by all Directors/respective Board
committee members. The Company has arranged liability insurance for the Directors and senior management of
the Company, and the insurance coverage and the sum insured under the policy are reviewed annually.

As an integral part of good corporate governance, the Board has established 5 Board committees, namely the
Audit Committee (the “Audit Committee”), Risk Management Committee (the “Risk Management Committee”),
Nomination Committee (the “Nomination Committee”), Remuneration Committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) and Disclosure Committee (the “Disclosure Committee”), with specific written terms of reference
which deal clearly with their respective authorities and duties:
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1. Audit Committee L5 =

The Audit Committee currently comprises 3 INEDs, namely Ms. Li Shuk Yin, Edwina (chairman), Mr. Fan
Yan Hok, Philip and Mr. Zhai Haitao. Its primary responsibilities include but not limited to review the Group’s
financial reporting process, risk management and internal control systems, internal and external audit and
other financial and accounting matters of the Group, and to oversee the relationship between the Company
and Ernst & Young (“EY”), the external auditor of the Company, etc. The terms of reference of the Audit
Committee have been established in writing and are available on the websites of the Company and Hong
Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (“HKEX”). During 2022 and 2023 (up to the date of this annual report),
the Audit Committee reviewed with the Management and EY, including but not limited to the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group, significant audit matters such as significant accounting
estimates and judgmental areas, and reviewed the Group’s risk management and internal control systems,
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit function and financial reporting matters, etc., including
review of the annual results for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2022, the interim results for the six
months ended 30 June 2022 and reports from Internal Audit Department (now known as Audit Department)
and Risk Management Department (now known as Risk Management and Legal Compliance Department) of
the Company; and also reviewed the connected transactions including continuing connected transactions
conducted in 2021 and 2022. The Audit Committee held a private meeting with EY without the presence of
any Executive Directors and the management during the year under review.
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Composition and function (continued) A R B= (&)

2.

Risk Management Committee Elfz E#Z 5=

The Risk Management Committee currently comprises 3 INEDs, namely Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip (chairman),
Mr. Suo Xuguan and Ms. Li Shuk Yin, Edwina, Mr. Luan Zusheng, the Executive Director and the CEO, Mr.
An Xuesong, the Executive Director, the Vice President and the CFO, and Ms. Li Chunju, the Vice President.
Its primary responsibilities include but not limited to provide oversight of the Company’s risk management
programs, and to review the effectiveness of the management’s processes for identifying, assessing,
mitigating and monitoring enterprise-wide risks. The terms of reference of the Risk Management Committee
have been established in writing.

During 2022 and 2023 (up to the date of this annual report), the Group carried out risk assessment
and analysis to identify the annual changes in risks and the internal control assessment to ensure the
effectiveness of the internal control management. The Risk Management Committee reviewed the Group’s
risk management work summary in 2021 and 2022 and work plan for 2022 and 2023, the risk appetite
in 2022 and 2023, the effectiveness analysis of major risk control measures in 2021 and 2022 and risk
assessments in 2022 and 2023, the major works of risk management in the first half of 2022 and work plan
for the second half of 2022, the recheck of major risks in 2022, the implementation of risk appetite in 2021
and 2022, risk management status of environmental, social and governance and information security risk
supervision and rating description.
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Composition and function (continued) A R B=E (&)

3.

Nomination Committee 185 % 8

The Nomination Committee currently comprises Mr. Huang Haiging, the Executive Director and the Chairman
of the Board (chairman), and all the 4 INEDs, namely Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip, Mr. Zhai Haitao, Mr. Suo
Xuquan and Ms. Li Shuk Yin, Edwina. Its primary responsibilities include but not limited to review annually
the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and the
time devoted by the Directors, to review the Board diversity and the implementation and effectiveness of the
Board Diversity Policy, and report/recommend to the Board, to assess the independence of the INEDs, to
make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment or re-designation of Directors
by taking into account the Board Diversity Policy and the Nomination Policy, to make recommendations to
the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of the senior management, and to assess the qualifications
and competencies of the candidates, so as to ensure that all nominations are fair and transparent. The terms
of reference of the Nomination Committee have been established in writing and are available on the websites
of the Company and HKEXx.

During 2022 and 2023 (up to the date of this annual report), the Nomination Committee reviewed the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and the time
devoted by the Directors, assessed the independence of the INEDs, reviewed the appointments of the
members of the Board and the Board committees, discussed the re-election of the retiring Directors at
the 2023 annual general meeting, discussed the re-election of the retiring Directors and the election of a
new Director at the 2022 annual general meeting, etc, reviewed and proposed amendments to the Terms
of Reference of the Nomination Committee and Board Diversity Policy, reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy, and made recommendations to the Board on the above matters.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) €& (4)
Composition and function (continued) A R B= (&)

4.

Remuneration Committee #Z 8 &

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises Mr. Zhai Haitao, the INED (chairman), Mr. Huang Haiging,
the Executive Director and the Chairman of the Board, and 3 other INEDs, namely Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip,
Mr. Suo Xuquan and Ms. Li Shuk Yin, Edwina. Its primary responsibilities include but not limited to determine,
with delegated responsibilities by the Board, the remuneration packages of the individual Executive Directors
and senior management of the Company. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee have been
established in writing and are available on the websites of the Company and HKEXx.

During 2022 and 2023 (up to the date of this annual report), the Remuneration Committee assessed
performance of the Executive Directors, reviewed the 2022 bonus proposal, 2021 and 2022 bonus payment
and the remuneration package of the individual Executive Directors and the senior management of the
Company, discussed the remuneration package of the new Chairman of the Board and the new INED, and
considered and recommended the amendments to the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
for approval by the Board and other matters etc.

The remuneration of all the Directors is set out in note 9 to the financial statements.

FHNEZEERRHBYFATESEERLE(ER) HTESRESFCIREFBRENRIBIN =B LI
TERECHBELE  RERLTERTRERIEX  -HTEBREER(ETRN) EREZSERE X TEE @R
HITEZERARASREEABNTHNGE FHZEEREEENRERE LD NARE MBI QM o

R-BZ—FR-_ZF_FREEAFERSAH)  FHZESTEATEENRREBRZEANRTEERA
RAEMEBABN S __FERANRIR  —T—FROITFZ_FELABRRARLRTFINES - 5w
TEZSIREMBUIFNTEEZHFMTE  ULZEEREBESTSREABI(FHEZEeRERE)SEH -

BEFF TN B RRM TR -

Disclosure Committee #HFEZ S &

The Disclosure Committee currently comprises Mr. Luan Zusheng, the Executive Director and the CEO
(chairman), Mr. Hu Yanguo, the Executive Director and the Vice President, Mr. Qian Xiaodong, the Executive
Director and the Vice President, and Mr. An Xuesong, the Executive Director, the Vice President and the
CFO, as well as Ms. Poon Yuen Ling, the Company Secretary. The Board has delegated the day-to-day
execution of its continuous disclosure obligations to the Disclosure Committee to ensure the compliance of
the Company with its disclosure obligations. The terms of reference of the Disclosure Committee have been
established in writing.

During 2023 (up to the date of this annual report), the Disclosure Committee discussed and recommended
the publication of profit warning announcement to the Board.
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Other than the 5 Board committees above, the Company has established the Management Decision Committee
which is responsible for the day-to-day administration, operation and management of the business and affairs
of the Group. Its primary responsibilities include but not limited to review the Group’s major decisions, major
project arrangements, as well as the arrangements of large capital amount, and to review and formulate the
Group’s development strategies and goals, long term business development plans, directions, policies and
guidelines, etc. The Management Decision Committee also takes charge of reviewing the investment projects
of the Group, after being recommended by the Project Advisory Committee. For project risk management
and project technological risk management, the Group has set up the Project Advisory Committee to monitor
and assess risks regularly, boost related management standards and evaluate investment projects as well as
assess the technologies used in different investment projects. For project financial control, the Group insists on
stringent budget management, and has set up a Construction Budget Management Department that focuses on
monitoring construction budgets of the projects. In addition, the Group has also set up Audit Department, and
Risk Management and Legal Compliance Department to perform internal audits, risk management and control,
and legal compliance functions respectively to bolster the Group’s management standards.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) €5 & (#&)
Responsibilities of the Board and Management E=€HZEENRHRE
There is a clear division of responsibilities between the Board and the Management.

The Board is responsible for directing and approving the overall strategies of the Group. It is the decision-making
body of the Company except for matters requiring the Shareholders’ approval in accordance with the Articles
of Association, the Listing Rules and other applicable laws and regulations. The Board is also responsible for,
including but not limited to, reviewing the Group’s performance against its targets and objectives, in particular
its performances on finance and business; leading and supervising the Management to act in the interest of
the Shareholders and the Company as a whole; taking responsibility on performing the corporate governance
duties; overseeing matters in relation to the Group’s investment, risk management, internal control, corporate
governance and corporate social responsibility, and supervising the Management to implement such policies.
Audit Committee, Risk Management Committee, Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Disclosure Committee established under the Board have their specific terms of reference in writing, clearly
explaining their roles and the authorities delegated to them by the Board.

The Board has delegated day-to-day administration, operation and management of the business and affairs
of the Group to the Management. The Management is also responsible for, including but not limited to, within
the scope of authorisation as given by the Board, reviewing projects, mergers and acquisitions or assets
restructuring in all business sectors of the Group; reviewing and formulating the Group’s development strategies
and goals, long-term business development plans, directions, policies and guidelines; and reviewing the
important matters, business situations and latest progress of each business sector of the Group in accordance
with the policies and procedures as adopted by the Group from time to time.

The Company has formulated the Terms of Reference of the Board of Directors, the Terms of Reference of the
Management Decision Committee and the Authorisation Summary, which specify the authority and responsibility
of the Board and the Management and the authorisation given by the Board to the Management. The Board
regularly reviews those terms of references, and will update and amend the terms of reference in a timely manner
when appropriate.
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Mechanisms ensuring Independent Views and Inputs available to the Board
BRESSUTESBIYINBHERERNES

To ensure that the Board can obtain independent views and inputs, the Company has established the following
mechanisms:

1. the Board revised the Terms of Reference of the Board of Directors with regard to (i) the establishment of the
“Mechanisms ensuring Independent Views and Inputs available to the Board” and (ii) the annual review of the
implementation and effectiveness of such mechanisms;

2. the Company appointed at least three INEDs, and at least one-third of the Board members must be
INEDs. INEDs also serve as chairman/members of other Board committees. INEDs have the ability,
integrity, independence, experience and expertise. Sufficient number and ability of INEDs formed a strong
independent element in the Board;

3. the Board and the Nomination Committee evaluate the independence of all INEDs every year and when
appointing new INEDs according to the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
When re-electing the INED who has served more than nine years, a separate resolution will be proposed and
approved by Shareholders. The circular will state why the Board and the Nomination Committee believe that
the INED is still independent and should be re-elected, including the factors considered, the process and the
discussion of the Board and the Nomination Committee in arriving at such determination.

4. the Directors (including INEDs) have access to Board papers and related materials (including but not limited
to independent professional opinions from independent auditors, independent financial advisers, external
lawyers, etc), and are provided with adequate information in a timely manner. They may also seek assistance
from the Company Secretary of the Company for further information and documents. Queries raised by
Directors should receive a prompt and full response, allowing them to make independent opinions based on
sufficient information;
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) & & (#)

Mechanisms ensuring independent views and inputs available to the Board (continued) BBREEE

AESBYNBERERNBES(Z

5. The Directors (including INEDs) may, if necessary, seek external legal or other independent professional
advice at the expense of the Company;

6. Where Directors (including INEDs) have a material conflict of interest in a matter being discussed in the Board
meetings, they will abstain from voting on the matter. INEDs with no conflict of interest should be present at
the Board meetings and take the lead where potential conflicts of interest arise;

7. If a substantial shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the Board
which the Board has determined to be material, the matter should be dealt with by a physical Board meeting
rather than a written resolution. INEDs who, and whose close associates, have no material interest in the
transaction should be present at that Board meeting; and

8. In addition to Board meetings, the Chairman of the Board meets with INEDs at least once a year without the
presence of other Directors. INEDs are free to provide their independent opinions to the Chairman of the
Board.

The Board has reviewed the mechanisms ensuring independents views and inputs during the year under review
and considered it is effective.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) EE& (&)
Corporate governance functions ¥ 8BS
The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties as set out below:

1. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management;

3. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees
and Directors; and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
The Board performed the above duties during the year under review.
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Corporate governance functions (continued) ¥ &ERBE (&)

Nomination Policy (€5 K& )

The Board adopted Nomination Policy related to the nomination of Directors, which sets out the criteria and
procedures when identifying suitably qualified candidates to be appointed, re-appointed or re-designated as
Directors. The following factors would be considered by the Nomination Committee in assessing the candidates
(the “Nomination Criteria”):

(@) accomplishment and professional experience that, in the opinion of the Nomination Committee, the
candidate could benefit the development of the Company;

(b) commitment in respect of available time to the Board. In this regard, the number and nature of offices held
by the candidate in public companies or organisations, and other executive appointments or significant

commitments will be considered;

(c) diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender, ethnicity, skills, knowledge, experience, age
(18 years or above), cultural and educational background;

(d) potential/actual conflict of interests that may arise if the candidate is selected,;
(e) independence of the candidate (where applicable); and
(f) in the case of a proposed re-appointment of an INED, the number of years the individual has already served.

These factors are not meant to be exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the discretion to
consider other factors as it considers appropriate and helpful to achieve the objective of the Nomination Policy.

EEERMNAMESRAN(REBER)  HIHTEE  EFZELAFATEERBREAREETHES BNEERE
FoRREZBEAENMGEREARBEBUTER(RBEFEE]) -

(@) REZEEAR/REAFEEAYRARRBERAKH] L FELR

(b)) BEFERARRNAR A& TH  @EEREAEARAAAMBAECHREHREREE  UREMASR
TTRERMEENRIRER A

© MEITEMENZ T  BRERETERMER - Rik - &6 - M 858 FHRO8EAINUL)  MERBEER ¢
(d) WRIFREARERE  ATREELEMEBERERONEER

(e) 1REANBIIE(ER) : &

() MEMZEBULIFATETNER  REASKETNVRBES -

FPRRRITEEREMBERE B TERENEM - REZESAREREMEMES RAHERGEREE) B K
dlSE
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) E£& (4#&)

Corporate governance functions (continued) ¥ ERBE (&)

Nomination Policy (continued) (#25 B # ) (#)

Nomination Procedure 12 & 127

Subject to the provisions in the Articles of Association, the following procedures for nomination should be
adopted:

(@) the Nomination Committee identifies or selects candidates pursuant to the Nomination Criteria;

(b) the Nomination Committee may use any process it deems necessary and appropriate to evaluate the
candidates, including personal interview, background checks, presentations or written submission by the
candidates or third-party references;

(c) the Nomination Committee makes recommendation to the Board and provides all the information required by
applicable Listing Rules including its assessment results based on the Nomination Criteria;

(d) the Board shall have the final decision on the appointment based on the recommendation by the Nomination
Committee;

(e) all appointment of Directors should be confirmed by the appointment letters setting out the key terms
and conditions of the appointments of relevant Directors, which should be approved by the Nomination
Committee; and

(f) where Shareholders are required to vote on appointment or re-appointment or re-designation of a Director,
the circular accompanying the notice of relevant general meeting should contain all the information of the
candidates required by Listing Rules (including Appendix 14).

The Shareholders may also propose a person for election as a Director, the Procedures for Shareholders to

Propose a Person for Election as a Director of the Company are available under the “About Us > Corporate
Governance” section of the Company’s website at www.cebenvironment.com.

RRPA(ERARDORE - RERFWT

(a) RBZEEREBRERIZLEHFNTEREA

,%

b) REZEGAERERSEMALEMEENREFFEHREA  BE@E
BRAXFE=ZTNHEBER

anr

% BERHE  RARHREAEINEER

c) REZEBERNEFSFLHEBY ARHMABERAMNKLETRANDERNER - BRERBRAFEFELOFGHER
(d) EFSHERRELAZEEHBIFLNZEARKIRTRE

) MEHEENZIRBEZENER ZTENEIHABEZENBRGR LGN LAFEIREZESOH
R

) MERFEHEEZERENZECHNATETRER - SHEAFABRRERSBANBEREESMACLETHRAD
(BHEMS+ ) BRREANER

PRERTRA RS B RE A - (RRIBRFEREENER) BN AR BB ILwww.cebenvironment.comfy [ B8R >0
EER DA -
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) & & (#)

Corporate governance functions (continued) ¥ ERBE (&)

Board Diversity & & 8 21k

The Company has formulated the Board Diversity Policy aiming at setting out the approach on diversity of the
Board. The Nomination Committee is also responsible for reviewing and reporting to the Board in relation to
Board diversity. The Nomination Committee and the Board reviewed the implementation and the effectiveness of
Board Diversity Policy during the year under review and considered the policy is effective.

The Board recognises the importance of having a diverse Board in enhancing the Board’s effectiveness
and corporate governance. A diverse Board includes and makes good use of differences in the skills,
industry knowledge and experience, education, background and other qualities of the Directors and does
not discriminate on the ground of race, age, gender, culture or religious belief. These differences are taken
into account in determining the optimum composition of the Board and when possible should be balanced
appropriately.

The Nomination Committee has responsibility for identifying and recommending candidates for approval by
the Board. It takes responsibility in assessing the appropriate mix of gender, age (18 years or above), culture,
experience, expertise, skills and diversity required on the Board and assessing the extent to which the required
skills are represented on the Board and overseeing the Board succession plan.

Board appointments will be based on merits of the candidates and other objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates to join the Board will be, in part, dependent on the pool of candidates with the necessary
knowledge, experience, skills, educational background and other qualities. The final decision will be based on
the candidate’s merits and contributions that he/she will bring to the Board.

ARAFIV(EFEXNEBEEZTIEBR)  BNEREFERENS LRI NR - REZE@NEEREMAEZTER
SEREFENENZTILEE - REZESNESFECRIEEFEA(EFEXNESTEBRFE) NEBRBRIL -
W RBZBEA °

EEef EZTNEFTSURNRERESFERXREXERANERZE - ZUEMNESSERREMAEETN TR
Be ITEAMBNER  HE  BENHEMEE  MASEEENER - Fik - U5 - UESHREHREMHKAR - FRTE
EEESEHARNEETERFAE  YRARNSEENTE -

REAZEGREAVEMMBEZREATESSHE  AETREFTEMTNEEAAMESTHREANES - Fit
(18mak A L) ~ b - &8y - EXMBMEENESTEMFTNZILMAET UREBESSMEMTHE -

EENEPHREBEREANEHMNEMERREFEL  ROZRLFRARENEZTENEZTIEMNTE

BERZANAZEZSR  SRREEAFCAGAFTOME  £8 K HEEILREMEREREZE - &REHR
EREBANREANBREMNESERESSEHNER -
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) E£& (4#&)
Corporate governance functions (continued) ¥ ERBE (&)

Board Diversity (continued) EFE &% 8 % T/t (%)

The Board considers that the Board diversity is a vital asset to the Company.

With a view to further improve the diversity of Board members, in 2022, the Nomination Committee and the
Board set a target of appointing one female director and on 18 May 2022, Ms. Li Shuk Yin, Edwina was
appointed as an INED. The Nomination Committee and the Board have achieved the short-term goal of
enhancing the gender diversity of the Board. The Nomination Committee and the Board will take opportunity to
increase the proportion of female members on the Board over time when selecting and making recommendation
on suitable candidates as Directors. The Board will further adjust the proportion of male and female on the
Board in due course with reference to stakeholders’ expectation and international and local recommended
best practices. In order to develop a channel of potential successors to the Board to achieve gender diversity,
the Company from time to time learns about outstanding director candidates in the market from its Executive
Directors, INEDs, external auditors, lawyers and other professional service agencies, and the Company will
entrust human resources consulting companies to find director candidates, when necessary, for building a talent
pool of potential director successors.

EXeRREFENENZTTLE  HRARFR-HEEZNEE °

RE—SRAZEFENEZ R R-T-_—_F RELZBENEFERIVZAE—BLXUEFNER AR _F
“CHFRATNA ZEFREXEIABIUFNTES - RELLZESGNEFTSCEI TRAEZTEUNZTIEHEH
BR - REZEGNREFGHRADELEESENESZREAR  HeERELRSEFTUUNENLD EF
ERERFHENNRERSEZRAR LA MNEZZEFTREFE - THBRELZSRLXELY - ARAA/EL—ER
PNERIMRZ T BHRESEEARE - THARTES - BUIFNTES - SNEZHED - EE0 R E M FERGHE
BTBTS LEFNEZTAE  MEFFERRIZTANERERARMEEEAR  UBTBGCESHETATE -

Employee Gender Diversity 1€ 814 5% t1b
As at 31 December 2022, male to female ratios by employee ranking of the Group was as follow:

BE_Z-_—F+_A=1—"HULEFE FAEENSETIRENBSLLAMT

Employee Ranking B 4% Male 53% Female Zf
Senior management 89% 11%
=REEAS

Middle-level management 80% 20%
FEEEAB

General and technical staff 74% 26%
—MEBEMET
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) =& (4#&)

Corporate governance functions (continued) ¥ ERBE (&)

Employee Gender Diversity (continued) 1€ 8 £ 5| % 7tk (&)

The Group has always been committed to providing open and equal employment opportunities and platforms
and regards the ability and qualifications of candidates as the most critical assessment elements in the
recruitment process. We also ensure that our human resources management structure, such as remuneration
levels, training opportunities and employment prospects, are not affected by gender to achieve gender equality.

Since (i) the main businesses of the Group includes waste-to-energy and synergistic treatment, integrated
biomass utilisation, hazardous and solid waste treatment, integrated water environment management, etc.,
the professionals who take relevant courses are mainly male, and (ii) the front-line technical staff of the project
companies require high manual labour and shift work, as a result, the applicants are mainly male, rather than the
Group deliberately not hiring female front-line technical staff.

—HENWER - AEEHNREAAMFEFORERSEFS Hﬁﬁﬁ%l%ﬁ’]“bjjfuﬁ’féf%ﬁi%#?ﬁ%iﬁﬁqﬂﬁa?ﬁﬁiﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ
Z o BAITERERFANADEREERE - WFHMKFE  JIREE MAENSEIZMERTE  KMERERFSE -

HROANKEETEXHEREUREERBRLRE - £WE! ?é?ﬂ)ﬂ feEREREEE 7}<iaiRZTm/ui¥—r & B R
RIZNEZEABUBUERT  (REARNARENEIRTESRNLE  THFERY  FRERHAERKAASLER
T MEAEEANETEBRLEAMERMET -

Dividend Policy (.2 B %)

The Company adheres to the principle of sharing the fruit of its success with the Shareholders and considers
stable and sustainable dividends to the Shareholders to be its goal. The Company has adopted the Dividend
Policy, which is only a guideline on the distribution of dividends to the Shareholders.

The recommendation of the payment of any dividend is subject to the absolute discretion of the Board, and any
declaration of final dividend will be subject to the approval of the Shareholders.

The distribution of dividends to the Shareholders can be by way of cash or scrip or partly by cash or scrip or
some other ways as determined by the Board from time to time. Any payment of the dividend by the Company

is also subject to any restrictions under the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“Companies Ordinance”), the Articles of Association and the Shareholders’ approval.

ARFBREREKNRERR D ZHNRAL ARELFEE AR REKEERERR - ARFADRACREEE) - EIER
SRS TRERHIES

XNEARENEZRTEEENRYBBREME - ERARHRE 2 ERAFKRIUERTAEE -

ﬁﬁﬁ%"@ﬂﬁ’]ﬁ” ARSI UBRKRE TN KBOUARESIABRESTR  FAEFSTHARAENEMT N - K
RAMEMBRETFBEZEEEZHFNE =+ —FLRFUERBDTCRBUESI 1) ~ CERADAND) RACRBLEFTRR o
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) EE& (&)

Corporate governance functions (continued) ¥ ERBE(4Z)

Dividend Policy (continued) (B8 B B ) (#)

The Board takes into account the following factors when considering the declaration and payment of dividends,
inter alia:

(1) the funding needs to the operation and business development of the Company from time to time;

(2) the market situation from time to time;

(3) the solvency requirements under the Companies Ordinance;

(4) cash flow and financial condition of the Company;

(5) the requirements of the Articles of Association and the relevant laws, rules and regulations applicable to the
Company;

(6) any banking or other funding covenants by which the Company is bound from time to time; and

(7) any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

When assessing the Company’s performance for each financial year or interim financial period, the Board shall
seek to maintain a steady dividend payment, and determine the dividend payout ratio after taking into account
the capital expenditure and cash flow for each financial year or interim financial period, while smoothing the effect
of any variation in the cash flow that may be due to one-off gains or losses in the same period.

The Dividend Policy, which will be reviewed from time to time by the Board, should not form a commitment
on distribution of dividends to the Shareholders and there is no assurance that dividends will be paid in any
particular amount for any given period.

EFEGEERTRIRNERER  SZRUTRER(EHREHE)

(1) ARARTKHEENMEBERENEST K

(2) TERMIZER

(3) «RARMEMI EERBE N ERK

(4) RNAEREm MBI

(6) (EREMA) REBEARARRINER  ERMBREER

(6) ANREITRFRAEMRITE M FE BIARAIRE - &

(7) EREMEESR/EENHEE -

EHEAR ARG EFRFE PRV EARE s ZEXRK  SF45 —ERTREDRHOAR - /R TEEIK
FE ek HAB AR B B AN M 5 S BRER S RV 1B R B TE R B LE B (HBR AT se EE R BAH IR — IR M s sl B ks B3R
TRHEER) -

(BREBRR)BHESTETRER - TEXSDERE TRRANAGE - B NMREEEFABRAKD ZERN SRR

B o
o
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) & & (#)

Training for Directors EE1Z |

Each newly appointed Director receives an induction training covering the statutory and regulatory obligation
of a director of a listed company. The Company continuously updates Directors with the latest developments
and amendments to the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements, and provides trainings and
relevant reading materials to develop and refresh the Directors’ knowledge and skKills.

During the year under review, the Company provided Directors with monthly updates on the performance,
position and prospects of the Company.

The Company also provided Directors with monthly analysis report on the Company’s stock price performance,
monthly journal, quarterly regulatory updates and biannual shareholder analysis report.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuing professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills as Directors in order to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. The Company has prepared a training record in order to assist the Directors in recording the training
that they have undertaken.

During the year under review, the Company organised trainings for the Directors on Introduction to China’s
domestic bond market and related products, and issued written training materials from time to time to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills of the Directors. Some Directors also attended seminars/conferences/
forums/trainings relevant to their profession and duties as Directors.

BEMZENETHESHEIEI  ARRELTARNESFEEIRAMNEERTLZEECNER - ARABENESRR
HBEBCLEMRADMEMEREERE KM BRI - AREFIEEEEY ARREEHFESOHMBMIREE -

REBEFERN  ARRRAEFRHBAARRRE  MALKAIRNEAEHER -
ARBRNAESRHUEBARARERANEADNRE - AT TEEEEH - UARFFERRDTHRSE -

ARRBBEE2NFHEZELR  UBRIUFFESOMBNREE  UEREEEEAGEEEARIAMTFNE
MATHEZSELER - ARACHARIIRE - BHEFCHMEZNEFI -

REBFER  ARBASEFERTARTEENESTEREBEREN  MFEXLEABIINERLEHES
HAEMSEE - EREEE2 N T ARESENESTRENEARS GF W8 15 -
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) €5 & (#&)
Training for Directors (continued) E= 3 (4Z)
Below is a summary of the trainings the Directors received during the year under review:

REBEFERN  BEFMEINFIIRBOT

Types of Training Not5

Name of Directors BEEMA 1 FIRR A Wi
Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Huang Haiging Nete ! =/§)F M A,B,C
Mr. Luan Zusheng BEREAE AC
Mr. Hu Yanguo HARE B 5 A A,B,C
Mr. Qian Xiaodong SR AE AC
Mr. An Xuesong ZENFTE A,B,C
Independent Non-executive Directors BUIHHITEE

Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip B SE A,C
Mr. Zhai Haitao BEEkE AC
Mr. Suo Xuquan RERTE A,C
Ms. Li Shuk Yin, Edwina Note? ZRE Lr e AC
Former Directors BIFEE

Mr. Wang Tianyi Nete TR F 5 A s C
Mr. Mar Selwyn Note 4 BARIR o Wi C
Notes Hffzt :

1. Mr. Huang Haiging was appointed as an Executive Director with effect from 18 June 2022;
HEBEERZERNTES BT _—F XA +N\HREN:

2. Ms. Li Shuk Yin, Edwina was appointed as an INED with effect from 18 May 2022;
FRELLTEEERBUINTES BT __FHAT\BARER:

3. Mr. Wang Tianyi ceased to be an Executive Director with effect from 18 June 2022; and
ERBEETBEENTEST BT __FXAHNHREN: &

4. Mr. Mar Selwyn ceased to be an INED with effect from 18 May 2022.
SRECETBEIBYINTESE BT _FRAT/\BBER -

5. A: attending seminars/conferences/forums/trainings
DMEHE&F w8 E

B: giving talks at seminars/conferences
RERE a5 RS

C: reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the economy, environmental protection business or directors’ duties

and responsibilities, etc.
FMEAWEE RREBUABEBESIRE TOREHER
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) & & (#)

Remuneration Policy of Directors and Senior Management EE R SREE A S HMBIEER

The Group’s remuneration policy for the Directors and senior management is mainly to ensure that their
remunerations are based on their personal conditions, responsibilities, qualifications, experience, performance,
the performance of their responsible business, the overall financial and performance of the Group and market
remuneration level. Bonuses for Executive Directors and senior management are determined based on indicators
such as profit from operating activities, investment in new projects, and safety and environmental performance
to ensure that the long-term interests of Directors and senior management are consistent with those of the
Company and the Shareholders.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for the remuneration policy and structure of the Company’s
Directors and senior management and makes recommendations to the Board on establishing a formal and
transparent remuneration procedure for developing such policy.

The remuneration of the members of the senior management (excluding those senior management who also
serve as Directors) by band for the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out below:

AEENEELSREEABTHBRRIZRREARMEMANZFMBREBEEBANGRSE  BE - EF  &£% XA HA
BEEBORR  AREEBRBMBRER  MEFHKFIRET - WTEZTRSRAETEABNEANEL TS AER
M HEBRERLZENMRBEUSFHEENEE BREFVNRAEEARBRAR R MERNRENSE —H -

FHEZESREARAEERAREEABNFIMBR AR R IERMAZHENREFHIEFHERR  RAE
EERbER -

BE_Z-_F+ A=+t RALFESRAEEABE(TEERKIRSRERAENESR) ZHMAERNNT :

Remuneration bands (HK$) AR OBE® ) Number of persons A &%
$1,000,001 to $2,000,000 $1,000,001 to $2,000,000 1
$3,000,001 to $4,000,000 $3,000,001 to $4,000,000 2

Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid employees as required to be
disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the financial statements,
respectively.

RB(ETRADME+NEREEFMAR TR ESHFMEES RE 2 E—TFHE - DRHERPBHRERMEIRI0 -
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NUMBER OF BOARD MEETINGS AND BOARD COMMITTEE MEETINGS AND
ATTENDANCE RATE OF DIRECTORS %@ =S L B8R A NEESHNLE R
The following table shows the number of Board meetings and Board committee meetings held during the year
under review as well as the attendance rate of the Directors:

TRETRBEFEARRFRMBITNEEENEEEZESTARBUREENHERE

Number of meetings attended/meeting eligible to attend "ot

Y23 UETA E¥Y U

Risk

Audit  Management Nomination Remuneration
Name of Directors Board Committee Committee Committee Committee
o 558 EnZEg RREEZES REZE® FMZzEg
Executive Directors
HITEE
Mr. Huang Haiging Mot ! 2/2 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
HBB LA NER TiEaH TER
Mr. Luan Zusheng 5/5 N/A 2/2 N/A N/A
BHRESE NEH TEH NEH
Mr. Hu Yanguo 5/5 N/A N/A N/A N/A
T E % A TEA TER TEH TEH
Mr. Qian Xiaodong 5/5 N/A N/A N/A N/A
BEREE il TER TEA il
Mr. An Xuesong 5/5 N/A 2/2 N/A N/A
ZEMEE NER TER NER
Independent Non-executive Directors
BUFRITEF
Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip 5/5 3/3 2/2 2/2 4/4
BCBLE
Mr. Zhai Haitao 5/5 3/3 N/A 2/2 4/4
BBERE TEMR
Mr. Suo Xuquan 5/5 N/A 2/2 2/2 4/4
REREE @R
Ms. Li Shuk Yin, Edwina Nete? 3/3 2/2 1/1 1/1 2/2
FRE L
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NUMBER OF BOARD MEETINGS AND BOARD COMMITTEE M

M

ETINGS AND

ATTENDANCiE RATE OF DIRECTORS (continued) EE e hEEe L8 @ a3 N ENZES
B R R B (AE
Number of meetings attended/meeting eligible to attend Mets
Hi /A B SR
Risk

Audit  Management Nomination Remuneration
Name of Directors Board Committee Committee Committee Committee
BENA ¥59 EnZee RREBZES RE%ZEE FMzeg

Former Directors

FIEE

Mr. Wang Tianyi Nete® 2/3 N/A N/A 1/2 2/3
EPS PoLdis T TEm

Mr. Mar Selwyn Note 4 2/2 1/1 1/1 1/1 2/2
SRR F e

Total number of meetings 5 3 2 2 4
L

Notes {3t :

1.

Mr. Huang Haiging was appointed as an Executive Director, the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee with effect from 18 June 2022;
BERAERZERNTES REZEGIFERFMZEGXE BT - _FXRATNBRER:

Ms. Li Shuk Yin, Edwina was appointed as an INED, the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of each of the
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Risk Management Committee, with effect from 18 May 2022;
PRELTEZERBUINTES BRZEGIE ULFHZES REZEehEARERZESGXEMNKE BT %1
AHN\BRER

Mr. Wang Tianyi ceased to be an Executive Director, the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee, with effect from 18 June 2022;
FREXRETHECRTES REZEQIFERFMZEGXE BT - _FXATN\BREYR:

Mr. Mar Selwyn ceased to be an INED, the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of each of the Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee and Risk Management Committee, with effect from 18 May 2022;
FSHRBEEETHEEBUNTES FXZESLE ULFHEZEES RELZESLRERERZESEENKE BT __Fh
AHN\BRER

Some Directors attended the aforesaid meetings by electronic means such as telephone or video-conferencing; and
BOEFEREAIBEERSEFRER2R LAEE

In 2022, no Disclosure Committee meeting was convened.
RZZEZ—F  REQRAMHEZESSE -
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THE DIVISION OF RESPONSIBILITIES BETWEEN THE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD AND
THECEO EE2 X F BRI CBEST

The roles of the Chairman of the Board and the CEO is separate and are not be performed by the same
individual. The division of responsibilities between the Chairman of the Board and the CEO has been clearly
established.

The main duties of the Chairman of the Board include providing leadership for and overseeing the functioning
of the Board; ensuring that all the Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings and giving
each Director an opportunity to express his/her view at Board meetings; ensuring that the Directors receive
adequate information, which must be accurate, clear, complete and reliable, in a timely manner; ensuring that
the Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities; ensuring that all key and appropriate issues are
discussed by the Board in a timely manner; drawing up and approving the agenda for each Board meeting,
taking into account, where appropriate, any matters proposed by the other Directors for inclusion in the agenda;
taking responsibility for ensuring that good corporate governance practices and procedures are established;
encouraging all Directors to make a full and active contribution to the Board’s affairs and taking the lead to
ensure that the Board acts in the best interests of the Company; encouraging Directors with different views
to voice their concerns, allow sufficient time for discussion of issues and ensure that Board decisions fairly
reflect Board consensus; ensuring that appropriate steps are taken to provide effective communication with the
Shareholders and that views of the Shareholders are communicated to the Board as a whole; promoting a culture
of openness and debate by facilitating the effective contribution of INEDs in particular and ensuring constructive
relations between Executive Directors and INEDs.

The duties of the CEO include taking responsibility for the Group’s operation and management; executing and
implementing decisions and plans approved by the Board; making day-to-day operational and managerial
decisions; and coordinating overall business operations.

EEgFFELINACEEARS W TH-ARKRE BEFSTFEARCHBEND TDEBREWAEFTES
ﬁ o

EXE2IRNIZREPRASES e RERESTOYN HRES SR LMAESYEENREINFEREE
HEFHEEFCER LREEEANK S BRESEKKIIZOMNEN - MBRREM TG EEREW MR 5
ﬁﬁé%?ﬁﬂﬂ@# BETEBEL MREFSLEHNMAEENEEFTHETHW  ETAMHEBRESS
CRORERE EEEBAT  SERTRALEMEFREZNARENENSFE  AEERARARRGERFNEE
BERERNER ?@%ﬁi%iﬁ&kﬁ$A$ﬁ WAFVER - MREFSTENAARAKENE © FEFT
RAERMNEEHRELAFAINEE GKTELETEARKENGR  AEEREZENAETELAERREETEN
- %%%ﬂm?i%ﬁ?ﬁh%ﬁﬂ B URERBRRERATEEZIREEESS  MREAHM  BERAWNHX
£ REEZ(FHRBUFNTER)HESSELERER  URRATESEB I IFNTERZHEFERILED
AR -

BRENBEERRARASENEZNEER  ITREZEEFTEHRBE NS - (FHEZEENBAFERE  RipHAEE
EHEE -

HJIE
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS &~/ 3E#iTE F=

Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip, Mr. Zhai Haitao and Mr. Suo Xuquan, the INEDs, hold office for a term from 1 January
2022 to the conclusion of the 2024 annual general meeting. Ms. Li Shuk Yin, Edwina, the INED, holds office for
a term from 18 May 2022 to the conclusion of the 2024 annual general meeting. They are subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Articles of Association.

In accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Board is of the
view that all INEDs are independent (notwithstanding that (i) Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip had been a Non-executive
Director prior to his re-designation as an INED under Rule 3.13(7) of the Listing Rules and has served as an INED
for more than 9 years since December 2012; and (i) Mr. Zhai Haitao was appointed and has served as an INED
for more than 9 years since January 2011) and the Company has received an annual written confirmation of
independence from each of the INEDs pursuant to the requirements in the Listing Rules.

Moreover, the Directors are of the opinion that Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip and Mr. Zhai Haitao remain independent
as the INEDs, and there is no evidence of their independence being affected by Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip’s re-
designation of Board position nor their over 9 years length of tenure. They have not engaged in any executive
management of the Group. Throughout their positions of the INEDs, they have participated in the meetings of
the Board and Board committees to give objective views and impartial advice as well as exercise independent
judgement. The Board believes that the extensive knowledge and experience of Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip and
Mr. Zhai Haitao to the Group’s business and their external experience continue to be of significant benefit to the
Group, and that they maintain an independent view of the Company’s affairs.

INEDs are identified as such in all corporate communications containing names of the Directors. The latest list of
the Directors identifying the INEDs and the roles and functions of the Directors is available on the websites of the
Company and HKEXx.

BIUFMTESELCBRE 355%5‘&&&5%%%5‘6&9’9&,3}%E:%::i—ﬂ—ﬁﬂ%:%:@i%%%@iﬁ@%
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS &£ # 175552
fZ =7 A

The Group has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct for Directors’ transactions in
securities of the Company. Having made specific enquiries to the Directors, all Directors confirmed that they had
complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in the Model Code throughout their tenure during the
year ended 31 December 2022.

The Company also adopted the Model Code for the securities transactions by relevant employees of the
Company, including relevant employees of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The Group has formulated the Inside Information Reporting Policy, which provides the Directors and the
employees with inside information reporting guidelines, to enhance the inside information management of the
Group.

AEBEFRACETRAD MR+ FAE(EMETABTETERRZNFRETAND(RETRD D ERESETARAE
FRHEENES - KAMEBERELFEENR  FAESORABENBE ST _—_F+_A=1t-HLFELH
A—EETEETRDFA#MARE -

RWARFRERER (BRARRNRAMBARIZABRER)VETNRERRS - ARFEERAT RETA]) -
AEBECDHE(ABBEEREHRE)  REFLEERHERABHESNES  MARAAEEARELEE -

COMPANY SECRETARY A alfnE

The Company Secretary is accountable to the Board for ensuring that Board policies and procedures are
followed and Board activities are efficiently and effectively conducted. The Company Secretary is a full-time
employee of the Company. Although the Company Secretary reports to the Chairman of the Board and the
CEQ, all the Directors may call upon the Company Secretary at any time for assistance and advice in respect
to their duties and other corporate governance matters, so as to ensure effective operation of the Board and
the committees thereunder. The Company Secretary advises the Board on governance matters and facilitates
the induction and professional development of Directors. For the year under review, the Company Secretary
confirmed that she had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

RAWENEEFSEE  URRETEFSHRNERF  UNBEFSEBARXRARET - RAWERARAE
BES HALNFAMENEFTSIENAHER E2REFHIBKERAFAWERHAFBETEETLAMER
HENEREGE BMREFGLRABETZEGNANEE - ArWBRENCEREAEERNESSRHIES  LAE
EENRMERMNLRERER - REBEFE @ ARMERIBHECEITOR TR/ EHNHEBERE] -
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR #NEE 4z 1AM

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities for preparing the Company’s financial statements. The Audit
Committee discussed with EY the nature and scope of the audit before the audit commenced and maintained
dialogue with EY to understand the progress of the audit and give opinions on the audit issues.

It is the auditor’s responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on its audit, on the Company’s financial
statements and to report its opinions solely to the Shareholders, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of
the Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. The auditor does not assume responsibility towards or
accepts liability to any other person for the contents of the independent auditor’s report.

The external auditor of the Company for the year under review was EY. Apart from the provision of annual
audit services, EY also carried out review of the Group’s interim results and provided (i) assurance services
in connection with the requirements under the Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance; (i) tax advisory
services; (iii) assurance services and agreed-upon procedures in connection with the corporate financing
exercises of the Group; and (iv) advisory services in connection with implementation of financial reporting system
of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the total fees paid/payable in respect of audit and non-audit services
provided by EY to the Group are set out below:

EEAREARUEMBBRNEMT - ERZEERERTIERBATEZOKN mBEZOEE REE @ R KREFER
INTmEZTIFERER  IREXEERTER -

REMZBERREREERZTENER  HARRUBHRRELBILER - WIRR(QBED) E40650RE - 2
ARREL RS - Rib 25 - Z|METATBIEEMAS - KRBT B ZBEBENAET  HEAMEMCALEE
SAERE

REBFEA - ARRZINERBEIRZOK - BREFREBZREI  OKNBHAKRENTRESE  ROEAKHE
R EERRET BUED)) WO E MR AR IRTS - (NIRMRBHARY : (IMAKRE 2 2R REASDMER 2 ZER
BREENRERF  RivEENSE 2 EHRE ZRMIREZARE -

BE-Z-"F+-A=+-RLEFEAR TKAXKERUEZIGFERRBEN BN EREENT

2022 2021
—g-= —E—

_—— —= —

HK$’000 HK$’000
BETT BT

Type of services Bk 7 %8 51
Audit services BEZIRTS 14,281 13,155
Non-audit services* ARG 7,134 4,124
21,415 17,279
* Non-audit services include tax advisory and other related services.
* SEERRSBIED R R EMEERE o
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS [E & 12 & A 2p g5 42

The Board has full responsibility for the Group’s risk management and internal control systems, which include the
establishment of a defined management structure with specified limits of authority. The systems are designed to
help the Group achieve business objectives, safeguard assets against unauthorised use or disposition, ensure
the maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information for internal use
or for publication and ensure compliance with relevant legislations and regulations. The risk management and
internal control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risks of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk (including environmental, social
and governance risk) management and internal control systems for the year ended 31 December 2022. This
review (following to the review of the Audit Committee and the Risk Management Committee (as applicable))
covered all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls, internal audit function,
and also considered the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting, internal auditing and financial reporting functions, and their training programmes and budget. The
Board considered that the risk management and internal control systems were effective and adequate. The Risk
Management and Legal Compliance Department reports to the Risk Management Committee on the control of
principal risks and internal control implementation. Any internal control weaknesses of the Group detected by the
Audit Department is reported to the Audit Committee and the Management. Accordingly, the Management takes
remedial actions and the Audit Department subsequently follows up and reviews whether the remedial actions in
place are adequate.

EXerRBEAEENRRERENAREZERS  BEMNTEERBLABNER - 252N EEHBAREZER
EBER REBEAGAREREEMAKLE - BRFA LS CE AR H AT 52 69 B 7% B 4 A B0 6 /8 sk o 3%
P WHERETERAGIEMRA - EREEMAMEEEREEEEMIPBRAREEXNEZHBENER - MARAA
BUEXFBHE)RETSGHAEARERAKERX °

EFEECHAKRERE_T_—_F+ A=+ HALFEMNRR(BRERE L@ MERAR)EERAMERE RGN
BRIEETRN  ZFERT(ERERZESNAREEZE(WER) FH)REMBEENEE  FHIEMKE
OBEEE  AREE  AMERDEE  XEBARFAEE  ANER  WHEERBREIEAESARHNER
BETERENER UAREEARHNEIRIRELREHAEE EFeRARAREELANEIZERREER LN -
RigEREEZARBUERRARAEFNERMAMEZENATEARNRREELZESER - WEERTMAKER
FRESIEH S5 E - BAtHIRRBERZEGREEREER - it - BEESRIERMNULEE N AR AERERENE
ZEBMLERREL RN

To provide effective internal controls, the Board has established the following key procedures:
RIBEERRANEEE EFERLT NIEEEF
- Organisational Structure A #2218

An appropriate organisational structure of the Group is in place with defined operating policies and
procedures as well as responsibility and reporting lines.

}

&

i

&5

ERBABEMNABARE  BRIPARBENELERNIEF  BERERRE -

&
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS (continued) 2k & 12 & N ERES 15 (42 )

Authority and Controls #R [ B5 3

The Executive Directors and senior management are delegated with respective levels of authorities to carry
out the corporate strategies, policies and the related matters formulated by the Board, and also perform
execution based on related internal control requirements of the existing policies and procedures.

HTESNEMEEABERTHBEERAATESSHAINEERE  BRRBRED - LREBBHEER
EHRABAREZENERITE -

Budgetary Control and Financial Reporting 78 & {2 &l % B 75 BE 3R

The Group implements budget management, and financial budget is executed upon approval by the Board.
Relevant procedures have been established to assess, review and approve major capital and recurrent
expenditures, and regular review and comparison between operating results and the budget are made.
The Group has established appropriate internal control procedures to ensure the complete and accurate
accounting and management records are kept on a timely basis. Examination and review are carried out
regularly to ensure that the financial statements are properly prepared in conformity with the generally
accepted accounting principles, the Group’s accounting policies and the applicable laws and regulations.

AEBETHEERE  VHBREAZEETSURERAT - ARECFTZABERFAFE - R MR EBNEXRE
REEMESTE - YESRRM BERELGERARE - ARECRLEENNIEERERF  BRE2E - EERER
RSB RERBE - EHETRN MEL  BRMBRRNBRETE —RABATNGTEL  AEESFTHER
MA K58 P R E R BOE R, -

Internal Auditing A&t

The Group has its Audit Department, which has regularly conducted internal audits to review whether the risk
management and internal control procedures are being implemented appropriately.

AEBERAENE  LEHETARETARTEREENAREEZREFETINERT -

The Group has established an internal whistleblowing policy and system for employees of the Company to raise

concerns, in confidence, about possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal controls or other matters.

AEEHET AR RBHRE R RS  BREAREPRMFER  ABEEREMT A EEEN T EEITRIRHEE -
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS (continued) 2k & 12 & RN ZPESIE (&)
In order to achieve effective step-by-step management, the Group has set up 3 lines of defence system in risk
management and internal controls as follows:

AEERY TUTHRERERMAIMEZN =B RABER  ERAUNERER

First Line of Defence % — &R} 4%

The first line of defence includes business sectors, regional centers and project companies. They are
responsible for continuous identification, assessment, monitoring and report of risks in operating process and
implementation of specific process for risk management and internal control systems.

F-BUREBREEEBRR BREPOLOMRBQR  AEHELEETORRSER - FHE  EENER  BEA
RETERABEERGHERIRE -

Second Line of Defence % — &[5 &

The second line of defence includes functional departments of the headquarters, functional departments in all
sectors and Risk Management and Legal Compliance Department. They are responsible for the regular review of
overall risk level and effectiveness of control measures in principal risks.

FE BB EANBEEPT  SRRBESFIMNERERDERART  AETHIEHERNARSR  FHIE
[\ B B R IE HE RO A RUE o

Third Line of Defence % =i&B5 &
The third line of defence is Audit Department, which is responsible for the regular review on the follow up actions
taken in enhancing risk management and internal control systems.

Adherence to the principle of “Up-and-Down Coordination and Cross-segmental Cooperation”, the Group has
strengthened its risk management through promotion of risk management system and establishment of the risk
management working network.

The Risk Management Committee under the Board takes accountability on risk management, and reviews
the corporate risk management and internal controls at least twice a year. The Risk Management and Legal
Compliance Department is responsible for the implementation of the risk management system and the evaluation
of internal controls, and the evaluation of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
through on-site risk research, collection of risk information and other measures.

FZBHR/ARRENE ARTHEZXRREENMAREZERRUCENZERBR
AEBEA T ETHE  AESE I REERIEZEARERREERR  EURREE TESE  RARREEKE -
EEeR TAREEZEUARERETFAR  SF TN MAHCERREEMAIEZBERE TR - ARE

BEZZGHAMBATRAREERRZZENAIEITNGETE BERSARAN - ERESREFIA - HERRE
BAAIEEAE RN AR
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS (continued) [&\f& & 32 & NS EE 15 (42 )
Third Line of Defence (continued) S =&H 4 (#2)

In 2021, the Group issued Everbright Environment 2021 Risk Management Instructions in accordance with the
Risk Management Systems, Risk Management Operation Manual and Everbright Environment Internal Control
Management Manual, detailed the workflow and specific implementation requirements of risk management and
internal controls, enhanced the supervision and inspection mechanism of risk management and internal controls.
The Company enhanced the list of risk factors and evaluation criteria of risk effect degree, and continuously
maintained the risk event database within the year. According to the changes of external environment and actual
operation, the Company used unified evaluation scope, evaluation criteria, evaluation process and tools, carried
out risk evaluation work of the year, determined principal risks of the year and established effective control
measures, continuously analysed the effectiveness of control methods and followed up specific control effect.
During the year, the Company conducted internal control evaluation from company level, business level and
information system level, etc. to improve the effectiveness of internal controls. The Company has continued to
carry out special inspection work on risks to improve normalisation of risk management and internal controls
during the year.

The Company paid high attention to risk awareness and improvement of risk management ability, carried out
different forms of risk management related trainings, enhanced on-site risk inspection and special inspection,
improved standardisation of risk management within the year.

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside information, the
Group has established the Disclosure Committee. The Board has delegated the day-to-day execution of its
continuous disclosure obligations to the Disclosure Committee. Moreover, the Group has formulated the Inside
Information Reporting Policy to ensure that potential inside information can be promptly identified, assessed and
escalated, if necessary, for the attention of the Disclosure Committee and/or the Board to decide about the need
for disclosure.

—Z- % AREREBE(RBREEGE)  (BRERREFM RCERAREAREEFMNER - TECOLRRE
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS (continued) 2k & 12 & RN ZPESIE (&)
Significant environmental, social and governance related risks EiIEiE - HEREREBENEXER
The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s environmental, social and governance risk
management and related internal control systems for the year ended 31 December 2022, and has considered
that the resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s environmental, social and governance
performance and reporting functions, and their training programmes and budget received by employee are
adequate. The Board considered that the ESG risk management and internal control systems were effective
and adequate. The Company’s ESG risk team reported to the Risk Management and Legal Compliance
Department and the Risk Management Committee on the control of significant ESG performance risks and
the implementation of internal controls. Any internal control weaknesses of the Group detected by the Audit
Department is reported to the Audit Committee and the Management. Accordingly, the Management takes
remedial actions and the Audit Department subsequently follows up and reviews whether the remedial actions in
place are adequate.

EESCUAKRBERE—S-—F+ A=+ "BLFENRE - HERERRREERBBEAIEERRNERIE
EITRE > UEBARBERE  HEREARENMEREENER - ETEERER - UEBTHARXMFIIRE
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B EEESRIERNALEEAEABERRENERZEAULEREE M -

CODE OF CONDUCT ¥ 5r4E 1))
The Group places utmost importance on employees’ ethical, personal and professional standards. Every
employee is required to undertake to adhere to the Code of Conduct of the Group, and is expected to achieve
the highest standards set out in the Code of Conduct including avoidance of conflict of interests, discrimination
or harassment and bribery and corruption, etc. Employees are required to report any non-compliance with the
Code of Conduct to the Management.

AEEGBLSEGRENER  BAAREXRERETER SREEHBARETARE ZRTER)  AEEHEMBE
EHEFETEAMTNESER  BREELNEER BRIEE  UNBREESE - BEARMEEEBREME
ME RCERSTERDBER -

INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL WHISTLEBLOWING AND INVESTIGATION POLICIES R 3B &
HNERER S N B A

To enhance the transparency, integrity and accountability of the Group and to retain a consistently high standard
of corporate governance, the Company has put in place Internal Whistleblowing and Investigation Policy
and External Whistleblowing and Investigation Policy. Those policies apply to the employees/related persons
(including but not limited to investors, lenders, suppliers, customers, services providers and government,
etc.) of the Group (excluding China Everbright Greentech Limited, China Everbright Water Limited and their
respective subsidiaries). Those policies are designed to provide the employees/related persons with confidential
whistleblowing channels to report the actual or suspected illegal activities and misconducts in corporate financial
reporting, internal controls or other areas to the Audit Committee in which the Company’s attention should be
drawn and investigation should be initiated. Those policies are available under the “Corporate Governance”
section of the Company’s website at www.cebenvironment.com.

AREASEEENERE - REE  BEUERBIRBFEBESENTEERRE  ARARACATERLFHEH
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ANTI-CORRUPTION, ANTI-BRIBERY AND ANTI-MONEY LAUNDERING POLICY (&
5~ RS R ROEEIER)

In order to promote the Company’s anti-corruption, anti-bribery and anti-money laundering matters, and improve
the level of compliance operations, the Company has established the Anti-corruption, Anti-bribery and Anti-
Money Laundering Policy. The policy clarifies (i) anti-corruption and anti-bribery norms, including guidelines for
accepting benefits and entertainment, and guidelines for providing benefits; (ii) anti-money laundering, anti-
terrorist financing or activity norms; and (iii) related reporting methods and punishments, etc.

BREARANRES RBEBREREESE 29 BUEKFE  ARAFHIETARES ~ REFES R RABBUR) -
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS = E5i8171%
WRPTARENETT

The Directors confirm that they are responsible for the preparation of the Group’s financial statements. A
statement by EY, the external auditor of the Company, about its reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements of the Group is included in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 134 to 142.

With the assistance of the Finance Management Department of the Company which is taken charge by the CFO,
the Directors ensure that the Group’s financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with
relevant regulations and applicable accounting principles. The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring
the integrity of the Group’s financial statements, ensuring compliance with accounting standards and reviewing
significant financial reporting judgments.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern as referred to in Code Provision D.1.3 of the

CG Code.

EEMAEARREAEETHERERAEEHEL - AR AIINEXZBAM LT KR AEB I ERETIEZ BRE TBEYE
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS & 5 &9 4 7

The Company encourages Shareholders to attend the annual general meetings or other general meetings in
person or by appointing proxies, for exchanging views directly with the Directors and the Management in order
to strengthen and promote communication between the Shareholders and the Company. In addition to direct
communication at the general meetings, the Shareholders can also make inquiries to the Company and the
Board at any time. For the procedures for Shareholders to make inquiries to the Board, please refer to the
“Investor Relations” section of this report.

ARAEEERBEXLZARKREERRBFASHEMERAS  REFTLNEEEERRIBRER © IRMEERR
EARNBHER - BRTERRAGLERBR BRRTAESAAARIESSERIEH  ARRRAEESRLE
AMIEF  BAARSE [REEREIMS -

Convening of extraordinary general meetings on requisition by Shareholders FERR R ZER BB KRR
HalKE

Pursuant to section 566 of the Companies Ordinance, the members of the Company representing at least 5% of
the total voting rights of all the members having a right to vote at general meetings may request the Directors to
call a general meeting. The request must state the general nature of business to be dealt with at the meeting and
may include the text of a resolution that may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at the meeting. The
request may consist of several documents in like form and may be sent to the Company in hard copy form or in
electronic form and must be authenticated by the person(s) making it.

If the Directors do not proceed duly within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the request to convene a
general meeting for a day not more than 28 days after the date on which the notice convening a general meeting
is given, the members who requested the meeting or any of them representing more than one-half of the total
voting rights of all of them, may themselves convene a general meeting, provided that the general meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of 3 months from such date.

The general meeting convened by such members shall be convened in the same manner, as nearly as possible,
as that in which general meetings are to be convened by the Directors.

RIBCABED) F5660F - HAEBRRAE EREZERNEERRARERERIE% 2 ARARR - JBKREZAHK
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued) B3 #I#EF| (&)

Putting forward proposal at annual general meetings ARRBEFAZ LIEHEBER

Pursuant to section 615 of the Companies Ordinance, the members of the Company may request the Company
to give, to members of the Company entitled to receive notice of the annual general meeting, notice of a
resolution that may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting. The request may be sent
to the Company in hard copy form or in electronic form and must identify the resolution of which notice is to be
given, be authenticated by the person or persons making it and be received by the Company not later than 6
weeks before the annual general meeting to which the requests relate; or if later, the time at which notice is given
of that meeting.

The Company will give notice of a resolution if it has received the requests from (a) members representing at
least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all the members of the Company who have a relevant right to vote on
the resolution to which the requests relate; or (b) at least 50 members who have a relevant right to vote on the
resolution to which the requests relate.

RIBCRBED) £616105 - ZIK”ATﬂxﬁTx?JiZ!S”&Tﬁﬁ%H&HXHxﬁﬂiﬁELmﬂﬁﬂxﬁﬁéﬂj&%ﬁd_m ﬁﬁ*ﬁf%&
FZERFPRBRAFASLEEDZLHN G LBF - FRAERENEBEHNARAREFHARXIARTF @ WAHRH
BPEHBEMIURAZER - AUV ALHREHERNOALRE - D/USQ$’AﬁJZ\,,\Tiﬁ’\ﬁF%HxﬁﬁﬁﬁQ%‘éﬂEIHHHIJ/\
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ARBEREETIIALTHRENBERER  BHRABRAE QBN BARRABRERENARA2BRRAKRERDN
ED25% 2R ¢ RO ELSORFEERARAARKERNR -

Proposing a person for election as a director R ZEB A LIRREENERF
The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as a Director are available under the
“Corporate Governance” section of the Company’s website at www.cebenvironment.com.

AR ERIRZ REE L F O EHN AR B uwww.cebenvironment.com[ (2 E548 |ED A

INVESTOR RELATIONS &4 & @&

The Company recognises the importance of efficient and effective communication with the investor community.
In order to enable the Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner, and to allow them to engage
actively with the Company, the Shareholders Communication Policy of the Company has been established.

ARAFEREAREENSENERNBR - B TERREMNEOER TITERERROEN - AFEMFIEHRSEAR
RENER - ANRBEL T (REBARE)
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INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued) & & ERZR ()

During the year, the Company has continuously disclosed all its material information and regularly disclosed its
interim and annual reports in accordance with the Listing Rules. The Company regularly conducted briefings
and meetings with institutional investors and analysts through various communication channels, including
teleconference, video conference, video web-casting, etc. to provide them with up-to-date and comprehensive
information about the Group’s development. Besides, the Company facilitates the initiation and coverage
of the Company published by research analysts of well-received investment banks which are instrumental
in providing investors with independent and professional evaluations of the Company. Moreover, the Group
participates in different international and domestic investor forums and organises non-deal roadshows at
home and abroad to elaborate on the Group’s business development plans to global investors. Furthermore,
the Company arranges site visits for investors and media to its key projects in the PRC. The Company has
established a function dedicated to investor relations and engaged an external public relations company to take
care of investor relations matters. The Company also maintains a website (www.cebenvironment.com) which
renders Shareholders, investors and the general public direct access to the information of the Group on a timely
basis. Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Company through the “Investor
Relations” section of the Company’s website at www.cebenvironment.com. Shareholders may also make
enquiries and suggestions with the Board and the management at the shareholder’s general meetings of the
Company. The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of Shareholders Communication Policy
during the year under review, and considered that the policy effectively enabled the Company to achieve good
communication with Shareholders.

RER ARABELETRABEREEEMAEANENMEHREEARANTHLEERE  AQABNTEEBT
FBEMREHEREREEROMERTHRSLEHEREEFATH  GHSRAGREGHEERS  ARSREEEHELX
EEERMOSHEZMEARE o WH  ARRWBHANBZERERBITNARLI M AERRRRESITRE - BB FRREMH
REEEMRARTNBYLREEFMG - i AEBEETRNBEEREMEANILESERE  AHEARNFIEINIER
GEE MEHREEEELAAEENEBER;E - 5 ARFEFREMER  AREENEEBRE REULNS
BEHETERER - ARG DREEEREEBROBE  YEBINIABARATERELEMENEE - ARa 28
il (www.cebenvironment.com) B R « HEE R RABALTHEREEREARAGEN - BREAUETMAREBBARQ G MM
(www.cebenvironment.com)[ #& & & B R |Z M AIA R B A MM EAMEMBLNHEE - RETAUERRGRE
AELMESEREEERISHRES EFZCRINEBEFERN(RRBABER) 2EHEEERM - WRABZK
KB ERN NG EREERR 88 -

2022 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING —ZE - - FlRRAF A

The Company gave sufficient notice to the Shareholders before convening the 2022 annual general meeting
(“2022 AGM”) and explained the detailed procedures for conducting a poll. The then incumbent Executive
Directors, INEDs, chairmen of Board committees and Management attended the 2022 AGM to answer
Shareholders’ questions.

ARAAR—ZT-—_FRREAFAG ([T _—_FERRBFAS DA TRETIBM - TRAKRBHEANEETN

ETRROFARER - BERTES  BUFRTES REFSE ZEENIEMNEREECHE T KRR
BEREAOIERRHIER -
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2022 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (continued) —Z — —FRrRBAF K (&)

The attendance records of the Directors at the 2022 AGM are set out below:

BEERF T _FREAFRSZREHOT

Name of Directors 2022 AGM
EENE —ECCFERFEBAFRE
Executive Directors

HITEE

Mr. Huang Haiging N N/A
B I A e AN iE
Mr. Luan Zusheng 1
SRR

Mr. Hu Yanguo 1
HARE B 5T 4

Mr. Qian Xiaodong 1
BRI L

Mr. An Xuesong 1
ZERKE

Independent Non-executive Directors

BUHHITEF

Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip 1
SBACESEAE

Mr. Zhai Haitao 1
BEEEE

Mr. Suo Xuquan 1
REERESTE

Ms. Li Shuk Yin, Edwina Nete2 N/A
TIRME L mwe T iE A
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2022 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (continued) —Z — —FRrRBAF K (&)

Name of Directors 2022 AGM
EEMH T CFRFEBEFRE

Former Directors

FIFEE

Mr. Wang Tianyi Nete3 1
F R S g mas

Mr. Mar Selwyn Nete 4 |
B 4Ty 4 Aoitina

Notes 13T :

1. Mr. Huang Haiging was appointed as an Executive Director, the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee with effect from 18 June 2022;
HEFEEREZERNTES REZECIFRIFMEEGNE BT __F AT N\HEEN:

2. Ms. Li Shuk Yin, Edwina was appointed as an INED, the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of each of the
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Risk Management Committee, with effect from 18 May 2022;
FREZTEZERBUINTES BERZESLIR URFHEES REZESRAREEZESRENKE B-T-_Fn
AHN\BRBER

3. Mr. Wang Tianyi ceased to be an Executive Director, the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee, with effect from 18 June 2022;
ERBEETBREENTES REZESIFRFNEESKE BT —FRATN\HRER

4.  Mr. Mar Selwyn ceased to be an INED, the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of each of the Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee and Risk Management Committee, with effect from 18 May 2022; and
BREAETBEEBIINTES EREESLIR URFHEES REZEehAREEZESREMNKE B-T-_Fn
ATNBRER: &

5.  Some Directors attended the aforesaid meetings by electronic means such as telephone or video-conferencing.
BrEEpBERAREEREEFEE2HE ISR -

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS & X

During the year under review, there was no change in the Articles of Association.

REBEFER  (FRRAND T EZE -
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Directors and Senior Management EERSREEAE

Mr. HUANG HAIQING

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD

Aged 58, is the Executive Director and the Chairman of the Board of the Company. He is also the Chairman of the
Nomination Committee and the Member of the Remuneration Committee of the Board, and a director of several
subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Huang is the non-executive director and the chairman of the board of directors
of China Everbright Greentech Limited (the Company’s subsidiary and the shares of which are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)). He is currently a director of China Everbright
Holdings Company Limited, an indirect controlling shareholder of the Company. He holds a doctoral degree in
Economics from Southwestern University of Finance and Economics. Mr. Huang is currently a member of the
Strategic Advisory Committee and postgraduate tutor of the PBC School of Finance of Tsinghua University,
and he is also a senior economist. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Huang had served as executive director and
president of China Everbright Holdings Company Limited, member of CPC committee and secretary of the
discipline committee (executive vice president level) of China Everbright Bank Company Limited (the shares of
which are listed on the Stock Exchange and Shanghai Stock Exchange). He also served as division chief level
officer of Hainan Provincial Branch of Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited, deputy general manager
of Pudong Branch of Bank of Shanghai, and vice mayor of Xi’an City. Mr. Huang joined the Board in June 2022.

=SS
HITEEFEFESTE

BEL8  RARAAITEFTREF IR RIREFTEEMERZBEIFEMAFHNEZEGKE - URAKEET
MBARNES JEATR/TEARGFEREERABN(ARAZMBATF - ERONEBEMEXZAAER AR ([H
RFFDEMNFRTEETREFTSIF - WREARFARAEEBRRRTPEXAAEEERAAES - RHAABHEX
BRESEL BERLARECEFEABLECREREREAZESELE PREGMH - TASRLEM - FEE
EMAREER - BEBRTEAXAAEEERATDNITES - 85 - PEXARITEROHDBER AT (EBRNRERM KL LE
EHRRXGHLEMIBREER L£ZECL(BTRA) - BABETETHRITENERIRSHEEDTTEERHE - LF
RITARDTRNTR  AXTWEAITRERE - BEEER_T__FAMAESE -
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Directors and Senior Management EER SR EEAE

Mr. LUAN ZUSHENG

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Aged 57, is the Executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and the director and the
general manager of Everbright Environmental Protection (China) Limited* (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company). He is also the Member of the Risk Management Committee and the Chairman of the Disclosure
Committee of the Board, and a director of several subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Luan is currently the director
of Sun Life Everbright Life Insurance Co., Ltd. He holds a master’s degree in accounting from the Department
of Accounting of Nankai University and a doctorate degree in political economics from the Department of
Economics of Nankai University. Mr. Luan is also a certified intermediate accountant in the People’s Republic of
China. Mr. Luan was the director of Everbright Financial Holding Asset Management Co., Ltd. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Luan was the director of the office and the officer for deepening reform of the leading group office
for the comprehensive deepening reform, and the secretary general of the office of China Everbright Group Ltd.,
the controlling shareholder of the Company, the president of Shijiazhuang and Wuxi Branches, the vice president
and risk director of Shenzhen Branch, the assistant to the president and risk director of Fuzhou Branch, of China
Everbright Bank Company Limited (“Everbright Bank”, the shares of which are listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited and Shanghai Stock Exchange), the general manager of small and medium enterprises
business department and the general manager of the microfinance business department of Everbright Bank. Mr.
Luan joined the Board in June 2021.

HITEFEFAE

WESTEE » RARAATEEREREARBR(FED)BRARN(ARRZEZEMBAR)MES RAKE - KITAE
FEETRREERZEGNELEEZEGEIRE  URAEEETHEARINES - BEERITHAXKBAASRESR
BMARES BINAENAASEHERAGH EEXB BN RERAARBLEBELERABUKEZE T2 - TAFEAR
HAMBIGEM A RERD - REEBEXRASITEEEEBRATES - TMAREER - #EEGERAAZERRR
PREAXAEEROAFZERMNEERG NMAMAEZEEMF  ARFERPAEET  FEAARRITROBRAG (X
RIRTT] EROREBBMERSMERDAL DEEFRSGM EM)AREREHHT1TR - RIS TRITR AR
mE - BMNDITITREIBRERAE  ARRITPNERRGILALE N B EREGMALIBFRE - BRaER =
T —FNAMAESE -

*  For identification purpose only
Y EHRBFF S
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Mr. HU YANGUO

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND VICE PRESIDENT

Aged 56, is the Executive Director and the Vice President of the Company. He is also the Member of the
Disclosure Committee of the Board, and a director of several subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Hu is the executive
director and the chairman of the board of directors of China Everbright Water Limited (the Company’s subsidiary
and the shares of which are listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)). Mr. Hu was formerly the non-executive director of
China Everbright Greentech Limited (the Company’s subsidiary and the shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange). Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Hu was the person-in-charge of the accounting department of the
Guangzhou branch of China Everbright Bank Company Limited (the shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange and Shanghai Stock Exchange). Mr. Hu obtained a bachelor’s degree in mathematics and a master’s
degree in forestry economy and management from Northeast Forestry University in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”). He is a certified public accountant in the PRC. Mr. Hu joined the Board in January 2018.

AHAE B 5E 4

BITEFREIBE

BEL6  RARAAITESTREEER - WAREZTEE THEZEQ@ZKE  URAKEETHWERRINESE - 48
REDRFERXAKBERABR(ARAZMBAR  ERONFMEIFIIAERABDREEHREIZMERAR
(TR EMMBITEETRESR - AELEBEFERXAGERRERAR(ARAZMBE AR - BB
EMRZERITES - ARAETEMARKE R - SEBFEARNRITEROBRAF] (ERORBRMA R LEEFRHAH
ETBEMATEFHEEA - BAEERETFEARKNE((HEDRIEMEABHBE LB IMELBEERELS
i o RATBEEMEEAED - AEER T \F—AMAZEE -

Mr. QIAN XIAODONG

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND VICE PRESIDENT

Aged 50, is the Executive Director and the Vice President of the Company. He is also the Member of the
Disclosure Committee of the Board and a director of several subsidiaries of the Group. Moreover, Mr. Qian is
an executive director and the chief executive officer of China Everbright Greentech Limited (the Company’s
subsidiary and the shares of which are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited). He had been the
General Manager of the investment development department of the Company. He obtained a bachelor’s degree
in thermal engineering from Dalian University of Technology in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and a
master’s degree in environment engineering from the Southeast University in the PRC. Mr. Qian joined the Board
in January 2018.

BITEFR BB

BRES0R » RARARNTEEZREEE - WTLEFSE THEZBEeNERAEEETHERARNES - LI - &
RERFEAARGERRERAR(ARAZMBAR  ERNREBBARXSMBERABT LT NRITEETRITHAE
B WEREEARRRELRMPALE - REEHEARANMBE([HE ) REBTREAGTREEL2U RPERE
RERFEIRELEMN - BEAR T/ \F-ANMAZESE -
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Directors and Senior Management EER SR EEAE

Mr. AN XUESONG

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, VICE PRESIDENT AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Aged 52, is the Executive Director, the Vice President and the Chief Financial Officer of the Company. He is
also the Member of each of the Risk Management Committee and the Disclosure Committee of the Board,
and a director of several subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. An has comprehensive experience in mergers and
acquisitions, project investment and management, financial management and risk management. He holds a
Master of Business Administration Degree from Jinan University. He is a Certified Public Accountant in the
People’s Republic of China and a Certified International Internal Auditor. Mr. An was the executive director and
chief executive officer of China Everbright Water Limited (the Company’s subsidiary and the shares of which are
listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”)). Prior to joining the Group, Mr. An worked at the Municipal General Office of Jingzhou, Hubei
Province, China Everbright Bank Company Limited (the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange and
Shanghai Stock Exchange) and Guangdong Technology Venture Capital Group Ltd. Mr. An joined the Board in
October 2021.

ZEMELE

HITEF  BIRAFRUBAE

REL20  RARFMITES ~ BEERVBRE RIREFEETRREEZEGIFEZESZREKE - L
EAEEETHBERRMNES - ZAEEGERMFUE HEREREE MEEENRAREEI MAGEENER - &
RAEEEABIHERELTE  TATEARKMEIFEME 6 LB EMAEETE - 2 EEBEF BN AKEHR
RARHARRIZWEB AR ERNRIIKESKSMERAREELRARSMBER AR (TR L) AT
EERAE - EMARKENUR - REEGERILEFMTEZRAE - PRI ANRITRO AR QR (E R OB AT &
PBESXSMLET)  BEREEMARKESEER ZEER _Z_—FTAMAEERE -

Mr. FAN YAN HOK PHILIP

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Aged 73, is the Independent Non-executive Director of the Company, the Chairman of the Risk Management
Committee of the Board, and the Member of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee of the Board. Mr. Fan is an independent non-executive director of the following Hong
Kong listed public companies, namely Hysan Development Company Limited, First Pacific Company Limited and
China Aircraft Leasing Group Holdings Limited. Mr. Fan is also an external director of Sumida Corporation (the
shares of which are listed on Tokyo Stock Exchange). Mr. Fan was formerly an independent director of Goodman
Group, an Australian listed company and a member of the Asian Advisory Committee of AustralianSuper, a
pension fund established in Australia until November 2017 and February 2017 respectively. He was also formerly
an independent non-executive director of PFC Device Inc. (the shares of which are listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited) until March 2022. Mr. Fan holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Industrial Engineering, a Master’s
Degree in Operations Research from Stanford University and a Master’s Degree in Management Science from
Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Before joining the Company in 1997, he was an executive director of
CITIC Pacific Limited in charge of industrial projects in China. Mr. Fan joined the Board in November 1997 and
was re-designated as a Non-executive Director and an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in
January 2010 and December 2012 respectively.

BB

BHNTEE

WET35 - AARRAIZBYIENTES EFTSETARTEZECXRE  URBEZRZES  FTHEZES2RIRERZE
E@7EEKE - BEEREREB LT AR(AIFEREEBRAG F—ATERQALFERMKEEEEZRE
RAFDKBLERNTES - BARENABEEGRASH(ERNVARERBLZRZIMLT)MINBES - BEAEEE
Goodman Group (—ZHKBAFE LR AR) KB EFE RAustralianSuper (—HKASRAF| B FRAES )BT
NEAEEEKE  PHEE-T—+tF+—AR-ZT—+tF Al - BAENEETHETHEERATNERDRE
B AXTGIBR AT LM NBIIERNTESE BE S —F At - BAERALABARETIRELH - £ B
AREFESETHRMEETIEREEMNEELTHM - E—NNEFEMARRAZAH  BEEREREERATANTE
FFERRIEXED - BAER-—NANEFT—ANAESE  UHIR-ZZE—ZEF-ART——F+-AHFE
RANEZIFRITEERBIIEPNTES o
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Mr. ZHAI HAITAO

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Aged 54, is the Independent Non-executive Director of the Company, the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee of the Board, and the Member of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of
the Board. He is also an independent non-executive director of China Everbright Water Limited (the Company’s
subsidiary and the shares of which are listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited and The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)) and an independent non-executive director of
China Life Insurance Company Limited (the shares of which are listed on New York Stock Exchange, the Stock
Exchange and Shanghai Stock Exchange). Mr. Zhai is the President and Partner of Primavera Capital Group. He
was formerly a Managing Director of Goldman Sachs (Asia) LLC and Chief Representative of Goldman Sachs
Beijing Office. Prior to joining Goldman Sachs, Mr. Zhai worked at the International Department of the People’s
Bank of China in Beijing, and was Deputy Representative of the People’s Bank of China Representative Office
for the Americas based in New York. He holds a Master’s Degree in International Relations from Columbia
University, a Master of Business Administration Degree from New York University and a Bachelor of Arts Degree
in Economics from Peking University. He has extensive experience and knowledge in banking, capital market and
management. Mr. Zhai joined the Board in January 2011.

B ESL

BUIRITEE

REB4ER » BARBIZEBYFENTES  EETLE (FTHEESXR  ULKEZRZESRARRZETZEEKE - &
MAEFBXAKBERAT(ARRZHWEBAR  HRORIMEBHFIZGMERABREEHAIZAERAE ([H
RETD) EM B IERTESURTEAZRERMDER AR (EBROREANELFL ST BRIk EESEFR ST
ETOBIERITES  c BAERBTEELRASENEERAYA - FEARSR(EM EREARFESTLLERS
BEELRARREERAR HEBRSR A  BRESEBRPEARRITRITEER  UEEREHFRAREBITEE
MREE(HOBIRE - BEEETRH T ASEBBEEELT  AOAS2IHERELT  URIERASBLHEEEL - ff
RERTT - BEAMBRCEEE T ARBEEENEHRLNG - BAERZTE—F—AMAZESEE -

Annual Report 2022 | —Z = — 443§

111



12

Directors and Senior Management EER SR EEAE

Mr. SUO XUQUAN

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Aged 66, is the Independent Non-executive Director of the Company, and the Member of each of the
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Risk Management Committee of the Board. Mr.
Suo is an independent director of CITIC Bank International (China) Limited, Northking Information Technology
Co., Ltd.* (A4t A 15 B HE A% 1) B FR A 7)) (the shares of which are listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange) and PICC
Asset Management Company Limited* (F Bl AR EEE AR A F]). Mr. Suo is a part-time professor of Business
School of China University of Political Science and Law. Mr. Suo was an independent director of China Satellite
Communications Co., Ltd.* (FEEBEERD AR A F]) (the shares of which are listed on Shanghai Stock
Exchange) and Bank of Zhangjiakou Co., Ltd.* ((R5 B #R1T7% {7 B R 2 7). He was the general manager of Credit
Extension Approval Department of Head Office of Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited (“ICBC”, the
shares of which are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and Shanghai Stock Exchange) prior
to his retirement from the ICBC group after 33 years of services. He also worked in the Shaanxi Branch of the
People’s Bank of China before joining the ICBC Group. Mr. Suo graduated from on-job postgraduate class of
Economics and Management in the Correspondence College of Central Party School of the Communist Party of
China, and he is a senior economist and expert entitled to special allowance of the State Council. Mr. Suo has
over 37 years of relevant banking experience and has extensive experience in bank credit management and bank
credit risk management. He has expertise in business operation and financial analysis. Mr. Suo joined the Board
in August 2018.

KR E

HUINTEF

WEEORE * RARRIZBIUINTES  UNEZGHE THFMNEES REZEGNAREEZEGVREKE - &R
FERPERTBEKR(FBR)AERAR  RIEFEERMBRHERAB(EROVARINEZZSGM LT RTFBEAREE
EBERAAZEBILIES - REFARPREBUZREFNER B ARBHEK - REAQEPREFBEERMERAR(H
ROV EBEFRGMEM)ARRARITROBRABIZELES - BRIEBRBR=ZT=2F2FBEITHRITEERIK
Al BEPBEIERTARAR(HBEIERT]  EROVREBHMEXIABERARR EEESFRX S ET)BITE
EEMNIALIE - BRMARBEIFHRITEEZAIABRABIARBITREEDITER - REENPHPRERHE
BEREBEEREXERMARNENER  ReMRBEMEEATBEBEBREBARREUER - REEEFE=TLFR
THELR  REBTEEEERBITEARBREEFALREs  EEIRCELERVBINER - REERZE
—NFNAMAEESE -

*  For identification purpose only
Y ERBFIES
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Ms. LI SHUK YIN, EDWINA

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Former name Ms. Li Shuk Yin, aged 60, is the Independent Non-executive Director of the Company, the
Chairman of the Audit Committee of the Board, and the Member of each of the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Risk Management Committee of the Board. Ms. Li is an independent non-
executive director of Bank of Zhengzhou Co., Ltd. (the shares of which are listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange") and Shenzhen Stock Exchange) and China CITIC Bank International
Limited. Ms. Li is currently an external supervisor of PICC Property and Casualty Company Limited (the shares of
which are listed on the Stock Exchange). Ms. Li is a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ms. Li formerly worked in KPMG
from 1994 with her last role as the partner in charge of KPMG China’s financial services assurance team until
her retirement in March 2018. Ms. Li has significant experience in accounting, capital market, market entrance,
regulatory compliance related internal control and risk management in Hong Kong and China. Prior to joining
KPMG, Ms. Li qualified as a Chartered Accountant with a large multinational accounting firm and worked as
controller with a real estate company and a financial services group in London. Ms. Li holds a Bachelor’s degree
with Honours in Accountancy from University of Exeter, England, a Postgraduate Diploma in Enterprise Risk
Management from HKU SPACE and a Master of Science Degree in Risk Management from Glasgow Caledonian
University, United Kingdom. She is also a director of Elite Beam Limited. Ms. Li joined the Board in May 2022.

FHELZ L

BUIRTEE

RF6ORE ' BARARZBUIIRNTESRE  EFCRTEXZESTER  ULFHNEZES  RIAZESGMAREREZ
BEZEAKE - ZRTAHBMNBTROGERAGT(EBRMDREBHERZMERAR (B RFNBHR BT
) ERERT(EBE)ARATNEYIIFNTES - TLTHEITFEARMERBRMD AR QR (ERRHRB A £
TIMIINBESR - THU T AREHELERTFISHMASREASHAASEREE - T8 - N NEFEERR
ESHETMESMIEEE]) B2 T \FZARKIAEFTHTHSRREESTETEARA - =L HE
LEMmBHENFEGH - EAME > MSHAN - EEARARNOASEHANERERELH - MARBE 2/ - Tt
FRERE—RARERGTMEFMTREK ARSI URARE " FREHENCRRESERETHFEE
AN BELUITHERARTERASB I BLELL  BEASEEEECERMGERNREIERE R KRB A A=
RHZRLTKNEREGEIBE L4 - % IFAElite Beam LimitedE % - 2L +R B -_—_FRAMAEZESTE -

Ms. LI CHUNJU

VICE PRESIDENT

aged 56, is the Vice President of the Company and the Member of the Risk Management Committee of the
Board. Ms. Li was the chairman of Everbright Greenergy and Lighting (Shenzhen) Limited* (the Company’s
subsidiary). Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Li was the general manager of several departments, including the
human resources, legal and compliance, retail business and electronic banking departments, in the Shenzhen
Branch of China Everbright Bank Company Limited (the shares of which are listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited and Shanghai Stock Exchange) as well as the vice president of Everbright Xinglong Trust Co.,
Ltd. Ms. Li graduated from Shanxi Educational College. She has extensive experience in finance. Ms. Li joined
the Group in November 2018.

FEHLL

=EGE

BREL6R  RARARAENEEEE TAREELZBENKE - TRLBEXAREBEBACRIDBR AR (KR M
BRABDWESR - FRETEMAREER - SEBTPERAARTROARIBD(EBRNNEEBERIMER AN
EBESZGMEM)RINDITANEBIRE  ZRERE  TEEBBREFRITHELE - ULAAEEEEERE
ERAEAR - FUIEENLUAEHESMENAE - FAGLEENERTELER  FREINR T N\F+— AN
AREHE -

*

For identification purpose only

* o EBHRBFIEE
Annual Report 2022 | —Z = — 443§

13



114

Directors and Senior Management EER SR EEAE

Mr. YANG SHIQIAO

VICE PRESIDENT

aged 54, is the Vice President of the Company. Mr. Yang is also the chairman of Everbright Environmental
Technical Equipment (Changzhou) Limited* (“Equipment Changzhou”) and Everbright Greenergy and Lighting
(Shenzhen) Limited* (both being the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary), as well as a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group. Previously, Mr. Yang was appointed as the chief executive officer of Everbright
Envirotech (China) Limited* and Equipment Changzhou, the chairman and chief executive officer of Everbright
Ecological Resources (Shenzhen) Limited*, the deputy general manager of Everbright Environmental Protection
(China) Limited* (“EEP China”), the Special Assistant to Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and the
general manager of the Department of Project Management and Environment Management under EEP China.
Mr. Yang holds a Master’s degree in Environmental Science and Engineering from Tsinghua University. He is
a Senior Engineer with extensive experience in operational management, project management and corporate
management. Mr. Yang joined the Group in October 2004.

B sELE

HI#EE

RESAR  RARFEEE - BERENRARBMBRRERREAEMEE(FM)BRIB(TREFEM ) R KEEE
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Ms. POON YUEN LING

COMPANY SECRETARY

aged 55, is the Company Secretary of the Company. She is a fellow member of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries) and The Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators). She joined
the Group in April 1994, with over 25 years of experience in company secretarial affairs.
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Report of the Directors EE&€#%

The directors (the “Director(s)”) of China Everbright
Environment Group Limited (the “Company”) present this
Annual Report together with the audited financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

The Company is a company incorporated and domiciled in
Hong Kong with limited liability and has its registered office and
principal place of business at Room 2703, 27th Floor, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities and other particulars of the principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 52 to the financial statements.

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical
locations of the operations of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) during the financial year are set out in note 4 to
the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year and
a discussion on the Group’s future business development
are provided in the Chairman’s Statement and Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 10 to 66 of this Annual
Report. In particular, description of principal risks and
uncertainties faced by the Group can be found in the section
headed “Principal Risks and Uncertainties” in the Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 54 to 62. An analysis of the
Group’s performance during the year using key performance
indicators by each business sector can be found on pages
29 to 47 of the Management Discussion and Analysis. In
addition, discussions on the Group’s environmental policies
and performance, relationships with its key stakeholders
and compliance with relevant laws and regulations which
have a significant impact on the Group are provided in
the 2022 Sustainability Report of the Company which is
available for download at the website of the Company under
“CSR>Sustainability Report” section.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the major customers and
suppliers of the Group respectively during the financial year is
as follows:

FEEFPRMHER
AEERAVBRFEZTEREP REEHER A
™

Percentage of
the Group’s total
EAREETIREZAD L

Revenue Purchases

e HIBRE

The largest customer RARF 8% -
Five largest customers in aggregate AREFPEE 20% -
The largest supplier HAMER - 3%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate A ARHEREET - 13%

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) (which, to
the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company’s total number of issued shares) had any beneficial
interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Material related party transactions entered into by the
Group during the year are set out in note 44 to the financial
statements. As for those material related party transactions
that set out in note 44 to the financial statements also
constituted continuing connected transactions under Chapter
14A of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”), the Company has complied with the
relevant disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules during the year, and the details of
which have been disclosed in the below section “Continuing
Connected Transactions”. Other related party transactions do
not constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group had the following transactions
which constituted continuing connected transactions of the
Company, details of which are disclosed in compliance with
the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Continuing Connected Transactions

1.

Employee healthcare protection services agreement
(the “2021 Employee Healthcare Protection Services
Agreement”) entered into between Everbright
Environmental Protection (China) Limited™* ("EEP China”,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), and Sun
Life Everbright Life Insurance Co., Ltd. (“Sun Life
Everbright”)

On 22 December 2021, EEP China and Sun Life
Everbright entered into the 2021 Employee Healthcare
Protection Services Agreement, pursuant to which,
Sun Life Everbright would provide employee healthcare
protection services for the years of 2021 and 2022 to EEP
China, which included (1) management and operation
of the Healthcare Protection Entrusted Management
Scheme (BEREZEEE:TE]) (the “EHP Scheme”)
established by EEP China for the employees (and their
respective family members) designated by EEP China (the
“Designated Employees”); and (2) provision of insurance
services and products for the Long-term Supplemental
Medical Insurance Protection Scheme (& Efffi 7t 22 &= 1% [
{RBE5TEl) established by EEP China for the Designated
Employees (the “EMI Scheme”). The Directors have
determined the annual caps for the 2021 Employee
Healthcare Protection Services Agreement with reference
to a number of factors, including (i) the recurring one-
year medical insurance fee paid by EEP China; (ii) the
current number and the expected increase of Designated
Employees at that time; and (i) various insurance products
and services to be provided by Sun Life Everbright and
their respective coverage. China Everbright Group Ltd.
(“China Everbright Group”) is a controlling shareholder of
the Company, and holds 50% equity interests in Sun Life
Everbright. Therefore, Sun Life Everbright is an associate
of China Everbright Group, and is a connected person
of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under the
aforesaid agreement constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Company. Details are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 22 December 2021.

*  For identification purpose only
* BHEFIES
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)

1.

2021 Employee Healthcare Protection Services
Agreement entered into between EEP China, and Sun
Life Everbright (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the transaction
amount of the continuing connected transactions
contemplated by the Group and Sun Life Everbright
(which included (i) the maximum principal deposited
under the EHP Scheme and the relevant management
fee; (i) the insurance fees under the EMI Scheme; and
(iii) the recurring one-year medical insurance fee) was
RMB84,703,000 (equivalent to HK$99,229,000). This
amount was below the annual cap of RMB120,000,000
for the year ended 31 December 2022. The annual caps
in respect of the 2021 Employee Healthcare Protection
Services Agreement have taken into account and included
the respective annual caps applicable to China Everbright
Greentech Limited (“Everbright Greentech”, a subsidiary
of the Company listed on the Stock Exchange) and China
Everbright Water Limited (“Everbright Water”, a subsidiary
of the Company listed on the Stock Exchange and
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited).

On 22 December 2021, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of each of Everbright Greentech and Everbright
Water entered into the employee healthcare protection
services agreement with Sun Life Everbright respectively,
pursuant to which, Sun Life Everbright would provide
employee healthcare protection services to them for
the years of 2021 and 2022. Details are set out in
the respective companies’ announcements dated 22
December 2021.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)
2. The deposit services master agreement (the “2019

Deposit Services Master Agreement”) and the loan
services master agreement (the “2019 Loan Services
Master Agreement”) entered into between the Company
and China Everbright Group

On 6 December 2019, the Company entered into the 2019
Deposit Services Master Agreement and the 2019 Loan
Services Master Agreement with China Everbright Group,
pursuant to which China Everbright Group would, through
its associate, China Everbright Bank Company Limited
(“CE Bank”), provide deposit, loan and related services to
the Group for the three years ended 31 December 2020,
2021 and 2022. China Everbright Group is a controlling
shareholder and a connected person of the Company.
Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under the
following master agreements constituted continuing
connected transactions of the Company:

(@) The 2019 Deposit Services Master Agreement shall
be on a non-exclusive basis and the Company was
at liberty to obtain deposit services from other third
parties. China Everbright Group shall procure CE Bank
to provide to the Group deposit services (including
current and fixed term deposit) in accordance with
rules and regulations prescribed by the People’s
Bank of China (the “PBOC”) and/or other relevant
rules and regulations within or outside the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”). The deposit services
to be provided by China Everbright Group shall be
on normal commercial terms and on terms no less
favourable than the terms available to the Group from
independent third parties.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
maximum daily closing balance of the Group’s
deposits (including interests accrued thereon)
placed in CE Bank amounted to HK$1,585,966,000.
This amount was below the annual cap of
HK$1,800,000,000 for the year ended 31 December
2022.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)

2. The 2019 Deposit Services Master Agreement and the
2019 Loan Services Master Agreement entered into
between the Company and China Everbright Group
(continued)

(b) The 2019 Loan Services Master Agreement shall be

on a non-exclusive basis and the Company was at
liberty to obtain loan services from other third parties.
China Everbright Group shall procure CE Bank to
provide loans (including revolving credit facility and
fixed term loan) to the Group in accordance with
rules and regulations prescribed by the PBOC and/or
other relevant rules and regulations within or outside
the PRC. The loans services to be provided by China
Everbright Group shall be on normal commercial
terms and on terms no less favourable than the terms
available to the Group from independent third parties.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
maximum daily closing balance of the Group’s loans
(excluding loans which do not require security over the
assets of the Group) provided by CE Bank amounted
to HK$241,230,000. This amount was below the
annual cap of HK$1,800,000,000 for the year ended
31 December 2022.

The annual caps in respect of the 2019 Deposit
Services Master Agreement and the 2019 Loan
Services Master Agreement have taken into account
and included the respective annual caps applicable
to Everbright Greentech and Everbright Water. On 22
December 2021, Everbright Water entered into the
deposit services framework agreement and the loan
services framework agreement with China Everbright
Group, pursuant to which, China Everbright Group
would procure CE Bank to provide deposit, loan and
related services to Everbright Water for the year ended
31 December 2022. Details are set out in Everbright
Water’s announcement dated 22 December 2021.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)
2. The 2019 Deposit Services Master Agreement and the

FER (&)
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2019 Loan Services Master Agreement entered into

between the Company and China Everbright Group

(continued)

(b) (continued)
On 6 December 2019, Everbright Greentech entered
into the deposit services master agreement and the
loan services master agreement with China Everbright
Group, pursuant to which, China Everbright Group
would procure CE Bank to provide deposit, loan
and related services to Everbright Greentech for the
three years ended 31 December 2020, 2021 and
2022. Details are set out in Everbright Greentech’s
announcement dated 6 December 2019.

The various master agreements (the “2022 Master
Agreements”) entered into between the Company and
China Everbright Group

On 15 December 2022, the Company and China
Everbright Group entered into below master agreements
with effect from 1 January 2023. China Everbright Group
is a controlling shareholder of the Company, therefore,
China Everbright Group and its associates, including CE
Bank, Sun Life Everbright, Everbright Securities Company
Limited” (“EB Securities”) and China Everbright Real Estate
Co., Ltd.* (“CE Real Estate”), are connected persons of
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under the
following 2022 Master Agreements constitute continuing
connected transactions of the Company:

(@) the deposit services master agreement and the loan
services master agreement, pursuant to which, China
Everbright Group has agreed to procure CE Bank
to provide deposit services and loan services to the
Group, in accordance with the terms thereunder for
the three years from 1 January 2023 to 31 December
2025;
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)

3. The 2022 Master Agreements entered into between the

Company and China Everbright Group (continued)

(b) the employee healthcare protection services master

agreement, pursuant to which, China Everbright Group
has agreed to procure its associates, including but not
limited to Sun Life Everbright and its associates, to
provide the EHP Scheme, the EMI Scheme and other
employee healthcare protection services to the Group,
in accordance with the terms thereunder for the three
years from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025;

underwriting and advisory services master agreement,
pursuant to which China Everbright Group has
agreed to procure its associates, including but not
limited to EB Securities and its associates, to provide
underwriting and advisory services to the Group, in
accordance with the terms thereunder for the three
years from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025; and

property management services master agreement,
pursuant to which China Everbright Group has agreed
to procure its associates, including but not limited
to CE Real Estate and its associates, to provide
sanitation, maintenance, security, catering and other
property management services to the Group, in
accordance with the terms thereunder for the three
years from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025.

Details are set out in the Company’s announcement dated
15 December 2022.

Save for the information disclosed above, during the year,
the Company did not conduct or enter into any other
transactions which constituted connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions that were subject to
reporting requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)

The Independent Non-executive Directors (the “INED(s)”) have
reviewed the above continuing connected transactions and
confirmed that such transactions were:

e entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group;

e conducted either on normal commercial terms or, if
there are not sufficient comparable transactions to judge
whether they are on normal commercial terms, on terms no
less favourable to the Group than terms available to or from
independent third parties; and

e in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Company and its Shareholders as a whole.

Report of the Auditor

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to
report to the Group’s continuing connected transactions
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other
than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Ernst & Young has issued its unmodified
letter containing the findings and conclusions in respect of
the continuing connected transactions disclosed in section (1)
and (2) above to the Board in accordance with Rule 14A.56
of the Listing Rules and confirming that nothing has come
to its attention that causes it to believe that the disclosed
continuing connected transactions: (i) have not been approved
by the Board; (ii) were not entered into, in all material respects,
in accordance with the relevant agreements governing the
transactions; and (iii) have exceeded the annual caps as set by
the Company. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided
by the Company to the Stock Exchange.
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RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022
and the Group’s financial position as at that date are set out in
the financial statements on pages 143 to 349.

FINAL DIVIDEND

An interim dividend of HK15.0 cents per share (2021: HK19.0
cents per share) was paid by the Company on 6 October 2022.
The board of Directors (the “Board”) has recommended the
payment of a final dividend of HK9.0 cents per share (2021:
HK15.0 cents per share) for the year ended 31 December
2022.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the aggregate amount of reserves
available for distribution to equity holders of the Company,
as calculated under the provisions of sections 291, 297
and 299 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), was HK$3,466,933,000 (2021:
HK$6,124,314,000). After the reporting period, the Directors
proposed a final dividend of HK9.0 cents per share (2021:
HK15.0 cents per share), amounting to HK$552,868,000
(2021: HK$921,446,000).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
Charitable donations made by the Group during the year
amounted to HK$3,515,000 (2021: HK$9,734,000).

SHARE CAPITAL

There were no movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year. Details of the share capital of the Company are
set out in note 34 to the financial statements.

DEBENTURES ISSUED

On 19 April 2022, the Company has completed the issuance
of the 2022 Perpetual Medium-term Notes (Series 1) in the
National Inter-bank Bond Market of the PRC. The aggregate
issuance amount was RMB1.5 billion with an interest rate of
3.47% per annum. The Company has received a consideration
of RMB1.5 billion and the proceeds were used for repayment
of the Group’s interest-bearing debts. Details are set out in
the Company’s announcements dated 18 February 2022, 30
March 2022 and 21 April 2022.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this Annual
Report were:

Executive directors:
Huang Haiqging (Chairman of the Board)
(Appointed on 18 June 2022)
Luan Zusheng (Chief Executive Officer)
Hu Yanguo (Vice President)
Qian Xiaodong (Vice President)
An Xuesong (Vice President and Chief Financial Officer)
Wang Tianyi (Chairman of the Board)
(Resigned on 18 June 2022)

Independent non-executive directors:

Fan Yan Hok, Philip

Zhai Haitao

Suo Xuquan

Li Shuk Yin, Edwina (Appointed on 18 May 2022)
Mar Selwyn (Resigned on 18 May 2022)

In accordance with articles 77, 78 and 79 of the Company’s
articles of association (the “Articles of Association”), Mr. Huang
Haiging, Mr. Hu Yanguo, Mr. Qian Xiaodong and Mr. Fan Yan
Hok, Philip shall retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company (the “2023 AGM”) and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The INEDs are appointed for a specific term, subject to re-
election. The current INEDs hold office for a term from
1 January 2022 until the end of the annual general meeting of
the Company to be held in 2024. Ms. Li Shuk Yin, Edwina, the
INED, hold office for a term from 18 May 2022 until the end of
the annual general meeting of the Company to be held in 2024.
They are all subject to retirement by rotation in accordance
with the Articles of Association as indicated above.

A list of names of all the directors of the Company’s
subsidiaries during the year and up to the date of this
Report are available on the website of the Company
www.cebenvironment.com under the “Directors & Senior
Management” section.
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CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes
in information of the Directors since the date of the Company’s
2022 interim report are as follows:

Mr. Suo Xuquan, an INED, ceased to be an independent
director of Bank of Zhangjiakou Co., Ltd.* (385K L R1TIXID A
R~ 7] ) with effect from 22 September 2022,

Ms. Li Shuk Yin, Edwina, an INED, was appointed as an
external supervisor of PICC Property and Casualty Company
Limited (the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange)
with effect from 31 January 2023.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

During the year under review, save as disclosed under
the paragraph headed "Connected Transactions" in this
Report, the Company or its subsidiaries and a controlling
shareholder or its subsidiaries did not enter into any contract of
significance.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2023 AGM has
an unexpired service contract which is not terminable by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without
payment of compensation, other than normal statutory
compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.

*  For identification purpose only
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and the Company’s chief executives and
their respective associates in shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and/or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”)) as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of the Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) were as
follows:

EE=ERESITTRABERD - HERD
KREFREE 2 EmMIXR

R-ZZE-_—F+-A=+—H BFERARFZ
BERTTBRABRESEZSEBEALIRARF
R/SEAAMAEEE (TR R(BHFRBEK
BIY(TCBHAEH D) EXVES) Z B - HHER G,
MEEFHEALHN AR RILR(GESIEN ) FE352
BERTABEZECMANERSARE - RE
(CEMHRBDMEETFE EMBEITAESHETE
HFRBEZESTAN([CZESFAD ) BHG AR
BIMEE R TR SRR T

Long position in shares of the Company REQXBRGBZHFR
Approximate
Number of  percentage of
shares held total issued
Nature of (ordinary shares) shares
Name of Director Capacity interest BEZIROHEE #MEEETRD
e 4% Eaty (Eimiy) #EEH LD
Fan Yan Hok, Philip Beneficial Owner Personal 11,154,810 0.18%
B EnEAA A
Note: Based on 6,142,975,292 shares of the Company in issue as at 31 Mfizx: BERA-Z-_—_F+-_A=1+—HBHAQF2 &

December 2022.

TR176,142,975,292/% 5+ & ©
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ EENRSTRABERD - HERD
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN REFHHEE 2R MKR (&)

SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (continued)

Long position in shares of Everbright Greentech, a REATZ LTHBARAXKREECRERGD Z
listed subsidiary of the Company e

Approximate
Number of  percentage of

shares held total issued

Nature of (ordinary shares) shares (M

Name of Director Capacity interest BEZIROHEE #HMEEETRD

BENA 4% ‘mtE (Bimik) #EEILE

Hu Yanguo Beneficial Owner Personal 287,000 0.01%
HAAEEY ExEEA A

Qian Xiaodong Beneficial Owner Personal 242,000 0.01%
IR EnfEBA A

Fan Yan Hok, Philip Beneficial Owner Personal 100,494 Below 0.01%

B EREBA A 1£720.01%

Note: Based on 2,066,078,000 shares of Everbright Greentech in issue  Fisr: HBIER T -——F+ - B=+—HH K ALZEBIE
as at 31 December 2022. R BT 2,066,078,000% 51 & ©

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none [ FXFratEI R-E - —_F+-_H=+—
of the Directors and chief executives of the Company and B @ EEZERARTSESTHAERFRER A 2
their respective associates had interests or short positions 2 A +#EAEARNRQ T EEMBE B (EE R
in shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company, (&EAHEHYEXVER) 2 I&H ~ BERH X ESF
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of EABRIE(E LD Y F32E BT ABERZE
Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to A ZREZFI AR - HIBE GRESTRY B
be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO, or ANABIREZFFZERIOKE ©

as otherwise required to be notified to the Company and the

Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year under review was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries, holding companies or fellow
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2022, the following persons (other than any
Directors or chief executives of the Company) were substantial
Shareholders and had interests or short positions in shares or
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange:

EERBRDNETZET

REBEFA - ARF - HEAHBAR - ZBRA
Ak F R B AR E2EERLH - BEES
AHEBEARBRETAEMEABRROKES
M ER{S a8 o

TERRREHAMA TR D RKAEERD
B MUK R

R-ZZE-_—F+-A=+—H I AT(EM
EERARARRTBRABRIN BEERE -
WA R R BB D P HERE(ES
&0 )5 336 1K A F 2 B RMANEME AR T
SREEZFTERE RS SR B AT ¢

Number of long
position shares/

underlying long Approximate

position shares percentage of

(ordinary shares) total issued

frekG/ shares

Name of company Capacity Nature of interest HEFERNER HEB BRI

NGER! &1p EmitE (F@k)  sgaspeE

Central Huijin Investment Ltd. (“Huijin”)rt @ Interest of controlled Corporate interest 2,646,233,137 43.08%
HRESHREEREFAR([ESR]) M= corporation NAlEd

RS ARRER
China Everbright Group (e @) Interest of controlled Corporate interest 2,646,233,137 43.08%

1:1:1 %j{%@(ﬂ’ﬁﬂsi)

corporation
b NGl 4

NAlEd
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
(continued)

Notes:

(1) Based on 6,142,975,292 shares of the Company in issue as at 31
December 2022.

(2) Huijin is indirectly wholly-owned by the State Council of the PRC
and holds 63.16% equity interests of China Everbright Group. It is
deemed to be interested in the 2,646,233,137 shares of the Company
indirectly held by China Everbright Group.

(38) China Everbright Group, through its direct wholly-owned subsidiary,
China Everbright Holdings Company Limited (“CE Hong Kong”),
indirectly wholly-owns Guildford Limited (“Guildford”) and Everbright
Investment & Management Limited (“EIM”), respectively. Guildford
directly holds 2,430,442,287 shares of the Company and EIM directly
holds 215,790,850 shares of the Company. Accordingly, China
Everbright Group is deemed to be interested in the 2,646,233,137
shares of the Company directly held by Guildford and EIM in total.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the
Company had not been notified of any other persons (other
than the Directors or chief executives of the Company or
substantial Shareholders) who had interests or short positions
in shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under section
336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTIONS SCHEME
The Group has no share option scheme during the year under
review.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the
latest practicable date of this Annual Report, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Articles of Association provides that every Director shall
be indemnified out of the funds of the Company against all
liabilities incurred by him/her in relation to the Company in
defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which
judgement is given in his/her favour, or in which he/she is
acquitted. In addition, liability insurance for the Directors and
senior management of the Company is maintained by the
Company with appropriate coverage for certain legal actions
against the Directors and senior management of the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year
and subsisted at the end of the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

On 22 December 2021, the employee healthcare protection
services agreement was entered into between EEP China and
Sun Life Everbright. The agreement expired on 31 December
2022. Details are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 22 December 2021. On 15 December 2022, the
employee healthcare protection services master agreement
was entered into between the Company and China Everbright
Group, pursuant to which, China Everbright Group has agreed
to procure its associates, including but not limited to Sun
Life Everbright and its associates, to provide the Healthcare
Protection Entrusted Management Scheme, the Long-term
Supplemental Medical Insurance Protection Scheme and
other employee healthcare protection services to the Group.
Details are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 15
December 2022. Mr. Luan Zusheng, the Executive Director
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, has abstained
from voting to approve the agreements and the annual caps
thereunder in the Board meetings due to the fact that he is a
director of Sun Life Everbright.

Save as disclosed above, there was no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance subsisting during or at
the end of the year in which a Director or an entity connected
with a Director is or was materially interested, either directly or
indirectly.

INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at the date of this Annual Report, as far as the Directors are
aware of, none of the Directors or their respective associates
had any interests in a business which competes or may
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group or any other conflicts of interests with the Group.
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BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS
Details of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as
at 31 December 2022 are set out in note 29 to the financial
statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed
securities of the Company.

FIVE YEAR SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 350
and 351 of this Annual Report.

PROPERTIES

Particulars of the major properties of the Group are shown on
page 352 of this Annual Report.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Company provides retirement benefits to all local
eligible employees in Hong Kong under an approved defined
contribution provident fund (the “ORSO Scheme”). The
ORSO Scheme is administered by trustees, the majority of
which are independent, with its assets held separately from
those of the Company. The ORSO Scheme is funded by
contributions from employees and employer at 5% each based
on the monthly salaries of employees. Forfeited contribution
(i.e. the contribution handled by employers on behalf of
employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in such
contributions) may be used to reduce the existing level of
contribution by the Company. The Company’s cost in respect
of defined contribution plans for the year has been charged
to the profit or loss for the year. Forfeited contributions of
HK$297,493 were used to reduce the current year’s level of
contributions and no forfeited contribution was available at 31
December 2022 to reduce future years’ contributions.

As from 1 December 2000, the Group also operates a
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of
the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and not previously
covered by the ORSO Scheme. The MPF Scheme is a defined
contribution retirement scheme administered by independent
trustees. Under the Group’s MPF Scheme, the employer and
its employees are each required to make contributions to the
scheme at 10% and 5% of the employees’ relevant income,
respectively. Employees can choose to contribute with a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.

China Everbright Environment Group Limited | Bl K3EE (%£8) AR AR

RITERLEMBEE
AEER-_Z__F+A=T—HZRITER
REMEEFBEHN T EHRERME29 o

BEEBRIARNRZ FTES

FR - ARFREEANBARLERBE - HE
HBERIARNRR] 2R EHES °

AFEXERE
AEEMBEAEMREEZEEUAREER AR
BERRAFREBORFEIS1H

YES
AEEZETBYMEFBHNAFREIL2H -

RIRETE
ARBIEEMERBAMEEREERTERATE
BHALES ([BZERNGTENEOIGTE]) - B
FIRWETBEME B REREAN(KE D ABELE
AAERE  EEERARRZEESFHARBE -
1E B RIE F BRI SR IRET SR BIET B 45K -
DR ARE BEHMS% - Rz HR(BMEEER
BARFEFEEMBMELNZTE  AEERIEER
EREF) A BERERAGRFREZHK -
AARARFEZRERFTEGEINAE RN EBER A
B - SR U B 207,493 T E B RE R EE
T R E_—_F+_A=1+—H UE
R U AR R RT LA R PR 2R A 2 SREE o

BE-_ZTRFE+ A B AEBTEEES
BHMHAESHEENAZEEREKIESER
RERBEEBERAKEHEMFEIAZRER
HAEFEATESFTE([RERFE]) - BESD
FEABRBUETEATEZ TREEFURIKEE -
BEAEBENAEESFTSE  BEREESHAN
FrEIMER  HRBELFAEEEBALEZ10%
k5%  BEEHRAEEULABEASTAER
30,0007t & LR ©



RETIREMENT SCHEMES (continued)

The employees of the subsidiaries of the Company in the
PRC are members of the retirement schemes operated by the
local authorities. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a
certain percentage of their payroll to these schemes to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to these
schemes is the required contributions under the schemes.
The Group’s total contributions to these schemes charged to
the consolidated income statement during the year ended 31
December 2022 amounted to HK$386,274,000.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

In accordance with the independence guidelines set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Board is of the view that
all INEDs are independent and satisfy the requirements under
Rule 3.13 (notwithstanding that for Mr. Fan Yan Hok, Philip
under Rule 3.13(7) of the Listing Rules, he had been a Non-
executive Director prior to his re-designation as an INED) and
the Company has received an annual written confirmation of
independence from each of the INED pursuant to the Listing
Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant events of the Group after the reporting
period are set out in note 49 to the financial statements.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young will retire and, being eligible, offer itself for
reappointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of Ernst &
Young as the auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the
2023 AGM. The Company has not changed its auditor in any of
the preceding three years.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Huang Haiqing
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report
R CIE

P>
EY::

TO THE MEMBERS OF CHINA EVERBRIGHT
ENVIRONMENT GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
China Everbright Environment Group Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 143
to 349, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the
consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. For each matter below, our description of
how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
R G

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

FAsERT FIH(E)

BPCBITARNRE [ RHEPF 47 & HFHEK
BEREHEML | —HRABANEE - BEEH
ZEFHENAME - Bt - RANBAEEATR
J& R & B 5 R K EE L R RO RT (i T AR AV A2
FoBdEF(BREBATEENER)NE
R REMAERNGEEMBERROEAERR
PHRER -

Key audit matter

BEETSER

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

BANFTNAEEERESEE

Service concession arrangements

IR FFaFAE S LB

The Group has entered into Build-Operate-Transfer (“BOT”),
Transfer-Operate-Transfer (“TOT”) and Build-Operate-
Own (“BOO”) arrangements with local governments in
Mainland China in respect of its environmental energy
projects, environmental water projects and greentech
projects. The assessment on whether the BOT, TOT and
BOO arrangements fall within the scope of HK(IFRIC)
Interpretation 12 Service Concession Arrangements
requires significant management judgement. Management’s
assessment included whether the grantors control or
regulate what services the Group must provide with the
infrastructure, to whom it must provide them, and at what
price; and whether the grantors control, through ownership,
beneficial entittement or otherwise, any significant residual
interest in the infrastructure at the end of the term of the
arrangements.

ESEMETRRERER - BRKBIER RFEIRRER
EPEAEEWRNI L EZE - EL - BB ([BOT]) &
B-EBE-EB(TOT)) kgE—E% - %#4A([BOO) %
BE o EFHEBOT » TOTKBOOLZHE =R BB (E S (BRI
HERBZEQ)RE)F12% [ REFFASRLH I BEERNRN
o BEREERTERELERAL - ERENN EEREREAR
BiEHEE BSSEBENAERREMERENDRE - RS
IR R REREER - AREREAERBLHHNE BN
MR BERRBEMAERE EBEmaZAESCHEMAN - EHE
i SR b Y (A B A R BRI 25 ©

The details of the Group’s service concession arrangements
are disclosed in notes 3 and 52 to the financial statements.

BERENRGRHFEEEZEF BRI mRM FEI MM T

B2 FE °

We evaluated the management’s assessment
of the BOT, TOT and BOO arrangements of
the Group by reviewing and understanding
the terms of the respective agreements. In
particular, we evaluated the management’s
assessment as to whether the grantors
controlled or regulated what services the
Group must provide with the infrastructure,
to whom it must provide them, and at
what price. In addition, we evaluated the
management’s assessment as to whether the
grantors controlled any significant residual
interest in the infrastructure at the end of the
term of the arrangements, including whether
the infrastructure for the service concession
arrangements would be used for their entire or
substantially entire useful lives.
KMEEAERLTH BEHEEBOT - TOTK
BOOLBEM B A R - T EEIRELERE
ZHFER R - JhI2 - RPAETEEEE
MEREAASEGIREE SSEMNAERR
FPr AR A BRTE - BRAGROIR (8 R R UERAY
ERFREMENE - b - RPITREFHE
ERERREAEEBLENG R E R
15 I B RR e O o] B K TR BRE 25 P E Y AT
H(BREREEFCERETES R ERR
hti 2 A 0 H B A sl A B b B F] 6 AR A R
) e
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R CIE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

FAs TR FIR(E)

Key audit matter

BEETER

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

BRFT M REEFRETER

Revenue and profit recognition for construction services

BRI 0 W 2 B T TERE

Revenue arising from construction services is measured
based on the Group’s estimation of the fair value of
construction services and the progress of construction
work completed during the year. Significant judgement
is required to determine the fair value of construction
services which involves estimation of the total construction
costs and the margin of each project. The Group engaged
independent professional valuers to assist in the estimation
of the fair value of construction services. The progress of
construction work completion is estimated based on the
survey of work performed by independent surveyors with
relevant qualifications and industry experience. Judgement
is required in estimating the progress of construction work
completed.

RERGHEEN KRR SEEBEZRAFTEEREAAE
NERNZETIRTHERNE - ABETEERB AL ER -
FERELERHE - ET S RMAEFREER 2BEBKRER
MEE . BREDEEETEEGER DB G EERS
ZARME BETRTKEZENREAHEBER RITEKR
ZEBAEMBEET IR EMMEE - EMFREIRE T
PXAEE R - 55 Z1E A -

The details of the Group’s revenue from construction
services in relation to its environmental energy projects,
environmental water projects and greentech projects are
disclosed in notes 2.4, 3 and 5 to the financial statements.
ESERERRERER  RRKKIER G ERRFRIERHE
BRERG O M am BRI Bk 2.4 - M3 RMES
BEE -

We evaluated the management’s measurement
of the revenue from construction services
by assessing the valuation methodology and
the key assumptions, such as margins, with
the assistance of our valuation specialists
who have made reference to the observable
market data and comparable companies in the
industry.

BN EEEEHRERBKEZFTE - 7
ERERMNGEEERZ BT - K2 EFH
RMSHBERERNTHER 2 AT - FFEHE
BREREFEZRE(HIM : AEFE) -

We also evaluated the management’s
assessment of the completion progress of
construction services by discussing the status
of significant projects under construction
with the management, including finance
and technical staff of the Group, as well as
examining independent surveyors’ reports.
We tested the underlying data adopted
by independent surveyors, which included
checking it against suppliers’ agreements and
invoices for construction costs of construction
work performed. We also understood and
reviewed the management’s process of
estimating the total budget cost and costs
to completion of incomplete construction
contracts.

HMTEEERE(EE BEENMBEEERN
AB)mEAZRTEENBRL  URER
BYRIEBRERE - EUEERERERERS
STEACE EPTERIRTAL o o - A2 RIHE L
REMARANEREIE  BEREETHR
ETRNREXN I ZHEHRERRRERER - 5
AN AFTRE T BRI AR E IR AT R T AR
EENMATEER AR R T TRKANEF
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Independent Auditor’s Report
R G

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

FAsERT EIH(E)

Key audit matter

BEETER

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

BMFTNREERREFETER

Impairment assessment of debtors

JEM IR I FEIREF I

Debtors of the Group amounted to HK$15,315,345,000,
after an impairment of HK$937,452,000, as at 31 December
2022. The management performed an impairment
assessment of debtors by applying the simplified approach
to provide for expected credit losses (“ECLs”), taking into
account the debtors’ credit rating, historical settlement
records, past experience and other factors. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment,
which involved significant management’s judgement and
estimation uncertainty.

RZEBEZZF+ZA=+—H  EBES5ENEKRERELEE
15,315,345,000 7T ( B #1 F #£ 18 78 #6937,452,0007T ) - B
BEREKERFIEL BT - AR A EASCEE AR
REEHEEER UL REBAZEETIR  BEEER
% BEKREEMER . BEEREEERHBAEEEERL
B EREER - WEEEEEARLHEIRSZHBEIAE AT
MZHERRELARE - MUy REREIREHE & EE T
TE 4 o

The details of the Group’s debtors are included in notes 3, 6
and 25 to the financial statements.
EEERKRERFNFBEHN M BRERNMES - M6 RMtsE
25 e

We evaluated the management’s impairment
assessment of debtors by understanding
and reviewing the management’s provision
matrix, testing the debtors' ageing analysis,
discussing with the management about
the status of significant overdue individual
debtors' balances, and reviewing the historical
settlement pattern of individual debtors.
We also reperformed the management’s
calculation of ECLs for debtors.
BPEEETHEEEREERE 2 BiEHER - 8
A WER KA AR AT - B IR A wm (B Bl &%
BRHNEKREFERNBER - AREREH
EBANBEEREN - FEEEEMENE
WEBR RAEIEAT AL < Lo - A E R B ERUER
RIEBEEEBRZHEME » RMATEBRE
TTEBE -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

BT EIR(E)

Key audit matter

BEETER

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

BRFT M REEFRETER

Impairment assessment of goodwill

BEFERR T

The Group is required to test goodwill acquired in business
combinations for impairment annually. The goodwill of
the Group amounted to HK$1,561,486,000, after an
impairment of HK$599,196,000, as at 31 December
2022 and was allocated to the relevant individual cash-
generating units (“CGUs”) or business segments. The
management’s impairment assessment of goodwill involved
the estimation of the recoverable amounts of the CGUs or
business segments to which the goodwill was allocated.
The recoverable amount of the Group’s goodwill as at
31 December 2022 was determined using a value in use
calculation. Significant management estimates were used
to determine the key assumptions, such as future revenue
growth rate, operating margin, terminal growth rate and
discount rate, that could be affected by expected future
market or economic conditions. The assessment process
also involved the identification of CGUs by management.
EEERBFRERAHMGORBEETRBIR - B
T _F+ZA=+—H EBEEENHEBRBEK
1,661,486,0007T ( E 1Bk #1878 % 599,196,0007T ) * HE
EoRzflnBY R et EEM([ReEESM ) HER
DE e EREETHRERBILSILHESERENR S
HEBUHEBSBOAIKRESEEL T - EEENHE
ER_ZE__F+_A=+—HBXAKESBEKAEAE
EFtEEKET  EREAERAEAGTREERELIER
& PIIARRWEERE KEMNEER  REPBRE KR
o MEEFFAREEIFAHRRKRTSHLBEBERALE LI
BB HAREPIEBSIR S EEEL -

The details of the Group’s goodwill are included in notes 3,
6 and 17 to the financial statements.
BERENHEFBHNIBEWMKRMTS - M6 RMIEE17 o

Our procedures to evaluate the management’s
impairment assessment of goodwill included:
AR THEEEERNBERBIGMETH
RFEE

— Assessing management’s identification of
CGUs based on the Group’s accounting
policies and our understanding of the
Group’s business;

- BE SEENSHBELREMAE &
EEBNTH THEBEHHRSLES
Rz E) R

— Assessing the value in use calculation
methodologies adopted by management;

- FMEEEEMRANEREENEE

— Assessing the key assumptions, including
future revenue growth rate, operating
margin, terminal growth rate and discount
rate, based on our knowledge of the
Group’s business and the industry. We
also involved our valuation specialists to
assist in the assessment of the above key
assumptions, which included reference
to the observable market data and
comparable companies in the industry;
and

- BEZRMYE EEEEBRBEBAITENHR
B AR EFERRX(BERKRRRER
K ENBEE  REAERERAFAX) -
BESN - BT HE R PR EEZER BT
MEREFERE  BEZZEAEEMSH
BRERNAHEBHAG : &

— Assessing the disclosures relating to
assumptions used in the impairment
assessment.

~ APEERFEIARHERTR 2 B A B 2R -
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Independent Auditor’s Report
R G

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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R CIE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

China Everbright Environment Group Limited | Bl K3EE (%£8) AR AR

SHE B R A MR BARENE
£

BFNER  REHEBSAMBERRES T FE
I AR RF S 88 BR T B B (E ] E K S8 AR PR AL ARG
AERE  THABRBRHEMSRNZBERE -
HAFRIREE (R RHEDI) SE4051KHRE » ElR
ERRERE o RIS AREREEMAE
B RATERABENARTAEMNEMALE
FEAEEREE -

BERERLSKFNRE - BETREFRERRES
EArEAETHENBERRERNERRA - 7
ARERL R LA R BRFF S BR 51 R - INRIR B IETAH
SEERBRL BRI K EA LKA R EHE MK
RERFEMELOQERE @ AlG R ERRA
AIRAAEEAX -

ERBEEBEENETENERS  BMAE

RTEXEAE  RETEREREE - HAK

o AR FHEARIKEFRERMEB RS M
BREFEEANBREAOER - R RRTT
BEitRRFARHZFAR - ARRETEM
EENESRE  FREAMBEANER -
REFFRIRE S R BR - E E5ER - &
BB - HEBRAREZE 2 £ FibREE
B3R R BRRF T 28 B0 B2 K 8 AR Rt 9 L B R
REERMEFMNEXFERRANER SR

THRERFHABAABERE - URFEE W
BFERF  BEEMYFYE BESEENAE
ENBERMEERER -

o FEEEMRANSITHRRNGEEREL
SRHE RBBERBEERMNEENY -



Independent Auditor’s Report
R G

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e FEvaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

SHE B R A MR BARENE
E(%&)
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R CIE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chung Yuk Man.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King’s Road

Quarry Bay

Hong Kong

30 March 2023
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Consolidated Income Statement

GEERR

Year ended 31 December 2022 E{ZE — T — — 4%+ - A=+—H I FE

2022 2021
—E-—fF T4
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
BsE BT T BT T
REVENUE W 5 37,321,229 49,895,384
Direct costs and operating expenses BEERARKEEER (22,956,630) (33,432,002)
Gross profit E7 14,364,599 16,463,382
Other revenue HAth e 6 1,170,414 917,338
Other income and gains/(losses), net Hbug A R lzs,”
(E518) 5% 6 (1,292,897) (623,055)
Administrative expenses THER (3,642,177) (3,530,840)
PROFIT FROM OPERATING EEE TS AT
ACTIVITIES 10,599,939 13,226,825
Finance costs M%ER 7 (3,488,268) (3,079,448)
Share of profits of joint ventures Frih& & ERT 113,859 81,837
Share of profits of associates Fr kB & A A & F 37,417 91,377
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BB BT & T 8 7,262,947 10,320,591
Income tax FTiSHi 11 (1,747,983) (2,200,248)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REZRAF 5,514,964 8,120,343
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: JEG &R -
Equity holders of the Company RARIERFFBA 4,601,939 6,804,099
Holders of perpetual capital instruments k& & AT EEG A 36 71,686 —
Non-controlling interests IR = 841,339 1,316,244
5,514,964 8,120,343
EARNINGS PER SHARE KAREZFFA A
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY B ERAF
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 13
— Basic and diluted —HEARREE HK74.91 HK110.76
cents &l cents Il
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

GEEEBRER

Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —E - —F+-_A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—E—-= T4
HK$’°000 HK$’000
BT T BT
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REE B F 5,514,964 8,120,343
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hpzmk A (&)
INCOME/(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that AHEHEAIgeEH D ER
may be reclassified to profit or loss in BaixzEMEH
subsequent periods: WA/ (E18)
Exchange differences: MEH AR
Exchange differences on translation BMEBIINEBEEZ
of foreign operations (i (8,638,088) 2,637,744
Reclassification adjustments for FARBRIELE
foreign operations deemed INEFBVEH HY
disposed of during the year EOEAR - (25,328)
Debt instruments at fair value through BAREFAEMEEEA
other comprehensive income: 21 IE‘IE_
Changes in fair value A E 61,221 (131,727)
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) RHEEHARKIAILEH D EE
that may be reclassified to i Ei%ZEIﬁﬂi@HﬁU\/
profit or loss in subsequent periods (E18)%8 (8,576,867) 2,480,689
Other comprehensive income that will RERHEITSERHEE
not be reclassified to profit or loss in BmikzHMEEKA :
subsequent periods:
Other financial assets measured at fair R AL EFT AR EEUA
value through other comprehensive HEZEMPBEE
income:
Changes in fair value NIRRT - 5,151
Net other comprehensive income that REZBETSENS>EE
will not be reclassified to profit or loss Bamikz Hih 2 EWAFEE
in subsequent periods - 5,151
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE AKEEH f %ﬁ%)\/@éﬂé)
INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE (EHBREIE)
YEAR, NET OF TAX (8,576,867) 2,485,840
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE AEFEEEMBA(EE)BEE
INCOME/(LOSS) FOR
THE YEAR (3,061,903) 10,606,183
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: FE(GEB17 -
Equity holders of the Company $ AERFEEA (2,561,037) 8,865,879
Holders of perpetual capital instruments BEATERBAA 71,686 -
Non-controlling interests 3FT AR 2 (572,552) 1,740,304
(3,061,903) 10,606,183
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

FEMBRRR

31 December 2022 —Z==F+=-fA=+—H

2022 2021
—E-= —E - —F
Notes HK$’°000 HK$’000
B 5 BT T BT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Investment properties KB 14 168,581 181,512
Property, plant and equipment ME  WENEE 15 8,943,821 8,921,701
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16(a) 907,321 1,009,094
10,019,723 10,112,307
Goodwill BmE 17 1,561,486 2,353,687
Intangible assets ML EE 18 30,794,582 30,474,870
Interests in joint ventures SRPEREDS 19 965,932 811,375
Interests in associates N ey 20 592,922 606,970
Contract assets SEHNEE 23 96,984,420 101,971,151
Finance lease receivables BhEFHE fEW IS 24 13,367 15,464
Other financial assets HWBEEE 21 197,546 142,748
Other receivables, deposits and HimpEWFIE - e &
prepayments SEEN B 25 3,105,883 4,076,627
Deferred tax assets RIERIBE = 33 376,031 440,770
Total non-current assets ERBEELTE 144,611,892 151,005,969
CURRENT ASSETS MENE E
Inventories e 22 1,014,432 1,258,539
Contract assets BHBE 23 12,445,930 11,907,704
Finance lease receivables B & A S fE U FIa 24 770 771
Other financial assets H & E 21 221,717 222,880
Debtors, other receivables, deposits ~ FEUBE N - E fib ek 5718
and prepayments e RIER IR 25 20,476,261 20,138,476
Tax recoverable AT Y [21 %7 78 44,053 96,303
Pledged bank deposits EEPRITFRK 26 1,163,850 553,704
Deposits with banks with maturity FREHBA=EAZ
period over three months RITIFE K 26 27,651 4,339
Cash and cash equivalents HERIELEEY 27 10,591,242 15,046,943
Total current assets MENEEMEE 45,985,906 49,229,659
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

FEMBRRR

31 December 2022 —Z==F+=-A=+—H

2022 2021
:g:: = —
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT T BEETIT
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEAaE
Creditors, other payables and FERTBRER - E{th B F0E
accrued expenses LIESTEH 28 22,437,850 25,636,846
Interest-bearing borrowings ATEEE 29
- Secured —HiEim 3,742,461 3,410,134
— Unsecured — 4 16,435,727 10,530,590
20,178,188 13,940,724
Tax payable FEfSFEIR 197,011 190,832
Total current liabilities BB EERE 42,813,049 39,768,402
NET CURRENT ASSETS MENVEEF5E 3,172,857 9,461,257
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEERAEEE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 147,784,749 160,467,226
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ZJExnsaE
Other payables H fth fE AT 5RIR 28 533,657 839,348
Interest-bearing borrowings SEEE 29
— Secured —FiHH 39,663,880 44,506,065
— Unsecured — fm 3 34,882,432 40,678,875
74,546,312 85,184,940
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIE R E 33 10,105,887 10,100,716
Total non-current liabilities ERBEERTE 85,185,856 96,125,004
NET ASSETS BEFRE 62,598,893 64,342,222
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

FEMBRREK

31 December 2022 —Z==F+=-fA=+—H

2022 2021
—s=-= —E-—
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 BT T BT IT
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to equity ZAAREZFE A
holders of the Company JE{G =
Share capital f% 72 34 17,329,537 17,329,537
Reserves s 35 30,044,571 34,447,950
47,374,108 51,777,487
Non-controlling interests FEFE AL AE S 11,769,351 12,564,735
Perpetual capital instruments KBEEARTER 36 3,455,434 -
TOTAL EQUITY EmiER 62,598,893 64,342,222
Huang Haiqing An Xuesong
E5E B
Director Director
EE EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

GEERZER

Year ended 31 December 2022 E{ZE —Z— — 4+ - A=+—H | FE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
ARAERRE AL

Goodwill
Share arising on
capital consolidation

e LS
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
i AT BEIT
At1 January 2021 W=Z=—%-A-R 17,329,537 (986)
Proft for the year AEREA - -
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year: REERM2AUA/ (BR) :
Changes in fair value of other financial assets measured at fair value through other BAR AR AL i@ﬂ&l)\ﬁzz
comprehensive income, net of tax AEBEE DA ERE(ENRAE) = =
Changes In fair value of debt instruments at fair value through other N ﬁfﬁﬁ/\ﬁmiﬁﬂﬂﬂa BIEZAAE
comprehensive income, net of tax 28(ENRIR) = -
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations REBNSBEE /B ER = =
Reclasstfication adjustments for foreign operations deemed disposed of during the year ~ ERGERBELEFN EBIELNER HEHE - =
Total comprehensive income/{(oss) for the year rEE2ARA/ (BR)EE = =
Dividend approved in respect of the previous year EREEER RS 12 = =
Transfer to reserve fund EEEEES - -
Capital contributions received by non wholly-owned subsidiaries from FREMBRAREARRR ARG HEE
non-controling shareholders - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries EERB AT 3 = =
Acquisition of non-controling interests in subsidiaries B INSEEE v 4 39 = =
Dividend declared to non-controling sharefolders of subsidiaries B Wﬁ% AFERERE R RS - -
Interim 2021 divicend “E-ERERE 12 - -
At 31 December 2021 RZE-—F+-A=1-H 17,329,537 (986)
At 1 January 2022 A\ -Z2--%-P-H 17,329,537 (986)
Profit for the year KEREA - -
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year: FEEEMZERA/(BB)
Changes in fair value of debt instruments at fair value through other BARETAEMRERAZBETIAZ A% E
comprehensive income, net of tax 28(ENRIE) - -
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations BERNSRELVERER - -
Total comprehensive income/|loss) for the year AEERERA/(BR)EE - -
Issuance of perpetual capital instruments RKEERIR 36 - -
Dividend approved in respect of the previous year BREEEEZRE 12 - -
Transfer to reserve fund ERERES - -
Capital contributions received by non wholly-owned subsidiaries from FRENBAAREERRRAD G 2L EE
non-controlling shareholders - -
Acquisition of non-controlling interests in subsidiaries B h) INSEEE v 4 3 - -
Disposal of a subsidlary HERBAT - -
Dividend declared to non-controling shareolders of subsidiaries Bl W%ﬁ FERREERZRE - -
Interim 2022 dividend T _EhHRE 12 - -
Distributions payable to holders of perpetual capital instruments ERXEBRTABAA LR 3 - -
At 31 December 2022 R-E-—#+-A=1-H 17,329,537 (986)*
*  These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * ZEHEEREEEEA

HK$30,044,571,000 (2021: HK$34,447,950,000) in the consolidated

statement of financial position.

-

& 7 ¥ 30,044,571,000 7t ( =

34,447,950,0007T) °
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GEEREHR

Attrioutable to equity holders of the Company

ARAERIFAAEL
Other financial
assets and debt
instruments
measured
at fair value
Property through other Non- Perpetual
revaluation Exchange  comprehensive Other Reserve Retained controling capital Total
reserve reserve \income reserve reserves fund profits Total interests instruments equity
BARE AL,
2EhAEY »
I . ﬁﬁﬂ/ﬁzﬁﬁg A/ 5 7}<1in 4 A/
MR EffE REBIARRE Al ke REEH &% ke BAIR BalE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ASTL  RMTR 0 A¥TR ARTR #ETR TR Tt MTr T BT
90,512 1,097,794 (12,450) 3,295,716 2,223,909 21,038,025 45,062,067 10,482,547 - 56,544,604
- - - - - 6,804,099 6,804,099 1,316,244 - 8,120,343
- - 5,151 - - - 5,151 - - 5,151
- - (91,814) - - - (91,814) (39.913) - (131,727)
- 2,178,771 - - - - 2,173,771 463,973 - 2,637,744
- (25,328) - - - - (25,328) - - (25,328)
- 2,148,443 (86,663) - - 6,804,099 8,865,879 1,740,304 - 10,606,183
- - - - - (982,876) (982,876) - - (982,876)
- - - - 637,341 (637,341) - - - -
- - - - - - - 267,196 - 267,196
- - - - - - - 406,844 - 406,844
- 181 - (589) - - (408) 2,113) - (2,521)
- - - - - - - (330,043) - (330,043)
- - - - - (1,167,165) (1,167,165) - - (1,167,165)
90,512 3,246,418 (99,113) 3,295,127 2,861,250 25,004,742 51,777,487 12,664,735 - 64,342,222
90,512 3,246,418 (99,113) 3,295,127 2,861,250 25,054,742 51,777,487 12,564,735 - 64,342,222
- - - - - 4,601,939 4,601,939 841,339 71,686 5,514,964
- - 4,119 - - - 4,119 20,102 - 61,221
- (7,204,095) - - - - (7,204,095) (1,4383,993) - (8,638,088)
- (7,204,095) 4,119 - - 4,601,939 (2,561,037) (572,552) 71,686 (3,061,908)
- - - - - - - - 3,455,434 3,455,434
- - - - - (921,446) (921,446) - - (921,446)
- - - - 692,255 (692,255) - - - -
- - - - - - - 100,837 - 100,837
- 550 - - - - 550 (6,767) - (6,217)
- - - - - - - (6,413) - (6,413)
- - - - - - - (310,489) - (310,489)
- - - - - (921,446) (921,446) - - (921,446)
- - - - - - - - (71,686) (71,686)
90,512* (3,957,127)* (57,994)* 3,295,127* 3,558,505* 21,121,534 47,374,108 11,769,351 3,455,434 62,598,893
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERTRER

Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —E - —F+-_A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
s —E-—%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5T BET T BT T
CASH FLOWS FROM KEEHAFRERE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax MR R BT & A 7,262,947 10,320,591
Adjustments for: KR
Depreciation of property, plant and ME  RERERETE
equipment 8 646,186 507,247
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 8 70,778 70,103
Amortisation of intangible assets A E 8 1,373,608 1,049,614
Finance costs % E R 7 3,488,268 3,079,448
Dividend income iz B U A 6 - (165)
Interest income FEWA 6 (171,112) (128,853)
Share of profits of joint ventures Frih& & ERT (113,859) (81,837)
Share of profits of associates Fir ik Bss & A Rl &7 (37,417) (91,377)
Fair value losses/(gains), net: AREEE, (W) FE
Other financial assets - unlisted Hini G EE—JE L™
equity investment A% & 6 (2,597) (968)
Other financial assets - unlisted HEMEEE—FEE™
investments BE 6 18,382 58,583
Impairment of debtors, net JE U BR SR FEE 5 R 6 496,339 373,870
Impairment of other receivables Huih e I8 #E18 6 107,035 16,451
Impairment of contract assets, net BHEEREFE 6 34,793 135,133
Impairment of goodwill PEEFEE 6 607,842 =
Impairment of property, plant and Y% - BB MEEFEE
equipment 6 15,526 —
Impairment of intangible assets BmIVEEMRRE 6 14,230 -
Loss on disposal of contract assets  [HE&EASLEE 2 EE 6 - 33,045
Loss on disposal of intangible assets [H&E & EE 7 E1E 6 - 3,217
Loss on disposal and write-off of HE RIS E - BE M
property, plant and equipment, net R R E R 6 3,729 4,320
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary 334 B AR 2 EE 6 19,157 -
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary ank= VRN 6 (476) =
Loss on deemed disposal of joint WEIELEAELE Y
ventures E5i8 6 - 47,366
Gain on disposal of interests in &R A) w2 W
associates 6 (20,918) 2)
Effect of foreign exchange rates ERB g B FEE
changes, net (1,009,609) (108,577)
12,802,832 15,287,209
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FE®D, (Em) 136,097 (155,520)
Increase in contract assets B EEEN (5,359,578) (16,198,782)
Increase in debtors, other receivables, FEUEE - ﬁ/rﬂlfiﬂﬁl
deposits and prepayments e NIENE Iﬁiﬁjju (1,911,492) (5,769,855)
Increase/(decrease) in creditors, other FE{TBREFR - E fth fE(S 3118 &
payables and accrued expenses J‘EEJr;E’JEHi‘jJD/(M/J ) (1,411,633) 6,236,173
Cash generated from/(used in) Q&4 (8H)2RE
operations 4,256,226 (600,775)
Interest received 2 U B 171,112 128,853
People’s Republic of China (‘PRC”) B fJ#E A R HEFNE
and overseas income taxes paid ([H B ) RGNS HR (418,048) (1,090,721)
Net cash flows from/(used in) &&EEFFE(BAH)Z
operating activities Hene 35 4,009,290 (1,562,643)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HEBEERER

Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —ZE - —F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BET T BT T
CASH FLOWS FROM KEEREFFHRESRE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Dividend received 2 B - 165
Purchase of items of property, plant BEEWZ% - BE L& E
and equipment (1,134,980) (2,148,755)
Proceeds from disposal of items of ~ HEWE - BKE &KEE
property, plant and equipment FT1S 508 46,018 27,511
Principal portion of lease payments A& 18 2 &4 251D - (62,210)
Additions of intangible assets HEEFEE (4,333,156) (6,439,608)
Acquisition of subsidiaries AN 38 (392,935) (1,855,996)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FH B AR 4,345 -
Capital contributions to joint ventures ;¥ && &% (120,412) (73,404)
Capital contribution to an associate  jT & & A A) (36,968) -
Dividend received from a joint venture & &% UKE > % 2 14,070 =
Proceeds from disposal of HEFREEEFBRIA
right-of-use assets - 15,474
Proceeds from disposal of HEBENE) ZTE A
an associate 55,702 1,222
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due  FEUHEEZ A T ER L
from an associate (3&m) (385) 8,201
Increase in non-current portion of TE A R IE FE BN AR 3017 15 N
prepayments (111,998) (211,461)
Repayment from finance lease A& A & R BGRIEE R
receivables 705 27
Purchase of other financial assets BEHEMEGEEE (102,008) (74,660)
Proceeds from disposal and MERER A TEEE
redemption of other financial assets  Fr{SFIA - 147,471
Decrease in other financial assets H B 15 & B - 236,900
Decrease/(increase) in deposits with 1z HiEREB =18 A Z £171F
banks with maturity period over three 24>/ (#¢40)
months (23,684) 3,488
Net cash flows used in REEBMEAZ
investing activities MEMEFHE (6,135,686) (10,424,935)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HEBEERER

Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —E - —F+-_A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
s —E-—%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5T BET T BT T
CASH FLOWS FROM MEEBAFSHRESRE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of perpetual BT KEBEART ARBEIE
capital instruments 36 3,455,434 -
Proceeds from issue of medium-term #17HREIZEIE ([ R HEIZE |)
notes (‘“MTN”), and super and N iBRE BiR & & ([ 852 Hf
short-term commercial papers RE S | PTEFIE(E
(“SCP”), net of related expenses paid KRB HBEREYS) 5,093,950 5,787,413
Repayment of corporate bond, EBENRIES  BEYEH
asset-backed securities (‘ABS”) and A ([BEYHFEA]) KR
SCP R ARE S (2,043,240) (1,041,289)
New bank and other loans IBRIT R HME R 29,049,448 33,536,609
Repayment of bank and other loans BEIR1TTREMER (30,464,215) (17,409,971)
Capital contributions received by JEE & B~ B FEHE AR
non wholly-owned subsidiaries REFT S 2 HE R
from non-controlling shareholders 100,837 267,196
Acquisition of non-controlling interests U B FF % IS 12 2 39 (6,217) (2,521)
Increase in amounts due to FEAH BT B A B FEERR AR R
non-controlling shareholders FRIEIE AN
of subsidiaries 747 -
Decrease/(increase) in pledged bank B XIRITEZR L~
deposits (3%hn) (657,666) 310,801
Interest paid EFE 40 (3,474,856) (3,039,268)
Interest portion of lease payments HEZ IEZ?'J BB 17 (6,327) (4,154)
Principal portion of lease payments 7 iEf}ZIEZ$/i\ 2R (48,750) (53,981)
Dividend paid to equity holders of ENARRERFBTEAZ
the Company s (1,842,892) (2,150,041)
Dividend paid to non-controlling BB AREZERRR 2
shareholders of subsidiaries [ds (305,843) (347,417)
Net cash flows from/(used in) ®E&EEFRE, ()
financing activities Rene %58 (1,149,590) 15,853,377
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) e RES {g#@
IN CASH AND CASH 00, (R ) 5%
EQUIVALENTS (3,275,986) 3,865,799
Cash and cash equivalents FEELRELSZEEY
at beginning of year 15,046,943 10,860,693
Effect of foreign exchange KR B FH
rates changes, net (1,179,715) 320,451
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS #£4&1 e MRS %EEY
AT END OF YEAR 27 10,591,242 15,046,943
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Notes to Financial Statements
gt e IR

31 December 2022 —Z==F+=-fA=+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
China Everbright Environment Group Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated
in Hong Kong. The registered office of the Company
is located at Room 2703, 27th Floor, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.

During the year, the principal activities of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
are construction, environmental energy project operation
(waste-to-energy plants, food and kitchen waste treatment
projects, sludge treatment and disposal projects, leachate
treatment projects, methane-to-energy plants, fecal
treatment projects, fly ash landfill projects, medical waste
treatment projects and solid waste treatment projects
and provision of waste sorting, renewable resources
utilisation and sanitation operation services), environmental
water project operation (waste water treatment plants,
water supply, reusable water treatment plants, sludge
treatment and disposal projects, sponge city construction,
river-basin ecological restoration, waste water source
heat pump projects, leachate treatment, research and
development of water environment technologies and
engineering projects), greentech project operation
(integrated biomass utilisation projects, hazardous and
solid waste treatment projects, solar energy projects
and wind power projects, and provision of environmental
remediation services), conduct of environmental protection
technology research and development, provision of
environmental-related technological services, design
of environmental protection projects, provision of
environmental protection project equipment construction
and installation services and sales of related equipment,
sales of energy-saving street lamps, energy management
contract projects, and investment holding.

The immediate holding company of the Company is
Guildford Limited, a limited liability company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands. In the opinion of the directors,
the ultimate holding entity of the Company is China
Investment Corporation, an entity established in the PRC.

1

ne| REEER

hEX ARG (RE)BRAA(AREN) A
—REREBEEMALZBRAA - KRB Z
AMBEECRESERET A ARERSR
PO+ EEEEER -

FA - ARAREMBAR(5HE [ AEE])
ZEBXRBREE  RRERERBABESE (1
REER EFRESRNIFREIER )5k
RIERERA  Z2RREREERE  BREE
W EEREIER RIEEFIER - BE
BRI IEIR A - EREERIEIA B A RIR G a1 3R
DR BEBERANBEREEEZRS) R
RAKBIRBEE OFKEER - K ~ K
CARER SRREEEER - BEWT
R mEURE  5KIRARIER - 2R
A BE IR LA BIR AR /KA M A 3 ;e TR2 12 AR 0R
B) #MERFREBEL(EVERSTAR
B EEkEEZEEEE  XABESEAK
REEE @ ARBHRFEERS)  £17
RARBMITE - IRERFRABERMRY - &
ARARER  BRERRABRRGRERTE
R MHERBEERE - SHEMRERRE - R
ERARERARKREER -

NN R ZEEZEKR A A A Guildford
Limited * EARABHEBRESEMALZ
ERETRR - BEERA W ARE ZRKYE
BERATBRIEEAREERR + HARE
B 2 B -
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Notes to Financial Statements
gt EL IR

31 December 2022 —Z==F+=-A=+—H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for investment properties, financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
which have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has, directly or
indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights
of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.
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Notes to Financial Statements
gt e IR

31 December 2022 —Z==F+=-fA=+—H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 21 RBIELAE ()

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (i) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

REEE(E)

B~ w 2 M mKRIL AR RMERE 2 B
REA—RZETHRER - HBARZE
BEASERSESRERREAS AR X
—HEAAR EEEMENEKLZAR
1k e

Ba kA2 EEAZ S EKED R BRA
SERRBEE ARFERER - AELE
SEIOFER R L IREAEHRITA - B
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22 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3  Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and
Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37  Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

Annual Improvements to Amendments to HKFRS 1,

HKFRSs 2018-2020 HKFRS 9, lllustrative
Examples accompanying
HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41

The revised HKFRSs that are applicable to the Group did
not have any significant impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.
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23 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in
these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 (2011) between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts'’

Amendments to HKFRS 17 /nsurance Contracts’ ®

Amendment to HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 7
and HKFRS 9 -
Comparative Information®

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”)? 4
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”)?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
and HKFRS Practice Policies’
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8  Definition of Accounting
Estimates’

Amendments to HKAS 12  Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction’
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23 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

23 EEMEBRARER CBEH RS

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)
U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

9 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

. As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date of
the 2020 Amendments was deferred to annual period beginning
on or after 1 January 2024. In addition, as a consequence
of the 2020 Amendments and 2022 Amendments, Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised to align the
corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

9 As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in
October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary
exemption that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than
HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023

6 An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to
the classification overlay set out in this amendment shall apply it
on initial application of HKFRS 17

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address
an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS
10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream
transaction when the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest
in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are
to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS
28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016
and a new mandatory effective date will be determined
after the completion of a broader review of accounting for
associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments
are available for adoption now.
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23 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that
a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising
in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-
lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale
and leaseback transactions entered into after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019).
Earlier application is permitted.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, in particular
the determination over whether an entity has a right to
defer settlement of the liabilities for at least 12 months
after the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its
right to defer settlement of the liability. The amendments
also clarify the situations that are considered a settlement
of a liability. In 2022, the HKICPA issued the 2022
Amendments to further clarify that, among covenants of
a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with
which an entity must comply on or before the reporting
date affect the classification of that liability as current or
non-current. In addition, the 2022 Amendments require
additional disclosures by an entity that classifies liabilities
arising from loan arrangements as non-current when it
has a right to defer settlement of those liabilities that are
subject to the entity comply with future covenants within
12 months after the reporting period. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier
application is permitted. An entity that applies the 2020
Amendments early is required to apply simultaneously the
2022 Amendments, and vice versa.
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23 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

23 DR ERRER L BFBMBERE

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
require entities to disclose their material accounting
policy information rather than their significant accounting
policies. Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included in
an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis
of those financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance
on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting
policy disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
and earlier application is permitted. Since the guidance
provided in the amendments to HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 is non-mandatory, an effective date for these
amendments is not necessary. The Group is currently
revisiting the accounting policy disclosures to ensure
consistency with the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined as
monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject
to measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify
how entities use measurement techniques and inputs
to develop accounting estimates. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
20283 and apply to changes in accounting policies and
changes in accounting estimates that occur on or after the
start of that period. Earlier application is permitted.

China Everbright Environment Group Limited | Bl K3EE (%£8) AR AR

R (&)

BB EREIR 2B [ B HRME
E/BRCEFEEZSHRERER - M3k
BACHEE - M BRREN BT L
ﬁi&%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬂ*m%ﬁﬁﬁ Al A IR
B2 RRRMBERENEZEFEAEER
EZ%%%?&&?EVE& HRE  BIZEEREBE
Ko BAEMERELENEBHAE2R AW
At ST B B BB ER M SR IE
SRHMEIES] o BE TR ERFE1R ZEFTRN
T =F—fB—HSZ2ERABZFEHHN
ER BAHREER - AR B BT BRE
LR EFHIPE2H 2 BTt 2 55| W IE
R RSB BAEMBE - AEEH
TEESHBEREE @ UEREBT 2 -

BB G ERFERR 2 BRI BB S h
%béﬁi/a\quiEﬁzﬁﬁ@bZFaﬂﬂ’\]ﬁJ Euﬂéﬁuﬂﬁ
RERMBHBRAGEFETHARAERZE
KEeHE - BRENESERWAERTE
Bl R ARGt hEt - BRAEBITRN
T =F A BEZEKRABZFEHR
X WERAEZHREMBR R RELED
SRTRREH NG EES  AAFRER
e -



Notes to Financial Statements
gt e IR

31 December 2022 —Z==F+=-fA=+—H

23 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

23 BEEMIBRARER CBEEH RS

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer
applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences, such as leases
and decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities
are required to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided
that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a deferred
tax liability for temporary differences arising from these
transactions. The amendments are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
and shall be applied to transactions related to leases
and decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the
earliest comparative period presented, with any cumulative
effect recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance
of retained profits or other component of equity as
appropriate at that date. In addition, the amendments shall
be applied prospectively to transactions other than leases
and decommissioning obligations. Earlier application is
permitted.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs upon initial
application, but is not yet in a position to state whether
these new and revised HKFRSs would have any significant
impact on its results of operations and financial position.

24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long
term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity
voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of
the investee, but is not control or joint control over those
policies.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity
method of accounting, less any impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates and joint
ventures is included in the consolidated income statement
and consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
respectively. In addition, when there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the associate or joint
venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes,
when applicable, in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting
from transactions between the Group and its associates
or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s investments in the associates or joint ventures,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from
the acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included
as part of the Group’s investments in associates or joint
ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate
or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint
control and the fair value of the retained investment and
proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FERHBEMEE)

POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the
sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the
acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the
event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured
at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or
liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

EBRaoREE
EBAGEBRBEAR - MTERRERK
BHHZOARERNE  MAREBEDAREEMR
HRBEEZWBRHAAE  AREHEK
BRARAEAAMAEZ BB AEE R
HUR MR R R IR PT S 1T 2 B 2 4 AT -
REREBEHMS ARESEEREQA
B ERWRE AR A A& EFE L FE
B - FFENBRE AR 2 IFERER -
R ERERRS S AES  WHETES
BAENAIRERE RO DEEERE -
FERERZPAAEMEBDEAAENE -
WER S 2 HERARELRXH

BRBAEZ—MAEBREET H BREER
RANERREEER 2 BRARBEERIZR
AEBEEFUASEWE—BEK® °

EARSEBEEGR  HeBREBEAHNKRK -
%@*ﬂ&%%%ﬂ%Zﬁﬁ\ﬂ%ﬁW%
BB EENRMEAEZHEEE U@
thﬂi;H%/\¥EZQ? E o tBEERSHKER
AIEBHNZBARSTELA -

HWEB A IIDOERTK  ARERAEZK
RERWERARZRAAEENE  EL
ZWams B BN ER R R

W%E%%%ZEHT%RF&W%E%Z
ARAEER EORREEXABIHAR
BNRAAENE  MAREZSHARNES
RIER - DRABBEIIARELTEEH
e MEREEENEEPAR-

Annual Report 2022 | — T = — 443§

163



164

Notes to Financial Statements
gt EL IR

31 December 2022 —Z==F+=-A=+—H

24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests in
the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and
other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets
acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective
of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FERHBEMEE)

POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative value
of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, certain
equity investments and wealth management products,
and certain debt instruments at fair value at the end of
each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset
or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the
asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly
or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.

China Everbright Environment Group Limited | Bl K3EE (%£8) AR AR

2A TBSHBERBE(E)

DRAETEE)
AEESEAERANTRBERLEABTE D
BUAREARBEZRERE  LTEERS
HEBREAREREER D EATAE
B A\BUE o

ERMBRRPIAEXWEAABIMEER
ENBEDRVAAEFEERMEEEXR

CERERBASBRRBEATAABZRS

F—H— ERNHEREEXBERNAEDS
ZHRECREFHE)

F_H—- ERHLOAEFEMEBEAZ
R (EEEE)REERA
g 2 BERE

F=F—- ERNBAnEFENEBEAZ
THBEERERERAREZGE

RIEREBUEEERNTBRRERZEERE
EME  AEESBRSHREHREHNTMG
PRI BEFEEEMEBEAZR
BEEHGASBE)BETRASHAZEREG LR
i o



Notes to Financial Statements
gt e IR

31 December 2022 —Z==F+=-fA=+—H

24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FERHBEMEE)

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, contract assets, deferred tax assets, financial
assets and investment properties), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is
the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value
in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which
case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. In testing
a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the
carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters
building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit
if it can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis
or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating
units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the income statement in
the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to the income statement in the period in
which it arises.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

() has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is @ member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a

part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FERHBEMEE)

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase
price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the
asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the income
statement in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure
for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Freehold land
Buildings

Not depreciated

Over the shorter of the lease
terms and 2% to 5%

Over the shorter of the lease
terms and 10%

4% to 20%

10% to 20%

8'/3% to 33"/5%

Leasehold improvements

Plant and machinery

Furniture and fixtures

Motor vehicles, electronic
equipment and others

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the income statement in the year
the asset is derecognised is the difference between the
net sale proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises
the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing
costs on related borrowed funds during the period of
construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to
the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold property held as a right-of-use
asset which would otherwise meet the definition of an
investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production
or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business.
Such properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value, which
reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting
period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values
of investment properties are included in the income
statement in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of
an investment property are recognised in the income
statement in the year of the retirement or disposal.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for
an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at
least at each financial year end.

The following intangible assets are amortised from the date
they are available for use and their estimated useful lives
are as follows:

Environmental energy project operating rights
Environmental water project operating rights

7 to 30 years
20 to 32 years

Greentech project operating rights
Patents, trademarks and licences
Computer software

Backlog contracts

Technology

Customer relations

Trade contracts

20 to 50 years
6 to 20 years
5 years

2 to 30 years
8 to 10 years
5to 7 years

4 years

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected from its use
or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in the income statement in the year the
intangible asset is derecognised is the difference between
the net sale proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant intangible asset.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains
a lease component and non-lease component(s), the
Group adopts the practical expedient not to separate
non-lease component(s) and to account for the lease
component and the associated non-lease component(s)
(e.g., property management services for leases of
properties) as a single lease component.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful
lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land

Buildings

Plant and machinery

Motor vehicles, electronic
equipment and others

10 to 50 years
2 to 30 years
1to 17 years
1to 17 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the
Group by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects
the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is
calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(a)

(b)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

When a right-of-use asset meets the definition of
investment property, it is included in investment
properties. The corresponding right-of-use asset is
initially measured at cost, and subsequently measured
at fair value, in accordance with the Group’s policy for
“Investment properties”.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease
payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After
the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities
is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition,
the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is a modification, a change in the lease term,
a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index
or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in interest-
bearing borrowings.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 TEETTRERBR(E)

174

POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases (that is those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). It also applies the recognition exemption for
leases of low-value assets.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its
leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
asset are classified as operating leases. When a contract
contains lease and non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms and is included in other revenue in the
income statement due to its operating nature. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset
and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as
rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as other
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset
to the lessee are accounted for as finance leases. At
the commencement date, the cost of the leased asset
is capitalised at the present value of the lease payments
and related payments (including the initial direct costs),
and presented as a receivable at an amount equal to the
net investment in the lease. The finance income on the
net investment in the lease is recognised in the income
statement so as to provide a constant periodic rate of
return over the lease terms.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FERHBEMEE)

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of debtors that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus,
in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Debtors that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient are measured
at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15
in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”)
on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are
held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which
are not held within the aforementioned business models
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the income statement when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (debt investments)

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, interest income, foreign exchange
revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are
recognised in the income statements and computed
in the same manner as for financial assets measured
at amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes
are recognised in other comprehensive income. Upon
derecognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised
in other comprehensive income is recycled to the income
statement.
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